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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

During 2008, the Group acquired from China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”"), the Company’s substantial
and controlling shareholder, the entire issued share capital of
China Resources Gas Limited (“CR Gas”). CR Gas, through
its subsidiaries in the PRC, operates 7 city gas distribution
businesses including natural gas pipelines and CNG filling
stations. The Company was subsequently renamed as “China
Resources Gas Group Limited” to reflect the focus on its sole city
gas distribution business and its role as the city gas distribution
flagship of CRH. Since then, the Group has consistently acquired
a batch of city gas projects from CRH every year, and up to 31st
December, 2012, the Group has acquired a total of 5 batches of
46 projects from CRH.

The Group also acquires city gas projects directly from
independent third parties and up to 31st December, 2012, the
Group has added 105 city gas projects in this manner, including
projects in Direct Administrative Cities and Provincial Capitals.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the
Group’s execution competency, the Company continues to
expand rapidly in 2012 via organic and acquisition growths.
As at 31st December, 2012, the Company operates 151 city
gas projects (including 11 provincial capitals and 2 direct
administrative municipality) in 20 provinces in China with annual
gross gas sales volume of 9.3 billion m® and 14.03 million
residential customers.
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The Company, as the downstream city gas flagship of
China Resources Group, will continue to expand steadily
via quality organic growth and external acquisitions.
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The PRC city gas distribution business continues to provide
the Group with handsome profit and cash flow contributions.
The Group achieved an increase in turnover of 45% to
HK$19,591 million and recorded profit attributable to the
Company’s equity holders of HK$1,651 million for the year
ended 31st December, 2012, an increase of 38% over the
previous year. The operating profit from city gas distribution
business surged by 43% to HK$3,011 million and its net
operating cash inflow increased by 139% to HK$5,043 million.
Gross gas sales volume increased by 28% to 9,268 million
m?® and total connected residential customers increased by
34% to 14.03 million.
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From 2008 to 2012, the share price of the Company has increased by
4.68 times from HK$3.42 to HK$16.00 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 9.8 times from HK$3.64 billion to HK$35.58 billion.

From 2008-2012, the profit of the Group increased by 7.8 times from
HK$260 million to HK$2.03 billion, turnover increased by 9.2 times from
HK$2.14 billion to HK$19.59 billion and total assets increased by 11.4
times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$42.4 billion.
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FAVOURABLE DOWNSTREAM NATURAL GAS
INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS IN THE PRC

The continued economic growth and urbanisation in China has spiked
the demand for energy in China. In order to diversify energy base and
reduce reliance on more polluting energy sources such as coal and
crude oil, the PRC government has, in recent years, taken concrete
measures to promote the development and utilisation of less polluting
energy sources. Natural gas is considered a cleaner substitute for
conventional energy sources such as coal and crude oil. The PRC
government has therefore been very supportive of the development of
the natural gas industry.
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Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas Supply in the PRC Strong Commitment to Cleaner Energy by the PRC Government
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Low Penetration of Natural Gas Offers Tremendous Potential
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The percentage of natural gas in total energy consumption in the PRC
is very low compared to international levels. According to BP Statistical
Review of World Energy 2012, for 2011, natural gas only accounted
for less than 5% of China’s total primary energy consumption, which is
far lower than the international average of 24%. The PRC government
intends to double natural gas utilisation rate to 8.3% by 2015, the last
year of the “Twelfth Five Year Plan”.

To increase natural gas supply, the “West to East Gas Transmission”
pipelines were constructed with the support of the PRC government to
bring natural gas from the Xinjiang Autonomous Region to the coastal
regions of the PRC. Construction of the second phase of the “West to
East Gas Transmission” pipelines from Central Asia and the “Sichuan
to East” pipelines from the gas-rich Sichuan Province to coastal
regions have been completed. Construction of the “West to East Gas
Transmission” Phase 3, “Myanmar to Yunnan” gas pipeline as well as
Liquefied Natural Gas terminals in coastal cities of the PRC are actively
in progress. Natural gas price reform to close the price gap between
imported and local gas prices are also gradually being implemented in
phases. Once realised, these measures is expected to more than double
the supply of natural gas in China in the next few years. Moreover, CR
Gas is assured of adequate gas supply by leveraging on the strategic
gas supply arrangements with the three national oil and gas giants
namely China National Petroleum Corporation, China Petroleum &
Chemical Corporation and CNOOC Gas & Power Group.

The above factors augur well for the natural gas industry in China and
offer significant opportunity for the continuous growth of the Group in
the foreseeable future.

CONTINUE EXPANSION AND GROWTH OF
BUSINESS

During 2008, the Company acquired a portfolio of 7 city gas distribution
projects from CRH. The acquisition allows the Company to enter into
the fast growing city gas distribution business in China and provided
the Group with a sound foundation to tap into the burgeoning city
gas distribution business in the PRC by capturing the rapid increase
in demand for natural gas in China and leveraging China Resources
Group’s strong presence and brand name in China.
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The 2008 acquisition provides the Group with a solid platform to
further expand and establish itself as one of the leaders in the city gas
distribution business in the PRC. From 2009 to 2011, the Group acquired
another 66 city gas projects. These projects are mainly located in
regions where there are rich natural gas reserves and the economically
more developed Eastern Board as well as densely populated provincial
capitals and emerging cities of China. The Group also focuses on
developing gas distribution projects in areas where there are existing
or potential piped natural gas supply.

The city gas projects acquired from 2008 to 2011 continue to grow
organically in line with the growth in natural gas supply in China.

During 2012 the Company continues to grow rapidly with new acquisitions
from the market and projects injected from CRH. In addition to the 16
projects from asset injection by CRH and 31 projects from acquisition
of AEI China, the Group also acquired another 31 city gas projects in
including prefecture-level cities such as Panzhihua, Changzhi, Puyang,
Panjin, Handan, Pingtan and Zaozhuang. As at 31st December, 2012,
CR Gas portfolio includes 151 city gas projects and its footprint covers
20 Chinese provinces and includes 11 provincial capitals and two direct
administrative municipalities.

The Group has become one of the largest city gas distributors in the
PRC with gross annual gas sales volume of 9.3 billion cubic meters and
14.03 million residential users.
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LEAN MANAGEMENT AND PURSUIT OF
EXCELLENCE

The Group’s growth during 2008 to 2012 have been mainly driven by
acquisition. Going forward, the Group will focus more on improving the
operational efficiency and performance of its existing city gas projects,
as the number of available acquisition targets or concessions, especially
bigger city gas projects, have been reducing over the years. This shift
in emphasis to organic growth, coupled with the projected significant
increase in upstream gas supply over the next few years, is expected
to delivery majority of the gas sales volume growth over the forseeable
future. In this respect, the Group has in April 2012 kicked off the
company-wide Lean Management Campaign with the aim of utilising
minimum amount of resources to maximise value added product and
service delivery to customers in timely manners.

FNR' Nt MmMIrtynas

KEY EVENTS DURING 2012

During 2012, the Group carried out the following measures which have
significant impact on the current and future operation of the Group:

In February, the Group successfully privatised the Group’s Hong Kong
listed subsidiary, Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Company Limited
(“ZZ Gas”), with a share exchange or cash offer. The Group’s attributable
equity interest in ZZ Gas increased from 45% to 84% and has resulted
in significant increase in earning contribution from ZZ Gas in 2012 and
beyond. This follows similar increases of equity stakes in various joint
ventures in recent years such as Zhenjiang China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. and Hengsui China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. in 2010; and Zibo
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Nanjing Jiangning China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. in 2011. The Group will continue to execute this strategy
of enhancing results via increasing its equity stakes in existing joint
ventures.
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In April, the Company issued a 10 year US$750 million senior notes at a
coupon rate of 4.5% p.a. The senior notes was 6 times oversubscribed,
reflecting the investment grade Baa1/BBB+ rating of the Group and the
confidence of the investors in the long term future of the Group. The
proceeds of the senior notes issue were used mainly to finance the
subsequent city gas project acquisitions such as AElI China Group of
companies and joint venture in Tianjin.

In May, the Group acquired AEl China Group of companies with 28
city gas projects in 11 provinces in the PRC for US$238 million. The
acquisition further enlarged the city gas footprint of the Group in China
and boosted the annual gas sales volume of the Group by 350 million
cubic meters. Some 85% of the gas sales volume of these projects are
made to industrial and commercial customers of higher margins and
thus deliver good profit contribution to the Group in 2012 and beyond.
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In August, the Group, for a consideration of HK$2.415 billion, acquired
the fifth and final batch of city gas projects from the Group’s controlling
shareholder, CRH. This batch of 16 city gas projects includes 2 projects
in provincial capitals of Fuzhou and Nanchang as well as 6 projects in
bigger prefecture-level cities. The acquisition added to the Group an
additional 400 million cubic meters of annual gas sales volume and will
deliver a significant part of the Group’s future growth.
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In November, the Group obtained the approval of the PRC Central
Government in setting up the city gas joint venture project in Tianjin.
An amount of RMB2.45 billion was subsequently paid in January 2013
as equity capital contribution for 49% stakes in the joint venture. This
Tianjin project will be one of the longer term growth drivers for the Group
for 2015 and beyond.

In November, the Company issued 160 million new shares at HK$16.95
each, raising some HK$2.7 billion to finance the continuous acquisitions
of city gas projects in 2013. This equity raising exercise also brought
down the gearing of the Group and enables the Group to further
leverage its balance sheet in 2013 for future expansion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to enhancing its standard corporate
governance by bench marking with good corporate governance practices
and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based on the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices and Corporate Governance Code
issued by the Stock Exchange. The Corporate Governance Report is set
out on pages 57 to 71 of this annual report.

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Share Option Schemes

On 26th November, 2001, the Company has terminated the share option
scheme of the Company adopted on 15th October, 1994 and adopted
a new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) as a result
of changes in Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange in relation to share option scheme. On
5th March, 2008, the Company terminated the Share Option Scheme of
the Company adopted on 26th November, 2001.

A summary showing the Share Option Scheme and its movements
during the year are detailed in the Directors’ Report and in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Incentive Award Scheme

The Company adopted an incentive award scheme (the “Incentive
Award Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 and amended on 16th March,
2010, for the purpose of recognizing and motivating the contribution of
employees and providing incentives to existing employees. Details of the
Incentive Award Scheme are set out in the Directors’ Report.

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2012, the Group have approximately 30,000
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group values human
resources and recognizes the importance of attracting, training and
retaining quality staff for its continual success. Various types of
management and technical trainings are conducted through the Group
for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills. The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, work
experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further, bonuses are
granted to employees and incentive awards are made to employees
based on individual performance. The Group believes this will assist the
Group to attract and retain quality staff and at the same time encourage

the employees to give their best performance.
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Chairman’s Statement

OUTLOOK

The PRC government places significant emphasis on the rapid
development of natural gas industry under the 12th Five Year Plan to
diversify its energy sources and reduce carbon emission. The PRC
government has been very supportive of the development of the natural
gas industry and has promulgated various policies and guidelines to
encourage and rationalize the usage of natural gas. Construction of
upstream gas pipelines and LNG receiving terminals are actively in
progress. All these measures will greatly boost the availability of natural
gas in China and will continue to offer significant opportunity for future
growth in the downstream gas industry in China.

The Group has embarked on various operational enhancement measures
to boost the quality of its organic growth. The Group will ride on the
favourable industry fundamentals and its experienced management team
with strong execution record to scale new heights via quality organic
growth and acquisitions. We are confident of attaining the stated goal
of achieving 20 billion cubic meters of gross gas sales volume and 20
million connected residential customers by 2015.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2013
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Report from the Managing Director

EHEBB R IEEEER?

The management team strives to continuously enhance the
operational efficiency and services of the Group.

RS EME R BB AT

MR ZE L KRR RERRERERT - J:/E?X%ﬁT%TEH—rEA
RREFREEN SR HEEAE BN RREFH R0

K- ARECR T —_FHAE2RFMARESZERZTDN
EBNAS R A IR R

BREEERCENSAEEHHNLAER Hi/\EE'”EJ o [#5%
BHIBZORRARNEREA  BEAN - &E B2 M
B REMEE AELERHEE ﬁﬁﬁ%kﬁiﬂﬁ’]?uuﬂ
K W) R o

ENHANCEMENT OF OPERATIONAL
EFFICIENCY & SERVICES

As the upstream gas supply will increase significantly over
the next few years with the completion of various upstream
gas infrastructures, this will drive most of the Group’s growth
for the next few years. The Group has kicked off a company-
wide compaign to enhance operational efficiency in April
2012 to support this organic growth.

Lean management requires enterprises to apply “Lean
Concept” in all their corporate activities. The core of “Lean
Concept” is to offer customers quality products and timely
services by creating maximum value with minimum resources,
including manpower, facilities, capital, materials, time and
space.

B L o o ' NS e U S SR e
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EFREKERE
Report from the Managing Director

Implementing “Lean Management” is an indispensable choice for CR
Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth model
from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and is also
one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic goals
for the “12th Five-year Plan” period to become the leading world-class
gas enterprise in China.

16 member companies have become the pilot companies for lean
management, implementing various lean management initiatives such
as reducing wastes in CNG stations, narrowing the gas leakage ratio;
enhancing the capability to commission industrial and commercial users
rapidly and carrying out the centralized procurement of LNG and CNG-
related facilities.

Analyze

B

Improve

IMPROVE EFFICIENCY OF REGIONAL CENTRES

The Group set up 10 Regional Centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s 151 city gas projects across
China. Each Regional Centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of several cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions. The 10 Regional Centres
are located in Chengdu, Fuzhou, Jinan, Kunming, Nanjing, Shanghai,
Shenyang, Shenzhen, Wuhan and Zhengzhou.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serves
as regional general manager. The arrangement does not require to
significantly increase headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the
goal of attaining maximum results with minimum resources.

13
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Report from the Managing Director
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CENTRALISATION OF PIPELINE DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION TO IMPROVE COST EFFICIENCY

Gas pipeline design and construction centres in core regional cities in
the Eastern, South-western and Central China were set up in Nanjing,
Chengdu and Zhengzhou. Each regional centre provides the design
and construction of gas pipelines in their respective areas. This
improves economy of scale, thereby creates synergy and improves cost
efficiencies in the design and construction of gas pipelines and related
activities of the entire Group.

BUSINESS PROCESS STREAM-LINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continues its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

On the operational level, concrete measures have been taken in supply
chain, customer service, safety management and other processes:

° Supply chain management was streamlined with rigorous
tender system covering construction projects with the issue and
implementation of new guidelines covering 7 major categories
of projects, 9 mid-size categories and 43 small-size categories
projects. Purchases of 20 major categories of materials have been
centralised with 90 member companies linked up to centralised
procurement IT system. The number of qualified suppliers has
been significantly reduced to 85 entities resulting in reduction of

procurement costs.
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Report from the Managing Director

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, professional
third party customer services survey by Ipsos Market Research
shows that our overall satisfactory rate continued to be higher than
other utility suppliers in those cities surveyed.

To improve safety standard, the Group has performed safety audits
on 57 city gas projects during 2012 and carried out safety related
trainings in 10 regional centres. Safety trainings for engineers were
conducted for 240 personnel from 75 member companies. Safety
management processes, training and rules included in 27 safety
guidelines were formalised and standardised for use through the
Group.

On the financial and tax management areas, to improve treasury
operation and reduce costs of working capital, the Group has
further enhanced its centralisation of cash management with
the inclusion of more member companies in the system. Various
taxation rationalisation and reduction measures were taken to
reduce tax exposure and speed of tax setoffs and refunds.

As part of the ongoing risk management process, financial and
operational audits were carried out systematically covering all city
gas projects by phases. Significant improvement and corrective
actions were made by business units on such audit findings.

With the objective of efficiency enhancement in view of the
significant increase in operation size of the Group in recent
years, information technology systems covering centralised cash
management, financial reporting, centralised procurement and
customer service are continuously being rolled out across various
levels of the Group’s operation.
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All our member companies endeavour to promote engineering
technology innovation, thus lowering their construction costs and
improving the engineering and technology capability of CR Gas.

Pressure-differential liquefaction technology - Zhengzhou Gas,
based on their own business features, proactively applied the pressure-
differential liquefaction technology, significantly lowering its LNG
liquefaction costs.

Micro-opening method for maintenance and repair of underground
pipelines — Our gas company in Chengdu has innovated a micro-
opening method for repair of underground pipelines, thus substantially
reducing its repair costs and repair time, which in turn improved its
efficiency.

Design of LNG liquefaction factory — Our design company in Chengdu
undertook the design projects of two LNG liquefaction factories, laying
solid foundation for CR Gas to develop this new area of business.

The technology for non-stop connection and supply of high-pressure
pipelines while repairing — Our companies in Chengdu, Zhenjiang and
Xiamen have applied the technology for repair of high-pressure pipelines
while ensuring the continuation of gas supply, wining high recognition of
users, and establishing the brand image of CR Gas in this field.
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ENVIRONMENT AND SAFETY ENHANCEMENT

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 9 billion m?®
of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually the
Group helps to replace approximately 12 million tons of coal usage and
reduce approximately 295 million tons of carbon dioxide emissions and
230,000 tons of pollutants.

The Group has formulated a number of safety policies and procedures
as well as hiring qualified engineers and technical staff to manage and
prevent any potential accidents in our natural gas related facilities which
may cause damage to the environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, we have fully complied with the
relevant local and national environmental protection regulations and
licensing requirement.

The Group places great emphasis on safety system and has
established a safety department to oversee safety issues and adopted
a comprehensive safety administration system. The Group carries out,

through the project companies, routine safety inspection of gas stations,
branch pipelines, customer pipelines, gas meters and gas appliances
at the customers’ premises.
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Report from the Managing Director

AEBRAEBVNEREIRARPRER 2R The Group place emphasis on educating staff and users in respect of
ERRFIE - Eit - NEETEHAEBET safety procedures. Accordingly, regular trainings and seminars are held
BPHTIIRGEE - HRHEEAF - AEES for relevant staff. For end users, we give thorough explanations of safety
HEBTRERF - WEHTHEESKIR procedures and arrange regular seminars or distribute brochures and
BB EFM - booklets on safety.

&) APPRECIATION

AAZBEHEEBRBERE2EETISHT@REY | would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
BHBBBUAROHE - RIVEEER O team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
N AP RMEERE RRAEBOBE R We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
B URERERESNER - customers, increase efficiency and scale of the business to enhance

the values of the shareholders and employees.

REE SHI SHANBO
EFLAE Managing Director

&5 —ET—=F=A+=H Hong Kong, 13th March, 2013
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HMRERE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
—T——f
(RERIZ #h/ —T——F #m/
ZB-ZF  RREE) (R (EF) O ORid)
2011
(As Previously
Reported
& Before Increase/ 2011 Increase/
BZT=-BA=1T—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2012  Restatement) (Decrease)  (Restated)™ (Decrease)
TET TR TR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
] Turnover 19,590,613 13,506,632 45% 14,208,046 38%
E7 Gross profit 6,018,909 3,972,460 52% 4,165,524 44%
TR Profit from operations 3,010,958 2,107,057 43% 2,103,895 43%
F R 7 Profit for the year 2,034,705 1,596,408 27% 1,572,401 29%
ARERAEEA Profit attributable to the Company’s
FEAR R 7 equity holders 1,650,964 1,200,473 38% 1,176,268 40%
MEERASHEEE  Net cash from operating activities 5,043,234 2,109,911 139% 2,011,953 151%
FRERERN@ (&) Basic EPS®@ (HK cents) 82 66 24% 61 34%
BRAHE Bk Interim dividend paid per share
(4l (HK cents) 2 2 0% 2 0%
BERES - 5K Final dividend proposed per share
(7&40) (HK cents) 14 10 40% 10 40%
(1) #HEZZ——F+-A=+—HILFED (1)  The comparatives for the year ended 31st December, 2011 were restated

BT B EH PARBIRS [ —12 5 & 6
zattgsbal 28 RE  MARMSET
BRINZEAHERSEBE L —ERS
PERERAZRA—2HER (AHRBEE
RE)BEHERY RERBRME) &£
BAFFHHIAET -

to reflect the adoption of the “Merger Accounting under Common Control
Combination” accounting policy where the relevant amounts are restated as
if the entities or businesses had been combined at the previous reporting
period or when they first came under common control, whichever is shorter,
and up to the date of disposal where appropriate.

@ SREFRFREETRGONETFHE 2
S -

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average number
of issued shares.
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—T——F
(BREMZR #m/ —T——F #m/
—B-—F  RRES) () (EF) o &)

2011

(As Previously

Reported
& Before Increase/ 2011 Increase/
BZET-B=T—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2012  Restatement) (Decrease)  (Restated)® (Decrease)

TR THIL TR
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEE Total assets 42,398,863 25,405,628 67% 28,838,133 47%
RIEFRRR Bank balance and cash 12,285,555 6,889,999 78% 7,123,634 72%
RIKZEEESE Total bank and note borrowings 11,860,991 6,499,596 82% 6,691,589 77%
REED Shareholders’ loan 2,415,000 - N/A - N/A
HE /(He) %8 Net borrowings/(cash) 1,990,436 (390,403) (610%) (432,045) (561%)
KRBRRAEEA Equity attributable to the Company’s

A equity holders 11,704,273 8,102,453 44% 9,318,659 26%
DY RS Minority interests 3,099,753 2,516,094 23% 2,547,404 22%
BALE Total equity 14,804,026 10,618,547 39% 11,866,063 25%
1) BEEZZT—F+-A=1+—HILEFED (1) The comparatives for the year ended 31st December, 2011 were restated

LERBFE BFIARBRES [F—2 640
ZEHEE] ZEFBE - MIBESETD
BRINZEAHERLERE L —ERS
PERERZR—ZHER (AHREEE
RE) EEHERSR RERBRME) &
EAFHAIAET -

to reflect the adoption of the “Merger Accounting under Common Control
Combination” accounting policy where the relevant amounts are restated as
if the entities or businesses had been combined at the previous reporting
period or when they first came under common control, whichever is shorter,
and up to the date of disposal where appropriate.
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—E——F
(RERMEH
—B-C=F R EFIAT)
2011
(As Previously
Reported
& Before
MEEE Financial Indicators 2012 Restatement)
EF= Gross profit margin 30.7% 29.4%
pezwped Net profit margin 8.4% 8.9%
mBN L= Current ratio 1.2x 1.2x
FEREELEO Net Debt to equity ratio! 17.0% ERE
Net Cash
BARAELER Debt to equity ratio® 49.1% 38.0%
BEBELER® Debt to assets ratio® 33.7% 25.6%
I E AR O FRE Return on weighted average equity® 14.1% 14.9%
R B R Payout ratio 19.5% 18.2%
(1) FEXBEBELERERTEEREBREFHEA (1)  Net Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net borrowings to shareholders’
BRAFEABERAOLD (BERRE equity (including shareholders’ loan, net cash if shareholders’ loan is
oM EERRENR - ARREIFE) excluded).
(2 EXRBBHLXEROTREREEHERER (2) Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to
TEEAERRAGEN LD (BERR total bank borrowings and total equity (including shareholders’ loan, 44.5%
BEX MABEERRER AZEER if shareholders’ loan is excluded).
44.5%) °
3 EEABBLEXEHROTREREEHERSE (3) Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to
ERENLD (BERRER - T eER total assets (including shareholders’ loan, 28.0% if shareholders’ loan is
REM - BIZE % 528.0%) © excluded).
(4) WRETBIEAHER EHRER81% (= (4) If merger reserve is taken out, return was 8.1% (2011: 8.4%).

T 84%) ¢
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XBRE OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
—T——F
(RER 2]
—E-CF KRR EAT) &,/ Crd)
2011
(As Previously
Reported
& Before
EERR Operational Performance 2012 Restatement) Change
BHEE (FEFEXEEB) Number of projects (Excluding
Tianjin JV) 151 73 107%
HHERE (BBYFK) Gross gas sale volume (million m?) 9,268 7,215 28%
ERRAFP Residential 2,520 2,097 20%
EGSESE)S Commercial & Industrial 5,587 4,208 33%
piIE=R CNG station 1,110 856 30%
MR Bottled gas 51 54 (6%)
EBRAFPRMRIEEE Connected customers and
CNG stations
ERAF Residential 14,025,900 10,497,600 34%
ITEHERFP Commercial & Industrial 152,771 117,846 30%
DNk CNG station 158 116 36%
BE12EA AFTIBER New connections and CNG
AFRMRIEEE stations in past 12 months
ERBFE Residential 3,528,300 1,732,800 104%
ITEHEAR Commercial & Industrial 34,925 9,630 263%
hng ik CNG station 42 34 24%
FHHERE B EF Average tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(AR®x /8IFK) (RMB per m?) 2.49/1.93/0.56 2.46/1.93/0.53 0.03/0.00/0.03
ERAF Residential 1.90/1.75/0.15 1.79/1.64/0.15 0.11/0.11/0.00
TRHEAF Commercial & Industrial 2.55/1.90/0.65 2.56/1.97/0.59 (0.01)/(0.07)/0.06
pijiE=hot CNG station 3.29/2.27/1.02 3.19/2.19/1.00 0.10/0.08/0.02
FHEREBRWA (AR# ) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 3,379 2,874 18%
IHEFEFCHEBERFHERKE Installed designed capacity for
(ZFXK,/#AR) C&l customers (m? per day) 28,849,000 21,569,000 34%
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151EH TR RIEE 151 CITY GAS PROJECTS
“E-CEHRNELE
Total Gas Sales Volume in 2012
Z3-If
IF%
Bz B#ER
B/ F8  RiffiRE EH ER ¥ER MEH  HAEE  NER
1] WEEH Kl HERRER ZE-CF (IFK/R)  (FIFR) (%) ) (%) (%) 8
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residentiall ~ CNG  Gas # of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m°) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
TER)\FRnERRERENLEER 7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2008
®#  Chengdu I Sichuan 2005 360 EERMR MA 2,019,000 1602000 1,108,484 540 43 1.7 - 9
Piped NG, gas stations
& Wi & Jiangsu 2005 500 EERME/LEE BER NE 820,000 1,786,000 555,108 19.3 70.0 96 11 13
Piped NG andjor other gas, hottled gas,
gas stations
M SuzhouHl- T& Jiangsu 2003 00 EERRE/EHAE BER NEM 149,000 980,000 165,123 144 79.3 53 1.0 2
EHE  Tech Zone Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas,
gas stations
% NanjngVG I  Jiangsu 1999 804  MEH - - 17153 - - 1000 = 14
Ei) (Gas stations
EB  Fwang T Zhejang 2005 500 EERME/EHAE ER 63,000 60,000 37,731 17 596 - 87 =
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas
¥ Huabei  ZH Anhui 2006 5.1 EERRR - MAK 209,000 582,000 67,360 25.7 403 34.0 - 5
Piped NG, gas stations
B8 Lnha I Zhejang 1995 1000 EEAME/LhFE 3,000 22,000 11,278 108 89.2 = = =
Piped NG andlor other gas
HEER G 3296000 5032000 2116619 36 55 130 09 37
Sub-total 7 projects
CEEAFOERRERENLEEE 7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2009
@1 Zhenjiang T Jiangsu 2006 510 EERHR mal 223,000 1,650,000 251,820 128 82.7 45 - 4
Piped NG, gas stations
W@ Zibo WE  Shandong 2002 460 FERMR/BURE - MFK 74000 1000000 263793 129 80 21 = 3
Piped NG andlor other gas, gas station
B8 Xanglan Gt Hubel 2002 74 BERRE M 158000 300000 153202 135 91 374 - 5
Piped NG, gas stations
AF - Daong  WE  Shand 2004 50 BERRE M 443000 350,000 123,483 278 603 119 - 3
Piped NG, gas stations
B5  Yengquan Wf Shanxi 2007 B0 EERRR MAR 3,900 230,000 105,025 06 75.2 242 - 6
Piped NG, gas stations
B VYicheng #t  Hubei 2002 1000 EERME M 19000 128,000 16,664 142 633 25 = 1
Piped NG, gas station
BL Qianjang #t  Hubel 2003 1000 EERME - MR 71,000 89,000 38432 2.1 585 124 - 2
Piped NG, gas stations
HEER G 1191900 3747000 952419 14.2 729 129 = 2%

Sub-total 7 projects
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Total Gas Sales Volume in 2012
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%
iz BRER
g1/ F#  HiffiRe ait ER FER MRE  BER  NEH
£t WEED Kh% BERREH Z%-ZF (InK/R)  (FIFR) (%) (%) (%) (%)  #8
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
—E-SFRERRERBHNEERR 9 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2010
BF  Xemen BE  Fujen 2007 490 EERME/LHRE BER MAK 330000 1,268,000 216,557 111 547 195 147 7
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas,
gas stations
EE  Jnng  ILE  Shandong 2007 510 EERRE KR MRk 29000 200000 123534 156 5 119 - 1
Piped NG, hottled gas, gas stations
#2  Sunng M| Sichuan 1993 500 EEXME MEN 170,000 65,000 81,663 474 00 26 = 4
Piped NG, gas stations
BN Tengzhou LR Shandong 2008 00 EERRE MR 114,000 400,000 92,572 94 80.3 103 - 3
Piped NG, gas stations
ftf Shifang Ml Sichuan 2008 5.0 EERRE MEH 49,000 130,000 64,037 186 675 139 = 2
Piped NG, gas stations
Bl Kunshan T& Jiangsu 2001 499  EERRR MAK 102,000 491,000 53,110 375 58.4 41 - 1
Piped NG, gas stations
MR Qdong I&  Jiangsu 2007 1000 BERKE/EHRE H25 60000 116,000 14537 %7 629 -0 -
Piped NG and/or other gas, bottled gas
A Gucheng it Hubel 2004 1000 EERME - WA 5,400 33,000 8,407 39 921 40 = 1
Piped NG, gas stations
fifE Hangzhou- T Zhejang 2009 1000 EERHE 1000 425000 2,943 = 100.0 = = =
wan Piped NG
JEBE N 1,060,400 3,128,000 678,360 189 62.2 142 47 19
Sub-total 9 projects
—E-—FOEBKREWENtEER 7 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2011
288 Jingdezhen I Jiangxi 2007 650 EERME/HAHRE 82,000 473,000 250,740 42 9.8 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
% Anyang  AE Henan 2008 60 EEAME MR 264000 400000 142698 36 803 61 = 4
Piped NG, gas stations
BB Yueyang Hunan 2008 8.7 ERRMA/LHFE  NA 131,000 70,000 103,081 2.2 %9 309 - 8
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
will - Zhongshan EX  Guangdong 2010 50 EERHA 6,100 400,000 85,961 07 9.3 = = =
Piped NG
AGE Dayawan EX  Guangdong 2008 1000 BEAME/EHFE 2R 38,000 69,000 9,349 76 888 - 36 =
Piped NG andlor other gas, hottled gas
A% Dandong HE  Liaoning 2009 1000 EEXME/LhEE 20,000 30,000 4,886 29 97.1 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
B0 Huayuankou B2 Liaoning 2009 1000 EEXME/LhEE 5,000 150,000 63 17 983 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
R E 546,100 1592,000 596,778 140 715 8.4 01 12

Sub-total 7 projects
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Total Gas Sales Volume in 2012
-%-Cf
%
Btz B#ER
g1/ F8  RifliRE &it ER FER NMEY BER RN
2 WEED Kh% BERREH 8- (IF%/B)  (FIRK) (%) (%) (%) (%) LE]
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
TE-C—HENEBRREWEN T REEE 16 Projects Acquired from CRH in 2012
BN Fuzhou  BE  Fujen 2010 490 FERRE/ L0 NAM 382000 1,000,000 206,359 169 765 66 = 3
Piped NG andlor other gas, gas stations
@& Nanchang iIE  Jiangx 2011 90 EERME/LbRE 348,000 194000 123,900 3.2 638 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
IF  Jingmen EX  Guangdong 2008 800 EEXNA/EBTE  MEN 30000 160,000 32,784 43 628 329 - 3
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
85 Dongying WE Shandong 2010 00 EEAHR 1,100 90,000 18,802 0.2 998 - - -
Piped NG
&M Taizhou T Zhejiang 2008 1000 EEXHA 6,100 16,000 5,398 07 99.3 - - -
Piped NG
R Heyan EX  Guangdong 2009 1000 EERME/ LlRE 1,000 24,000 3,199 01 99 - = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
B FuzhoulPGEE  Fujan 2009 490 FARKE/EbRE 29,000 3,000 2,191 837 163 - - =
it LPG andor other gas
@ Nanzhang )t  Hubel 2008 1000 EERKE/E4RE- MR 5,200 8,000 1949 193 B9 48 - 1
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas station
82 Gux I Jangd 2008 1000 EERIHE/EHRE 8400 14,000 2047 149 8.1 - - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
S5 Haicheng #E  Liaoning 2009 1000 EERME/EHEE 22,000 17,000 813 170 830 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
B Fenghua T Zhejang 2009 00 EERRE/HbEE 7,800 20,000 827 311 689 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
#H  Laoyang #E Ligoning 2009 1000 EEXME/ LhEE 9,000 90,000 3,12 100.0 - - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
@ Tonghua  FHf Jilin 2009 1000 EERME/EbRE 100 12,000 35 - 100.0 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
ZEEH Yuman  EF Yuman 2009 545 EERME/EMEE - NEH 8,600 1,000 394 67 919 14 - 1
Pipeline Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
SN Jnzhou  EE Liaonng 2012 1000 HEER
Greenfield
EE  Wamnian IE  Jiangxi 2012 510 HRER
Greenfield
TREEE NG 858,300 1,649,000 401,823 21.7 720 6.3 - 8

Sub-total 16 projects
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g1/ F8  RifliRE ait ER FER MRE  BER  NEH

£t WEED Kh% BERREH Z%-ZF (InK/R)  (FIFR) (%) (%) (%) (%)  #8
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l

Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations

EHREN_SSNFEERBEN+=@EEE 13 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2009

HE  wohan M Hubei 2002 510 EEAME - MAs 118,000 1,000,000 172,716 55 88.8 57 - 3
Piped NG, gas stations

E®  Kumng EF  Yuman 2008 640 EEXNE/EpFE 45000 332,000 21,174 94 906 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas

B Tongzou TH  Jiangu 2008 00 EEXES/EHAE 19000 84000 9,19 150 8.0 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas

AR Hongdong WE  Shanxi 2009 510  EERMR - MRk 2000 100,000 17,509 16.8 53 299 - 2
Piped NG, gas station

EE Jinan WE Shandong 2009 1000 EEXHS 1,000 173,000 15,485 08 99.2 - - -
Piped NG

R Zaoyng Bt Hubel 2008 100.0 %ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁhum 11,000 19,000 4563 174 B0 446 - 1
Piped NG, gas station

BE  Yigan 1B Jiangxi 2009 1000 EERME/ LR 23,000 15,000 1,200 19.2 80.8 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas

BN Luzhou B Sichuan 2003 400 EERRA MM 202,000 160,000 137,844 50.7 36.0 143 - 3
Piped NG, gas stations

ik Hengshui it Hebel 2009 1000 EEXHS 23,000 78,000 18,066 74 926 - - -
Piped NG

B8 Yutai IS Shandong 2009 100.0 ?Eﬁ_ﬂﬁﬁ'ﬂﬂﬁiﬁ 3,000 8,000 1,882 49 516 436 - 1
Piped NG, gas station

BN Huozhou WA Shanxi 2009 700 EERMA MEM 7,900 144,000 5,146 30.2 155 543 - 1
Piped NG, gas station

BH Yagu WE Shaxi 2009 650 EERMT - MEH 2900 100,000 2255 63 87 70 = 1
Piped NG, gas station

M Yenzou WE  Shandong 2009 00 EERME/LHRE 57,000 50,000 27,643 210 779 - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
T=EER N 534800 2,263,000 434,602 220 68.6 9.3 01 12

Sub-total 13 projects
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Total Gas Sales Volume in 2012
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gi/ F#  HiffiRe ait ER FER MRE  BER  NEH
£t WEES ke HERRER Z%-ZF (InK/R)  (FIFR) (%) (%) (%) (%)  #8
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected  Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
EHREN_S—SFEEREN+_@EEE 12 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2010
8F  Chonggng EET  Municipal 1995 B0 EERNEG/LHEE NS 3057000 3280000 2398880 87 53 140 = 7
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
B Znhengzhou TE  Henan 2009 840 EERNE/EHEE NS 1358000 1781000 755463 373 511 116 = 14
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
2 Jingning TE  Jiangsu 2010 00 BERMS 191000 467,000 71,148 %5 645 = = =
Piped NG
BE  Ybn Wl Schun 2010 500 SERME - M 129000 117,000 85,449 408 06 386 = 4
Piped NG, gas stations
W Nefiang Ml Sichuan 2010 500 SERME . M 130000 262,000 58699 481 31 08 = 2
Piped NG, gas stations
#E  Longchang MU/l Sichuan 2010 00 SEXRS 43,000 24,000 24,198 752 248 - - -
Piped NG
E®  Kumng Z% Yunnan 2010 850 Mg - - 1,046 - - 1000 - 4
EfS VG Gas station
B5  Fengcheng #Z  Liaoning 2010 1000 BEX#E/EbsE 1,400 - - - - - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
K% Bedi  EE  Liaoning 2010 1000 #BER
Greenfield
#& X EE  Guangdong 2010 1000 BEXBE/LBEE NG 300 10,000 512 01 82 117 = 1
Piped NG andjor other gas, gas stations
F&  Chifeng  AEE  Inner 2010 1000 SERME /LR IR 6,900 17,000 353 231 601 168 - 1
B3R Mongolia Piped NG andor other gas, gas stations
Autonomous
Bt Zzhong W) Schuan 2010 00 SERAG NSk 38,000 40,000 21814 5.1 2 N7 = 1
Piped NG, gas stations
+-RER /N 4954600 5998000 3422376 318 53 139 - 34

Sub-total 12 projects
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g1/ F8  RifliRE ait ER FER MRE  BER  NEH

£t WEED Kh% BERREH Z%-ZF (InK/R)  (FIFR) (%) (%) (%) (%)  #8
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l

Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations

EPHREN-_ZT——FEERBEN+N\EEE 18 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2011

%% Fangd W Shandong 2001 583 EERMR/LBFE 25000 400,000 30,011 65 85 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
M Qingzhou WX Shandong 2001 583 EBRMR/EtAE 56,000 420,000 34330 16.2 838 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
Zk  Angu UE  Shandong 2001 1000 EEXME/LbFE 26,000 400,000 15,242 182 818 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
BL  Llushan [ Shandong 2010 55.0 FREE
Greenfield
%5 WeifangHi- W Shandong 2003 1000 EERME/Lf5E 16,000 45,000 2259 398 602 = = =
BB Tech Zone Piped NG andlor other gas
BE  Luozhung WE Shandong 2002 1000 EERME/LRE 24000 1,157,000 68,097 49 95.1 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
EZ (i WL Ihefang 2002 80 EERRE/EtFE 34000 100,000 38,694 57 %3 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
gE  Xuyan  BE Ligoning 2011 100.0 HRER
Greenfield
=f  Samen I Zhejang 2011 1000 EERME/ Lb5E 700 3,000 638 = 100.0 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
BB Fuwang FH  Anhi 2011 1000 EER
Greenfield
%)l Dongchuan 2@  Yunnan 2011 80.0 HRER
Greenfield
EF  Gaosheng FE  Liaonng 2011 1000 H2ER
fEE  Economic Greenfield
Area
g Yunnan VG £ Yunnan 2011 36.0 HEEE
Ei Greenfield
4% Hongan At Hubei 2011 00 EERE/ HibEE 2,000 2,000 277 AN 5.3 = = =
Piped NG andjor other gas
B Chuiong 28 Yuman 2011 600 EERMR/EbAE 26,000 3,000 602 100.0 = - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
HE  Jngde  FH  Anhui 2011 1000 TRER
Greenfield
EBE  Huaren EE Liaoning 2011 100.0 HEEE
Greenfield
B%  Nanfen EE  Liaoning 2011 100.0 HRER
Greenfield
TNEEE G 209,700 2,530,000 190,150 92 90.8 - = =

Sub-total 18 projects
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Total Gas Sales Volume in 2012
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Btz B#ER
g1/ F8  RifliRE &it ER FER NMEY BER RN
2 WEED Kh% BERREH 8- (IF%/B)  (FIRK) (%) ) (%) (%)  &B
Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
EHRER - E——FHEREN=T— 31 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2012 (AEIl)
{&18 B (AEI)
B@A Gomud F&  Qnghai 2005 1000 EERMR/ERE MR 2000 330,000 21556 97 810 93 = 2
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
Bh Huengzhongd#  Qinghai 2001 1000 EEXRME/L0FE NEY 13000 450000 31,564 153 796 51 - 2
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
48 Ledu &8 Qinghai 2000 00 EERRE/EHRE NEH 17,000 120,000 24,058 - 90.8 92 - 1
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
i Wangcheng #fF  Hunan 2004 1000 EERME/EbFE 31,000 74,000 15,891 16.0 85.0 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
WM Chenzhou #&  Hunan 2005 1000 EERME/ LbFE 41,000 36,000 3,657 28 972 - - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
8F  lowdi  #E  Hwan 2006 800 EEXRNE/EbFE 94,000 15,000 9,075 838 142 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
HE&  Nanxian @ Hunan 2004 510 EBRIE/HbEE 4,600 23,000 262 100.0 - - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
RE Wuyi I Zhefang 2004 1000 EERME/EbFE 5,000 25,000 3591 68 932 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
ME  Xengd  HE  Hunan 2005 1000 EEAME/ LhFE 300 15,000 1,758 1000 = = = =
Piped NG andlor other gas
B&  Iing B Huan 2010 1000 EERME/ LioFE 300 20,000 206 02 9.8 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
BN Fuhou IR Jiangxi 2002 1000 EEXME/ LhEE 43,000 51,000 2,005 29.3 707 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
Bk Lshi  FT Znejang 1999 B0 EERIR/EHFE 27,000 21,000 a3 65.6 344 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
%E Yuegng I Zhejlang 2000 1000 EERME/EtbRE 14,000 10,000 561 %7 733 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
#B  Leoyuan FF i 2008 1000 BERHE/E0SE NEH 13,000 10,000 1125 103 89 08 = 1
Piped NG and/or other gas, gas stations
20 Yingkou BE Liaoning 1999 1000 EEXER/Lb5E 32,000 2,000 94 345 65.5 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
BEZ  Qanen T Hebel 2005 1000 EERME/LfRE 36,000 1,000 3402 16.9 84.1 = = =

Piped NG and/or other gas
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Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
EZT JanCly IR Jiengi 2003 00 EERRE/EtFE 67,000 6,000 5231 52.1 479 - = -
Piped NG and/or other gas
M Laizhow WE  Shandong 2000 1000 EEXME/ERE 56,000 90,000 7574 224 756 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
i Shuyang TH  Jiangsu 2002 1000 EEXME/ LR 58,000 19,000 5,643 22 578 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
E%E JanCounty T®  Jiangd 2008 910 EBERRR/LpFE 1700 1,000 1415 102 89.8 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
B4 Yucheng WE  Shandong 2000 1000 EBEXME/LbFE 36,000 500,000 22,206 6.4 936 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
BT  VYangjang FE  Guangdong 2002 1000 EERME/ LH5E 22,000 30,000 5739 209 79.1 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
8 Jangyan IHE  Jingsu 2001 1000 EERHE/EtFE 39,000 17,000 5,595 %8 712 - - -
Piped NG and/or other gas
K€  Daleng TE  Jengsu 1996 1000 EERME/EtRE 24,000 36,000 6,411 33 617 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
#)l Longchuan B Guangdong 2000 %0 EBRMR/EbAE 14,000 16,000 1,406 702 28 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
E%  Zongdang i Hubel 210 1000 EERME/LH5E 21,000 27,000 6,411 180 820 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
Rl Jingshan  Hk  Hubei 2010 1000 EEXHE/LhEE 2,900 168,000 3,055 100.0 - = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
¥ Sheyang  Ht Hubei 2010 1000 EEXME/ LR 7,300 1,000 1,328 241 779 = - =
Piped NG and/or other gas
#%  Chaan R  Guangdong 2003 1000 RER
Greenfield
MBS Hangzhou T Zhejlang 1996 1000 MEH - - 1823 - - 1000 = 1
Tongneng (as stations
iMES Hangzhou ST Zhejang 1998 700 MEk - = 1,486 = - 1000 = 3
Luneng Gas stations
D 742,100 2,114,000 201,288 204 748 48 - 10

Sub-total 31 projects
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Installed
Designed
Capacity
Total for C&l
Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
EHMEN S —_FEEWBEBNE# The other 31 Projects Directly Acquired by CR Gas in 2012
=+—{@E=E8
El  Baoshen £ Shenghai 2012 1000 EERHE/EHFE 82000 170,000 30,887 735 %5 = = =
Piped NG and/or other gas
BM Cangzhou 3 Hebe 2012 510 EERME MR 89000 150,000 32,198 162 378 460 = 2
Piped NG, gas stations
BF  Degng EX  Guangdong 2012 1000 ElE
Greenfield
EF  Zhenping @ Henan 2012 60.0 iR
Greenfield
BT Panzhihua WmJI Sichuan 2012 800 EEXRRF 63000 123,000 53,125 27 67.3 - - =
Piped NG
K&  DalianFree B2  Liaoning 2012 00 BERRE/LbFE = 20,000 13 = 100.0 = = =
RHE  Trade Zone Piped NG and/or other gas
AT Heping EX  Guangdong 2012 1000 EER
Greenfield
BE  Kapng BEE  Guangdong 2012 80.0 HEEE
Greenfield
M Gaozhou EE  Guangdong 2012 1000 FREE
Greenfield
£%&  Changchun %A il 2012 1000 HRER
HlkE NG Greenfield
BF Hamen IE  Jiangsu 2012 1000 EEREE/EbAE - 50000 4 - 1000 = = -
Piped NG and/or other gas
TE Pingtan  #R  Fjin 2012 1000 HeER
Greenfield
EHfKE JiinYongj Ftk  Jiin 2012 1000 HEER
Greenfield
B Songyuan Eff  Jiin 2012 1000 HRER
Greenfield
HZ  NanningVG EE  Guangi 2012 80.0 EER
EfAR Greenfield
IE  Shantow  ®E  Guangdong 2012 80.0 RER
Greenfield
BWAE Habn 2RI  Hellongjiang 2012 100.0 HRER
H%E  Development Greenfield
Zone
8%  Panjn  EE  Laonng 2012 9.0 AR

Greenfield
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Installed
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Capacity
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Year of Connected ~ Customers Non- Bottled
Founding/ Household in 2012 Total Residential residential ~ CNG  Gas #of Gas
Province Acquisition % Owned  Type of Gas Sold in 2012 (m¥day) (1000 m?) (%) (%) (%) (%) Stations
B8 Handan A Hebei 2012 0 EERRA - AER 30,000 25,000 32424 319 68.0 -0 =
Piped NG, bottled gas
£A  Changzhi WA Shanxi 2012 550 EERMS 110,000 = 7 100.0 - - - -
Piped NG
£2 i £ Jiin 2012 100.0 HRER
Greenfield
RE  Wehan  #t Hubei 2012 56.0 HRER
ftIE Chemical Greenfield
park
%  Yichun 28I Heilongjiang 2012 100.0 EE
Greenfield
B Bacheng EH il 2012 90.0 FRER
Greenfield
RE  Sugian  TE  Jingsu 2012 67.0 MRIER
Greenfield
B Zaozhuang IUE  Shandong 2012 700 MR
Greenfield
HERE Wohan B Hubei 2012 500 EBERRE/EtFE 154,000 10,000 5,899 84.4 15.6 - - -
Wugang Piped NG and/or other gas
BZ  Guangrao WIE  Shandong 2012 100.0 HRER
Greenfield
% Puang  WE  Henan 2012 800 EBRRR/EtFE 104000 248000 117,865 25 765 - = =
Piped NG andlor other gas
BE  Jlenyang EE Fujian 012 1000 B
Greenfield
B Fangcheng W@ Henan 2012 60.0 EER
Greenfield
=+—{AER N 632,000 796,000 213,175 326 62.0 54 - 2
Sub-total 31 projects
—BRt-EEE 4 14,025,900 28,849,000 9,267,590 21.2 60.2 120 06 158

Grand-total 151 projects




BEDKEES

RZE—ZF BRABUE=HHEEM
Mﬂﬁ%lﬁﬁm%ﬁ DEHIE B AN - A&
E R R EeEm TR AR -
ZE1EM TR TEE ML EEREAR
ST %E#%W%ﬁﬂﬁ‘wﬂéﬁ
ZEMEREI FARNEBRAMBRE
W°®M’@ﬁﬁi%£ﬁ%%%%%@
A (ZEMBAREESAMKIER R
AIAREHBHREN) REWRBEHHE HT il
R AEEEBEE-_T——F R
—F+=-A=1+— ammm&rm@é%
ABARE GEBRAIEZEHE LGS
ReReXkeifaXRaREET AR (O
R BEEEREREE S —— FRZ2
——E+ AT ALRAEEHFES
B AWM AT B (AREE A
%) BIRTFE) M EEE %K%ﬁk
LMBERE Efﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂtﬁﬁ&
BEEEWEN _T——FE= _im
B ERTXHH ﬁ¢ﬁﬁ_é——¢
BHRTH IS R & BRT -

AEEBR-ZZT——FRHEEHANER KK
BHETE - FAREEEEEA195.91
BT (ZF——F 1 135.07B%8 L) °

WA D EKITE B BB I kg
# Al )i 7 /2035 BT (ZF — —F:
15.9618 %8 L) RIREE(REF A16.51F%5
T (ZZ——% 1 12.00{887T) °

EBRRERRERAT | —E——FFH

BEEENWR DT
Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERALL FINANCIAL RESULTS

In 2012, the Group acquired 16 city gas projects from its controlling
shareholder in addition to its acquisition of other 62 new PRC city gas
distribution projects from independent third parties. The results of these
16 city gas projects are accounted for in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger
Accounting under Common Control Combination” adopted by the Group.
Accordingly, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group for the two years ended 31st
December, 2011 and 2012 include the results of operations, changes in
equity and cash flows of the companies now comprising the Group as
if the current group structure had been in existence throughout the two
years ended 31st December, 2011 and 2012, or since their respective
dates of incorporation or establishment where this is a shorter period
except for the subsidiaries acquired from independent third parties
and the jointly controlled entities acquired, which are included in
the consolidated financial statements since their respective dates of
acquisitions. To enable the management and discussion analysis be
more meaningful in presenting the changes from 2011 to 2012, only
the financial and operational numbers before restatement for 2011 are
discussed in the analysis below.

The Group’s results for 2012 were driven by both organic and acquisition
growths. The Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$19,591
million (2011: HK$13,507 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$2,035 million (2011: HK$1,596
million) and profit attributable to shareholders of HK$1,651 million (2011:
HK$1,200 million).
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Cash Flow

The net cash inflow from operations during the year amounted to
HK$5,043 million (2011: HK$2,110 million).

The Group spent HK$8.5 billion in capital expenditure during the
year including Tianjin JV which was paid in January 2013 (2011:
HK$454 million (excluding the HK$1.93 billion acquisition by share
consideration)) to fund its acquisition expansion and HK$3.5 billion in
upgrading of its continuing city gas distribution business (2011: HK$1.51
billion). The above required funding was financed by the operating
cash flow, bank borrowings and cash on hand of the Group. As at year
end, the Group’s free cash on hand was HK$12.3 billion (2011: HK$6.9
billion). Among the cash balance 10% was denominated in Hong Kong
dollar and 85% in Renminbi and 5% in US dollar.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund
to finance major expansion and acquisition. On 5th April 2012, the
Company issued US$750 million senior notes bearing an interest rate
of 4.5% per annum payable semi-annually in arrear due 2022 at an
issue price of 97.95%. As at the end of the year, the Group has total
bank and note borrowings of HK$11.9 billion (2011: HK$6.5 billion). 2%
(2011: 24%) of the borrowings is considered as current liabilities and
repayable within one year, the remaining are repayable in two to ten
years. Renminbi, HK and US dollar denominated borrowings accounted
for 6%, 46% and 48% of the total borrowings respectively (2011: 9%,
91% and 0%). 48% (2011: 95%) of borrowings are interest bearing bank
loans on floating rate terms and 52% (2011: 5%) are interest bearing
bank loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The cash balance of the Group was HK$12.3 billion as at the year end.
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year, calculated as total
debt over total assets, was 34% (2011: 26%). The EBITDA to interest
cover ratio was at the healthy level of 11.7 times. The financial position
and liquidity of the Group is very healthy and stable.
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The Group has been granted a total of HK$5.78 billion (2011: HK$6.68
billion) term loan facilities with maturities from 2013 to 2016. The
facilities are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end
of the year, 93% (2011: 88%) of the facilities has been drawn down.
The facilities plus the 10 year U$750 million senior notes, together with
healthy operating cash flow will provide sufficient funding for foreseeable
expansion and working capital requirement.

Other than the above mentioned committed facilities, the Group
has no other committed borrowing facilities. For day-to-day liquidity
management and maintaining flexibility in funding, the Group has
managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted short-term facilities from
banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2012, bank deposits of HK$95 million were
pledged as securities for trade payable to a supplier of natural gas
and certain property, plant and equipment and trade receivables
with carrying values of HK$50 million were pledged to secure bank
borrowings.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2012, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$352 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$2,261 million on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2012, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in Euro.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.
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REXRE OPERATING RESULTS

BWANEEREHEZ Key Revenue Drivers

WITRR D SR ACK B & B 1 H A The revenue of city gas distribution operation are derived from recurring
ER—RMMRERER b= —= gas sales and one-time gas connection fee which respectively accounts
FUARIT9%21% (ZF——F : 555 for 79% and 21% of the 2012 revenue (2011: 80% and 20% respectively).

80%f%20%) ©

BE-_Z——H#+-_A=+—HILEE - The turnover of the city gas distribution operation for the year ended

WA D IHERNEEEF195.91E 5 31st December, 2012 amounted to HK$19,591 million, an increase of

T RIEBE——F L F45% c EEFBEAIR 45% over that of 2011. The significant increase was mainly due to the

ERFEHNMAEE S H72.15B7 5K increase in gas sales volume by 28% from 7,215 million m® to 9,268

1 JN28%%£92.6818 3 7 K - LA R ERE million m® and the increase in connection fee income by 48% from

WA 27 411878 7T £ F148%%40.5018 7% HK$2,741 million to HK$4,050 million. The increase in gas sales and

T MAHEERERKBRANENEER connection fee income were in turn driven by the following factors:

RIATEZE :

1) IBERAFPARGTEREAH (1) 34% increase in the daily installed capacity for commercial &
21,570,000 /5 K 1 jN34%= industrial (“C&I") customers from 21.57 million m? to 28.85 million
28,850,000 /5K © m3.

(2) # B{E P # B #10,500,000~ & N (2) 34% increase in the number of connected households from 10.50
34%%14,030,000F - million to 14.03 million.

HEERNEIERHRE

Key Revenue Drivers
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Number of Households and C&l Capacity Revenue Breakdown
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BERERAFEAD
Gas Sales Volume by Customer Type
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AIFEERE Sustainable Gross Margin

BIMADHEBR T —_FHNEEE
MEA30.7% B8 -T — — F129.4% 5
1.3% ° MABHENENEH21.4%E INE
22.5% + # B & EF X Al H60.9%E &
62.4% °
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The city gas distribution operation registered an overall gross profit
margin of 30.7% for 2012, which was 1.3% higher than the 29.4% for
2011. This is because the gross margin of gas sales grew from 21.4%
to 22.5% and gross margin of connection fee from 60.9% to 62.4%.

The gross profit margin for connection fee income increased from 60.9%
for 2011 to 62.4% for 2012 mainly because of connection fee income
from cities with relative higher connection fees. The higher overall gas
sales margin was mainly contributed from increase in sales to industrial
customers and the increase in residential price in Zhengzhou.
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BEMNERER
Stable Gross Margin
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The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution and general
and administration expenses in 2012 were the result of the 78 projects
acquired in 2012. As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution
expenses was 7.8% for 2012 and comparable to the 8.0% for 2011. The
general and administration expenses increased from 9.1% in 2011 to
10.5% in 2012 due to the newly acquired projects during the year which
will need time to attain higher operating efficiency. The increase of gross
margin of 1.3%, the decrease in other revenue of 0.4%, the increase
of 1.2% on total selling and distribution and general and administration
expenses as well as the decrease in contribution from an associate
of 0.3% mainly accounts for decrease in Earning Before Interest and
Tax (EBIT) of 0.5% from 16.5% in 2011 to 16.0% in 2012. There was
an increase in interest cost of 1% which was offset by the reduction of
minority interest of 1%. Thus net profit after tax and minority interest of
8.4% was also 0.5% less than the 8.9% in 2011.
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Gross Margin
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FRNEARE
Stable Cost & Expenses

HERDHER

Selling & Distribution Expenses
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General & Administrative Expenses
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy
cash flow with an operating cash flow of HK$5,043 million and free
operating cash flow of HK$1,486 million in 2012. The Group recorded
a cash balance of HK$12,286 million at the end of 2012, an increase
of HK$5,396 million over the amount at the end of 2011. The Group
has continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet to raise low cost
finance during 2012 and has a total bank loans and senior notes of
HK$11,861 million outstanding as at 31st December, 2012, with a gross
debt to total asset ratio of 34%. The Group maintains a very healthy
balance sheet with low gross debt ratio, high EBITDA to interest cover
ratio of 11.7 times at 31st December, 2012.
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Operating Cash Flow
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Debt to Asset Gearing

EBITDA to Interest Coverage
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Note (2):

Free Operating Cash Flow = Operating Cash Flow — Operating Capital Expenditures
MRETEENSWA - FEUR54

54 times if interest income is taken out
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EEMNERE Reasonable rates of return

RSB W EERRIEREE - WHHRR In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city
DIHEBHGERENRABHRE R EEE gas distribution operation registered reasonable return on equity and
WK —E——F R AE14.1%56.0% (= return on assets of 14.1% and 6.0% respectively in 2012 (2011: 14.9%
T——F  DHAE14.9%K7.2%) - NEEH and 7.2% respectively). The Group acquired 78 new projects in 2012
R-ZZT——FKRE78ExEE (BiE25H including 25 green field projects, taking the total number of green field
MEEE  RMBRERAEN T _F+ projects at 31 December 2012 to 35. The rates of returns are expected
ZA=+—HERS5E) - FREEFK to improve once all these newly acquired projects start to attain higher
BHEL - =FREBMAESIERL operating efficiency and generate more returns in 2013 and thereafter.
ERE R REE = B 5RiE - BIHREAFEF S

=,

AEERR
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EREEERMNIER Major contributors

B BB0%RMMRAIBERE  BEEAK Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
WAREFHR T N\FUYIEOKRE - & in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
BHREMNIEER - BRAEER_TTNFE connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired
TE-CFREFEEHER  MEEHRE more new projects from 2009 to 2012, their contribution percentages
BAEILEBURUR - RSO R EE - B - & have decreased and taken up by others such as Chongging, Zhengzhou,
P9 RZ BT SIERSEEDR - E Xiamen, Wuhan, Zhenjiang, Zibo and Jingdezhen. As there will be more
RERRBFHERLWHEIR - BARK acquisitions over the next few years, the percentage contribution from
RETEIEE SREROLAISHEELE R all projects are expected to gradually become more evenly distributed
B9 - ERAEENAFEREBRRAER in the future. The broadening of the Group’s earning base will insure the
T ERERBEME—NHTRRIER - Group from relying heavily on any single city gas project.

Wi ER DT

Contribution by City
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HEWA
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1 FET HAEFE

Net Profit Before Corporate Expenses
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

AEEL

Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 1st June, 2012.
He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination Committee and a
member of the Investment Committee. He was appointed as a Director
and the General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in
February 2007. He is currently a Deputy General Manager of CRH. Mr.
Wang joined China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited
in 1985 and was previously its Deputy Managing Director. He has over
25 years of corporate management experience in the area of petroleum
and related products trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining from the University
of Petroleum.

Mr. Shi Shanbo, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also
a member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. He is currently the Assistant President of
CRH. Mr. Shi joined CRH in 1991, and was a Non-executive Director of
China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited
and China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, and Vice
Chairman and General Manager of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited, which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He was a Non-executive Director of China Resources
Microelectronics Limited, the withdrawal of listing of its shares on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange became effective on 2nd November, 2011.
He was a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was
the Chairman of China Resources Jinhua Co., Ltd., a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from November 2006 to March 2010.
He was previously the Audit Director and Deputy General Manager of
the Finance Department of CRH and the General Manager of China
Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Shi holds a
Master’s Degree in Economics from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics.
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Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, aged 55, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28th May, 2001 with
overall responsibilities for the financial and legal operations. He is
also the Company Secretary of the Company. He is a member of the
Company’s Corporate Governance Committee. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
members of the national accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia.
He obtained a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of Southern Queensland, Australia. He has more than 20 years
of diverse range of experience in professional accounting practice as
well as financial positions in various industries straddling countries in
Southeast Asia, the PRC and Hong Kong.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 21st March, 2008 and is currently a Deputy General
Manager and the Chief Human Resources Officer of CRH. He is also a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Du joined
CRH in 1985 and is also a Non-executive Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited, China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resource Cement Holdings
Limited. Shares of the above four immediately mentioned companies
are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Du
is also a Non-executive director of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited, the withdrawal of listing of its shares on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange became effective on 2nd November, 2011. He is also a
director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a director of China
Resources Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Du received a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco, USA.

Mr. Wei Bin, aged 43, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company on 3rd November, 2008 and is also a Chairman of the
Investment Committee of the Company. He is the Chief Financial Officer
of CRH with effect from 1st April, 2011 and is also the General Manager
of its Finance Department. Mr. Wei is a Non-Executive Director of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited, China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited, which are main board listed companies
in Hong Kong. Mr. Wei is also a Non-executive director of China
Resources Microelectronics Limited, the withdrawal of listing of its
shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange became effective on 2nd
November, 2011. He is also a director of China Resources Sanjiu
Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co.,
Ltd, which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Wei holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree in Auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics
in PRC and a Master’s Degree in Finance from Jinan University in the
PRC, and is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in the PRC. He is
also a non-practising member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wei joined CRH in 2001.
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FR & %4 Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Huang Daoguo, aged 58, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company. He is currently the Audit Director of
CRH. Mr. Huang jointed CRH in 2011, he is a Non-executive Director
of China Resources Enterprise, Limited and China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited (which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange) since May 2012. He is also a Non-executive Director
of China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited (which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange) since June 2012. He joined the National Audit
Office of the PRC (“CNAQ”) in 2000 and was the Commissioner of the
Wuhan Resident Office and Guangzhou Resident Office of CNAO, and
Director of the Department of Agriculture, Resources and Environmental
Protection Audit of CNAO. Mr. Huang graduated from the Renmin
University of China in the PRC and specialized in finance. He obtained
a Master’s Degree of Regional Economics from the Central China Normal
University in the PRC. He is a Certified Public Accountant and Senior
Auditor in the PRC.

Mr. Chen Ying, aged 42, was appointed as Non-executive Director
of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a member of the
Investment Committee of the Company. He is the General Manager
of Strategy Management Department of CRH since October 2011. Mr.
Chen joined CRH in 1993 and is also a Non-executive Director of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited, China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chen is also a director of China
Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited. He is also a director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a director of China Resources
Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. He has worked as Project Engineer, Project Manager
and Manager of Procurement Department and Executive Director
of China Resources Construction (Holdings) Company Limited from
September 1993 to March 2002. He was also a Director and President
of China Resources Land (Beijing) Company Limited from March 2002
to October 2011 and a Director of China Resources Land Limited, which
is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, from
March 2003 to January 2006. Mr. Chen received a Bachelor's Degree
of Architectural Management from Tsinghua University in the PRC and
a Master’s Degree of Business Administration from University of Oxford
in the United Kingdom.
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Independent Non-executive

=5

Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 62, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman
of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Hong Kong in 1984 and has been in private practice in Hong
Kong for over 20 years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant
solicitor with two local law firms in Hong Kong before setting up his own
practice in 1987. He was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting
Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s
Degree in Laws from the Peking University.

Ms. Yu Jian, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 17th March, 2010. She is the Chairman of
the Company’s Corporate Governance Committee and member of the
Nomination Committee. She actively involves in various bodies and
associations, including Standing Committee of the 5th Shenzhen CPPCC;
Vice-President of the China Association of Women Entrepreneurs; Vice-
President of the Association of Women Entrepreneurs of Guangdong
Province; Honorary President of the Shenzhen Association of Women
Entrepreneurs; President of the Shenzhen Urban Water Association,
Vice-President of the Children Welfare Institute of Shenzhen, Executive
Vice-President of the Shenzhen General Chamber of Commerce and
Executive Vice President and Secretary General of Shenzhen Federation
of Entrepreneurs and Shenzhen Entrepreneurs Association. Ms. Yu
was previously the Chairman of Shenzhen Water (Group) Co., Ltd,
the General Manager of Shenzhen Gas Corporation Limited and Vice-
President of the China Urban Water Association. Ms. Yu graduated
from the Harbin University of Civil Engineering and Architecture and is
a Senior Engineer with professorship.
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B %4 Mr. Yu Hon To, David
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EHEL4E Mr. Qin Chaokui

Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company on 28th December,
2012. Mr. Yu is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive experience
in the fields of auditing, corporate finance, financial investigation and
corporate management. He was formerly a partner of an international
accounting firm, and is the Vice Chairman of MCL Partners Limited, a
Hong Kong-based financial advisory and investment firm. He is currently
an Independent Non-executive Director of China Datang Corporation
Renewable Power Co., Limited, China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited, Great China Holdings Limited, Haier Electronics Group Co.,
Ltd, Media Chinese International Limited, One Media Group Limited,
Playmates Holdings Limited, Sateri Holdings Limited, Synergis Holdings
Limited, TeleEye Holdings Limited and VXL Capital Limited, which are
main board listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Qin Chaokui, aged 44, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and member of the Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 28th December,
2012. He is a professor and doctoral supervisor of Mechanical and
Energy Engineering School of Tongji University, performing research in
the field of gas utilization, transmission/distribution, and production. He
is currently a member of Renewable Energy Utilization in Buildings Sub-
group of MOHURD (Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of People’s Republic of China), a member of Shanghai Municipal
Urban-Rural Development & Transportation Commission Science and
Technology Committee, a council member of China Gas Association,
a member of Gas Sub-society of China Civil Engineer Society. He is
currently member of editorial boards of some academic periodicals,
including “Gas and Heat”, “Building Energy Conservation”, “City Gas”,
“Public Utilities”, etc. Mr. Qin graduated from Tongji University and holds
a Doctor’s Degree in Engineering.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ge Bin, aged 49, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for customer relations and the Greater Shanghai, Wuhan, Nanjing and
Fuzhou Areas. He concurrently acts as the General Manager of the
Greater Shanghai and Wuhan Areas. Mr. Ge holds a Master’s Degree in
Engineering from Nanjing University of Technology, and holds a senior
economist qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in
September 1996 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited since September 2007.

Mr. Yan Guoqi, aged 58, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in November 2010,
responsible for the Greater Zhengzhou Area and concurrently holds the
position as the Chairman of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Limited.
Mr. Yan is a representative of the 12th Session of the National People’s
Congress of Henan Province, Head of the Urban Gas Association of
Henan Province and a Senior Engineer. He was Deputy Head of Water
Plant, Head of Water Supply Management and Deputy General Manager
of Zhengzhou Municipal Water Company from 1987 to 1997, Deputy
General Manager of Zhengzhou Municipal Natural Gas Corporation
from 1997 to 1998, Deputy Chairman and Deputy General Manager of
Zhengzhou Municipal Gas Company Limited from 1998 to 2000, and
Deputy Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas Group
since 2000. Mr. Yan was appointed as the Chairman of Zhengzhou Gas
Company Limited in 2001. In October 2007, he was appointed as the
Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas Group. In December
2009, he was appointed as the Chairman and General Manager of
Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Limited.

Ms. Qin Xuwen, aged 51, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 2012. She
is responsible for the Greater Nanjing area covering Jiangsu Province
and Anhui Province, and concurrently serves as the General Manager
of Nanjing China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. She has worked in Nanjing
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since 2002, where she once served
as an Assistant to General Manager and the Manager of the Finance
Department.
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Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 46, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in April 2012, responsible
for operation, safety and information management. Mr. Zhu holds a
Bachelor’'s Degree majoring in Petro-chemical Industry Automation
from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology (currently known
as Nanjing University of Technology), a Master's Degree majoring in
International Economics from the Soochow University, and a Senior
Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in
August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 38, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 2012, taking
charge of the Finance Department and the Internal Audit Department.
Ms. Cheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics. She has worked in
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since June 2005, where
she once served as the Financial Controller. Prior to joining China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior
manager in investment banking division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 55, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007,
responsible for internal corporate affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in
the United States, and the qualification as Senior International Business
Engineer. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in August 1985
and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since
September 2007.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 47, was appointed as a Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September
2007, responsible for investment and PRC legal affairs as well as Beijing
Representative Office. Mr. Huang holds a Master’s Degree majoring in
International Finance from the Fudan University and licenses to practice
as a lawyer and an engineer. He joined China Resources Holdings
Group in March 2000 and has been working for China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since March 2007.
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Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 47, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 2012,
responsible for the Greater Chengdu Area. He has worked in China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since September 2004, where
he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had served as
a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (R M /ER A
Al), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas Co., Ltd.
(R TR AR 2 7)) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project Manager
and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. (M ¥ BREHE
BR A 7)) from 2001 to 2004.

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 41, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for human resources management and the Greater Shenzhen Area.
Mr. Shi holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
Southwest Jiaotong University and a Master Degree from the China
Europe International Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer
qualification. He joined China Resources Holdings Group in 2006 and
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 51, was appointed as Deputy General
Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012,
responsible for the Greater Jinan Area, and concurrently serves as
General Manager of the Greater Jinan Area as well as Vice Chairman
and General Manager of Jining China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. He is
currently a Committee Member of the Gas Transmission and Distribution
Professional of the China Civil Engineering Society. He joined the
Design Institute of Jining Gas Company in 1984 and served as an
Assistant Engineer from 1985 to 1986. Mr. Chen served as Director of
the Dispatch Office and an Engineer of Jining Gas Company from 1986
to 2000, Deputy Secretary of the CPC Committee and Deputy General
Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2000 to 2005, and Secretary of
CPC Committee and General Manager of Jining Gas Company from
2005 to 2007.
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Mr. Lu Hong, aged 42, was appointed as Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for the Greater Fuzhou Area, and concurrently serves as General
Manager of the Greater Fuzhou Area and General Manager of Fuzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. Mr. Lu holds a Bachelor's Degree
in Commercial Enterprise Management from Tianjin University of
Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff member to Executive
Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. Gt REEREME) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman of Fuzhou
Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (fBMNEAHEEM R QA
from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from staff member to Deputy
General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. (\BBRZAMRAR Q7))
from 2004 to 2007. He served as General Manager of Yueyang China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.
from 2007 to 2008, and General Manager of Kunming China Resources
Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009.

Mr. Peng Junfu, aged 56, was appointed as Chief Engineer of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for assisting the management of the Greater Chengdu Area, and
concurrently serves as a Director and General Manager of Chengdu Gas
Co., Ltd., an Executive Committee Member of China Gas Association, a
Vice Chairman of Sichuan Gas Association and a member of Sichuan Gas
Industry Expert Pool (P9I & #R1THEHKE). He served at various posts
in Chengdu Gas Corporation (B#EBTE R4 A E]) from 1980 to 2004,
including Vice Section Chief, Section Chief, Director of the Planning
Division, Director of Gas Resource Development Division, Director of
the Users Development Division, Manager of its Pipeline Branch, as
well as the Deputy General Manager and General Manager of Chengdu
Gas Corporation; he also served as Director, General Manager, Deputy
Secretary of CPC Committee and Legal Representative of Chengdu Gas
Co., Ltd., as well as a Member of Chengdu Municipal Senior Professional
Titles Accreditation Commission (Economic Disciplines) from 2004 to
2005.
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Former CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1st January,
2005 which was revised and renamed as Corporate Governance
Code (the “New CG Code”) with effect from 1st April, 2012, as its own
code of corporate governance practices. In line with the mandatory
provisions of the Former CG Code and New CG Code, the Company has
adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on 23rd
December, 2005 and subsequently updated in 2008, 2009, 2010 and
2012 respectively. The contents of the Handbook include, among others,
directors’ duties, model code for directors’ transactions in securities,
model code for securities transaction by relevant employees, the
functions and terms of reference of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination,
Investment and Corporate Governance Committees, disclosure of
information, communication with shareholders and procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director. All the
mandatory provisions under the New CG Code have been adopted
and reflected in the Handbook. The Company has throughout the year
complied with code provisions set out in the Former CG Code (effective
until 31st March, 2012) and the New CG Code (effective from 1st
April, 2012) contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules except for
the deviations from code provisions A.6.7, D.1.4 and E.1.2 which are
explained as follows:
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Under the code provision A.6.7, Mr. Du Wenmin and Mr. Wei Bin, the
Non-executive Directors, were unable to attend the annual general
meeting (the "AGM”) and the special general meeting (the “SGM”) of the
Company held on 31st May, 2012 and 16th October, 2012 respectively
due to conflicting business schedules. Mr. Huang Daoguo, the Non-
executive Director, was unable to attend the SGM of the Company due
to conflicting business schedule.

Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Under the code provision E.1.2 which provides that the Chairman of
the Board should attend the AGM of the Company which was held on
31st May, 2012. The Chairman of the Board did not attend the AGM as
he had conflicting business schedule. The chairmen or members of the
Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees and the Chief Financial Officer attended the AGM. The
Company considers that their presence is sufficient for (i) answering
questions from and (ii) effective communication with shareholders
present at the AGM.

Save as those mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Former CG Code
and New CG Code throughout the year.
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THE BOARD

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Ma Guoan resigned as the Chairman and

Executive Director and Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as
Chairman. Mr. Shi Shanbo was appointed as Executive Director and
General Manager and Mr. Huang Daoguo and Mr. Chen Ying were
appointed as Non-executive Directors of the Company.

On 28th December, 2012, Mr. Luk Chi Cheong resigned as the
Independent Non-executive Director and Mr. Yu Hon To, David and
Mr. Qin Chaokui were appointed as the Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of three Executive
Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 47 to 52 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the General Manager.

518



60 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2012

TEERARE

Corporate Governance Report

iRe FUNCTIONS

B AT EEARGRFFIARAINERE The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
Tt o AEEREKE  FEBEHE EAKE the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
RHE EREREE  REBEK EBER strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
SREBABESR  HHBCREEMEEYE major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and retirement of
& UBEREREESEHVELCRESS Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other major
B4 AEENHEEFABEARAIEEA operational, financial and risk management matters. Day-to-day operations
BABE- of the Group are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
EEGNR T _FRTEHGHE - TRH The Board has held periodic meetings during 2012. Details of individual
P EEEMEBLFEER attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

jut- L3 —B-Cf jut- Lot -3 —B-CF jut- L3 —B-CF

& ZRt=R  ZRt=H AN tATAR NAZTEA t-A-t=A
13th February, 13th March, 8th May, 16th July, ~ 23rd August, 23rd November,
Date 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012
51K EE%%E  BERRE  BERRE  IERRE  IERRE  IERR4
Mr. Ma Mr. Ma Mr. Ma Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Guoan Guoan Guoan  Chuandong  Chuandong  Chuandong
HiEs Executive Directors
ERZLE (R-E-—£AF-ABA) Mr. Ma Guoan (resigned on 1st June, 2012) | | | - - -
TERLE Mr. Wang Chuandong | | | | | |
RERRE (R-T-—4/°A-BEEHR) M. Shi Shanbo (appointed on 1st June, 2012) - - - J | |
TRfRgE r. Ong Thiam Kin | i | | | |
FiEE Non-executive Directors
HXRRE M. Du Wenmin X | It I3 It I3
B M. Ve Bin | | | X | |
BEERE (R-T-—§/°A-BEER) M. Huang Daoguo (ppointed on 1st June, 2012) = - - d | |
RELE (R-2-—%/A-DEEH) M. Chen Ying (appointed on 1st June, 2012) - - - I3 | I3
BUFUES Independent Non-executive Directors
REBELE r. Wong Tak Shing { | | | | |
EE%E (WoF-—E+-A-TNBBE) M Luk Chi Cheong (resigned on 26th December, 2012) | | | | | il
Fixt Ms. Yo Jian X | X | X {

AEERE (R-B——%+-P-+N\REZE) M YuHon To, David (appointed on 28th December, 2012) - - . , _ i
F95H (R-B-—#+- A= +/\REE{)  Mr. Qin Chaokui (appointed on 28th December, 2012) = - B - , i

ik (MERR TXER) Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
Vo= WHE Vv = attended
X = BE X = didn't attend

NE A -

not applicable
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The Board has held two general meetings during 2012. Details of

individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—EgE—_-F —E——F
=R EFA=+—A8 +A+7H
31st May, 16th October,
Date 2012 2012
BEIE ERREE FEREE
Mr. Ong Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Thiam Kin  Chuandong
HITES Executive Directors
BEZEE (RZT—ZFA—HEHE) Mr. Ma Guoan (resigned on 1st June, 2012) X =
FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong X 4
LEfEEE (R ——EXA—BREF) Mr. Shi Shanbo (appointed on 1st June, 2012) = v
ERBESE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin ) J
FHTES Non-executive Directors
HXREE Mr. Du Wenmin X X
PO Mr. Wei Bin X X
HEFELE (RZE——F A BEEME) Mr. Huang Daoguo (appointed on 1st June, 2012) = X
BREXE (RZT—ZF-A—HEZHE) Mr. Chen Ying (appointed on 1st June, 2012) = v
BAFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
"mEBLE Mr. Wong Tak Shing v J
EEELE (RZT—ZF+=A=1+/\BEME)  Mr. Luk Chi Cheong v J
(resigned on 28th December, 2012)
Falz+ Ms. Yu Jian J J

MEESLE (RZTE—ZF+ZA=Z+N\BEZE)

RPEEE (R-E——F+-A-+NBEZE)

Mr. Yu Hon To, David

(appointed on 28th December, 2012)
Mr. Qin Chaokui

(appointed on 28th December, 2012)

EEEI
RAFBAMAEEE2EFERERERIAR
= & EH A O HMBAREE - BUHRESN
BEEHEEBE LT AR ERNETE AR
BFHES - BELHRAUREMEREER
ERMERNAEENTSRHETES - U
BERAEFUEMESHREERFEXE AN
E e

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional

development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each

newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory

and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant

updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and

other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the

Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on

good corporate governance.
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During the year, all the Directors, other than Mr. Yu Hon To, David and
Mr. Qin Chaokui who were only appointed on 28th December, 2012 as
Independent Non-executive Directors, have participated in the relevant
professional training, attended relevant briefings and gave talks which
covering the Company’s business and the statutory and regulatory
updates. The Company has received the records of the training from
the respective Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND THE GENERAL MANAGER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is Mr.
Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Shanbo is the General Manager. The
Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate, together
with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives of the
Company whilst the General Manager carries out the decisions made by
the Board and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise, as
at the date of this annual report, there are five Committees namely, the
Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees under the Board, with each performing different functions.

Audit Committee

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Huang Daoguo, a Non-executive Director of the
Company was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company in place of Mr. Du Wenmin.

On 28th December, 2012, Mr. Yu Hon To, David, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, was appointed as Chairman of the
Audit Committee of the Company in place of Mr. Luk Chi Cheong.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises of
two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David
(Chairman) and Mr. Wong Tak Shing and one Non-executive Director
namely Mr. Huang Daoguo. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as internal
audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

o responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditor and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of
external auditor;
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review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and half-
year reports and accounts; and

. review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls and risk
management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been uploaded to
the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year 2012 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements and results
announcement for 2011, and those for the half-yearly results and yearly
results for 2012. These include the review of the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices; the review of the ongoing connected
transactions of the Company conducted in 2011 and 2012; and the
review of the internal audit reports prepared by the Company’s Internal
Audit Division.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during 2012. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Ed3 K&
Chairman Members
BETE%E MEELE ESBRE HXREE BEELLE
Mr. Luk Mr. Yu Mr. Wong Mr. Du Mr. Huang
Chi Cheong Hon To, David Tak Shing Wenmin Daoguo
(R=%-=% (R=Z-=% (R=%-=% (R=%-Z%
TZAZtN\B®E) TZA=tNREZEE) ~A-B#E) ~A-REZA)

(resigned on

(appointed on (resigned on (appointed on

=h::] Date 28th December, 2012) 28th December, 2012) 1st June, 2012) 1st June, 2012)
“Z--%=AAA  9th March, 2012 J - J . B
ZE-ZENAZTH  20th August, 2012 J - N . B

FHEER

FTNEEeNEIEREAET RRTHITE
$&%mﬁiA§m S AR FIBR - BAE
BARNIELLETE - ﬁ@%iﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁ
BEtE - LREBTESRSRERAEN
ADBERFEHE -

Remuneration Committee

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive

Director and senior management.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Du Wenmin, a Non-executive Director of
the Company, was appointed as the member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company in place of Mr. Ong Thiam Kin.

On 28th December 2012, Mr. Yu Hon To, David, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, was appointed as the member of the
Remuneration Committee in place of Mr. Luk Chi Cheong.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong
Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Hon To, David and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin.

During 2012, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the existing
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and the Incentive
Award Scheme adopted by the Company on 1st December, 2008 and
amended on 16th March, 2010. It has also reviewed and approved
cash awards under the Company’s Incentive Award Scheme on 30th
October, 2012.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during 2012. Details
of individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Ed:3 HE
Chairman Members
BEBAE EEELE TRREE EXR%E MEERE
Mr.Wong  Mr. Luk Chi Cheong Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Mr. DuWenmin ~ Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Tak Shing (R=%-=% (R=B-=% (R=%-=% (R=%-=F
TZBZTNEEE) AA—B#E) ~A-BEZfR) tZA-TN\REZHE)
(resigned on (resigned on (appointed on (appointed on

AE Date 28th December, 2012) 1st June, 2012) 1st June, 2012) 28th December, 2012)

v = v =

“Z-—%+F=+H 30th October, 2012 J
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For the year ended 31 December 2012, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management by band is set out below:

AE
HENEE (BoT) Remuneration band (HKS$) Number of persons
1,000,001 7C 21,500,000/ 7T 1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1
2,000,001/ £2,500,000/8 7T 2,000,001 to 2,500,000 1
3,500,001 7C £4,000,000/8 7T 3,500,001 to 4,000,000 1
4,000,001/ 7C24,500,000/%8 7T 4,000,001 to 4,500,000 1
4,500,001 7T 2=5,000,000/5 7T 4,500,001 to 5,000,000 1
5,500,001 C%6,000,000/5 7T 5,500,001 to 6,000,000 2
7,000,001 C£7,500,000/8 7T 7,000,001 to 7,500,000 1
7,500,0017% 7T £8,000,000/8 7T 7,500,001 to 8,000,000 1
8,000,001/% 728,500,000/ 7T 8,000,001 to 8,500,000 1
9,500,0017%7C%10,000,000/5 7T 9,500,001 to 10,000,000 1
11,000,00178 .2 11,500,000/8 7T 11,000,001 to 11,500,000 1
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Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Wang Chuandong, the Chairman and Executive
Director of the Company, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee in place of Mr. Ma Guoan.

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Shi Shanbo, an Executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as the member of the Nomination Committee.

On 23rd November, 2012, Ms. Yu Jian, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, was appointed as the additional member of
the Nomination Committee.
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On 28th December, 2012, Mr. Luk Chi Cheong, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, resigned as the member and Mr.
Qin Chaokui, an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company,
was appointed as the member of the Nomination Committee.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of two Executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman) and
Mr. Shi Shanbo and three Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Wong Tak Shing, Ms. Yu Jian and Mr. Qin Chaokui.

The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. Any committee
member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for discussion
and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the Board
will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors thus
selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in the
next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2012, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during 2012. Details
of individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

iE A&
Chairman Members
FER%E IERRE REfLE ERBRE EHELE Tz Fa854
Mr. Wang Mr. Shi Shanbo Mr. Wong Mr. Luk

Mr. Ma Guoan Chuandong Tak Shing Chi Cheong Ms. Yu Jian Mr. Qin Chaokui
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The Nomination Committee also passed 1 resolution by all members
of the Nomination Committee on 28th December, 2012 to review and
approve the proposal regarding the change of Independent Non-
executive Directors.
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Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$3 million
to US$8 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Wei Bin, a Non-executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as the Chairman of the Investment Committee
to fill the vacancy arising from the resignation of Mr. Wang Chuandong
as the Chairman of the Investment Committee.

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Wang Chuandong, the Chairman and Executive
Director and Mr. Chen Ying, a Non-executive Director of the Company,
were appointed as members of the Investment Committee of the
Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of one Executive Director namely Mr. Wang Chuandong, two Non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Wei Bin and Mr. Chen Ying, and one
Independent Non-executive Director namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing. Mr.
Wei Bin is the Chairman of the Investment Committee.

During 2012, the Investment Committee passed 11 written resolutions
by all members of the Investment Committee on 9th January, 2012, 16th
January, 2012, 7th March, 2012, 5th April, 2012, 20th April, 2012, 16th
May, 2012, 3rd August, 2012, 20th September, 2012, 18th October,
2012, 14th November, 2012 and 10th December, 2012 respectively to
review and approve 18 investment proposals.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

On 1st June, 2012, Mr. Shi Shanbo, an Executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as the member of the Corporate Governance
Committee in place of Mr. Wang Chuandong.

On 28th December, 2012, Mr. Qin Chaokui, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, was appointed as the member of
the Corporate Governance Committee in place of Mr. Luk Chi Cheong.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two Executive Directors namely Ms. Yu Jian (Chairman), Mr. Wong
Tak Shing, Mr. Qin Chaokui, Mr. Shi Shanbo and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin
respectively.

No meeting was held by the Corporate Governance Committee in 2012.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective
internal control system.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control covering
all material controls, including financial control, operational control,
compliance control and risk management system.

The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the Company’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions, and their training programmes
and budget.
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The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit Committee to review the
effectiveness of such internal control system in operation. The Division
regularly carries out internal audit and other related audit reviews and
reports its findings and suggestions for improvement on better internal
controls to the Audit Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit Committee for consideration and would form the basis for further
improvement in the future.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 101 to 102.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration for services provided during
the year to the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E—_—F

2012

FET

FriR RS Services rendered HK$°000
Eit AR Audit services 5,500
BT IRTS - PHAZEARER Non-audit services for: Interim results review 550
B ER : Tax compliance 23
CBITRERR - Issuance of senior notes 1,000

At Total 7,073
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-05, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general

meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any
number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requsitionists may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists;
and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six
weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the case of
any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date six
weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to Bye-law 113 of the Bye-Law of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the
maximum number of Directors determined by the members in general
meeting.

Pursuant to Bye-law 115 of the Bye-Law of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The details procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

Enquiries put to the Board

Shareholders can address their query in relation to any publicly
information of the Company by the following channels:

By Post:  Room 1901-05, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

By fax: (852) 2598 8228

By email: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are set out in Note
45 and Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2012 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
pages 103 to 104.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

In January and February 2012, 71,741,153 new shares were issued
to H share shareholders of Zhengzhou Gas in relation to a voluntary
conditional offer made for all the issued shares of Zhengzhou Gas.
160,000,000 new shares were issued in November 2012 as a source of
fund for acquisition of more downstream city gas distribution business.
Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 33 and Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively. No share option was
granted or exercised during the year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 107 to 108
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2012, amounted to HK$8,379,970,000.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 14 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend
of 2 HK cents per share paid in October 2012, total distribution for 2012
would thus be 16 HK cents per share (2011: 12 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 14th June, 2013
to shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 6th
June, 2013.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 27th May,
2013 to 31st May, 2013, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 31st May, 2013, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 24th May, 2013.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 6th June, 2013 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed on Thursday, 6th
June, 2013, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 5th June, 2013.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 dividend into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,010,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the shareholders’ equity of the Group was HK$11,704,273.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND
ACQUISITIONS

Privatisation and withdrawal of listing of the H shares of Zhengzhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (“Zhengzhou Gas”) and a voluntary
conditional offer made for all the issued shares of Zhengzhou Gas

On 10th October, 2011, the board of directors of the Company notified
Zhengzhou Gas that it was considering to place before the shareholders
of Zhengzhou Gas a proposal which, if implemented, would result in the
delisting of H shares of Zhengzhou Gas from the Stock Exchange and a
voluntary conditional offer made for all the issued shares of Zhengzhou
Gas, other than those owned by the Company and members of its group.

The Company subsequently made the offer on 23rd November, 2011
in compliance with the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers
(“Takeovers Code”) on the following basis:

For the H share offer — 1.5 new shares of the Company for each H share
held as share consideration rounded down to the nearest whole share
or cash of HK$14.73 for every H share held; and

For the Domestic share offer — cash of RMB12.02 for every Domestic
share held, being RMB equivalent of HK$14.73 based on the exchange
rate.

On 9th January, 2012, the Company and Zhengzhou Gas jointly
announced that the special resolutions to approve the withdrawal
of listing of the H shares were duly passed by way of poll at the H
shares class meeting and the extraordinary general meeting. The valid
acceptances have been received in respect of 22,647,000 H shares
and 25,380,333 Domestic shares, representing 94.41% and 95.00% of
the total number of the votes respectively. In addition, Zhengzhou Gas
also announced that the special resolution to approve amendments to
the articles of association was duly passed by way of poll at the EGM.
The valid acceptances have been received in respect of 96,159,333
Domestic shares, representing 98.63% of the total number of the votes.
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On 6th February, 2012, the Company and Zhengzhou Gas jointly
announced that valid acceptances under the offers had been received
in respect of 100,000 Domestic shares (representing approximately
0.14% of the total issued Domestic shares) and 47,969,222 H shares
(representing approximately 87.11% of the total issued H shares),
among which, cash consideration is applicable to 100,000 Domestic
shares and 1,083,786 H shares and share consideration is applicable
to 46,885,436 H shares initially. The closing date of the offers was
originally set on 6th February, 2012, in order to provide more time for
independent Zhengzhou Gas shareholders who have not accepted the
offers to tender valid acceptance forms, the Company decided to extend
the closing date of the offers to 20th February, 2012.

On 13th February, 2012, the boards of the Company and Zhengzhou Gas
jointly announced that listing of the H shares would be withdrawn from
the Stock Exchange with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 14th February, 2012.

On 20th February, 2012, the Company and Zhengzhou Gas jointly
announced that the offers had closed. The valid acceptances under
the offers had been received in respect of 100,000 Domestic shares
(representing 0.14% of the total issued Domestic shares) and 48,978,667
H shares (representing approximately 88.95% of the total issued H
shares). Cash consideration is applicable to 100,000 Domestic shares
and 1,151,231 H shares and share consideration is applicable to
47,827,436 H shares.
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Acquisition of AElI China Gas Limited

On 15th May, 2012, Thousand Victory Investments Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with AEI Asia Ltd., to acquire the entire issued share capital
of AEI China Gas Limited for a consideration of US$237.72 million, which
will be paid upon fulfilment of certain conditions.

AEI China Gas Limited and its group members are principally engaged
in the operation of 28 city gas distribution businesses, 8 gas stations
and 4 mid-stream gas transmission pipelines in 11 provinces in the
PRC. Its gas sales volume for 2011 was 350 million cubic meters. Some
85% of the gas sales volume of these projects are made to industrial
and commercial customers of higher margins and will make significant
contribution to the Group upon completion.

The acquisition was completed after the fulfillment of certain condition
precedents and payment of the purchase consideration on 3rd July,
2012.

Acquisition of Shanghai Baoshan China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.

In June 2012, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in /82 1L1%EH
MRAM AR (translated as Shanghai Baoshan China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd), which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of
gas pipelines, from an independent third party for a cash consideration
of approximately RMB111,167,000 (equivalent to HK$136,735,000).
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Acquisition of Fifth & Final Batch of City Gas Projects from CRH

On 23rd August, 2012, for a consideration of HK$2,415 million,
the Company announced the acquisition of a batch of 16 projects
(comprising 15 city gas projects and one mid-stream gas transmission
pipeline project) from Powerfaith Enterprises Limited (“Powerfaith”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of its controlling shareholder, CRH. This was
the fifth and final batch of city gas projects acquired from CRH since the
last four batches in 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011. The portfolio includes
city gas distribution projects in provincial capitals in Fujian Province and
Jiangxi Province, namely Fuzhou City and Nanchang City.

Fuzhou City, the capital of Fujian Province, is an important economic
center of the Minjiang River Delta in the south eastern coastal region of
China with modern sea, air and rail linkages. Covering an area of 12,177
square km, it comprises of 5 Central Districts, 6 Counties, 2 County-level
Cities and 1 Economic Development Zone. Fuzhou City has a population
of 7.2 million in 2011. Its GDP for 2011 was RMB373.5 billion with growth
rate of 13%. Its per capita GDP of RMB52,100 is more than 50% higher
than the national average of RMB34,300.

The GDP of Fuzhou City is mainly driven by industry and coal is used
as the primary source of energy to fuel these industrial activities. The
estimated amount of coal consumed per annum is 9 million tons which
is equivalent to 4 billion cubic meters of natural gas. This offers a
tremendous amount of room for natural gas to replace coal once more
natural gas are available. LNG supply from CNOOC’s LNG terminal in
Putian, Fujian Province, just started to supply Fuzhou City in 2010. The
initial capacity of this LNG terminal is 2.6 million metric ton per annum
or equivalent to about 3.6 billion cubic meter of natural gas. There is a
plan by CNOOC to double this LNG capacity in the near future. China
National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”) has also started constructing
the 3 billion cubic meter capacity West-East Phase 3 pipeline, bringing
natural gas from Central Asia to southern and eastern coastal regions
of China. This pipeline is expected to reach Fujian Province by 2015.
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The gas penetration rate of less than 5% in Fujian Province ranks among
the lowest in China as natural gas only arrived here recently, which offers
a tremendous amount of room for growth. The current annual gas sales
volume of Fuzhou project is 200 million cubic meters of which 82% are
sold to industrial, commercial and CNG users. This gas sales volume
is expected to increase very substantially by 2015 in tandem with the
increase in upstream natural gas supply. The initial rapid increase is
fueled by the replacement of coal by natural gas and the increase will
subsequently be sustained by the double digit economic growth and
continuing urbanization of Fuzhou City. This will enable the Fuzhou
project to rank among the Company’s top 10 city gas projects by 2015
and contribute significantly to the Company’s revenue and profit.

The acquisition adds to the Company’s existing footprint in Fujian
Province and create further cluster synergy with Xiamen city gas project
in terms of LNG procurement, pipeline design & construction and
management efficiency.

Nanchang City, the capital of Jiangxi Province, is an important logistics
hub situated in the center of the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta
and the south eastern Min/Fujian economic region. It has extensive
rail, road and air infrastructures linking it with the entire China. Beijing-
Kowloon Railway and Shanghai-Kunming Railway run through the
city and it is also connected by the High-speed Railway to Shanghai,
Hangzhou and Changsha. Beijing-Zhuhai, Shanghai-Kunming and
Fuzhou-Lanzhou national trunk roads also connect Nanchang City to
most of China.

Covering an area of 7,402 square km, it comprises of 5 Central Districts,
4 Counties, 2 County-level Cities and 2 National Level Economic
Development Zones. Nanchang City has a population of 5.05 million
in 2011 and its GDP for 2011 was RMB268.9 billion with growth rate of
13%. Its per capita GDP of RMB53,200 is more than 50% higher than
the national average of RMB34,300.
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Like Fuzhou, the GDP of Nanchang City is also mainly driven by industry
and coal is used as the primary source of energy to fuel these industrial
activities. The estimated amount of coal consumed per annum is 4.2
million tons which is equivalent to 1.9 billion cubic meter of natural gas.
Natural gas supply from Sinopec’s Sichuan-East pipeline just started to
supply Nanchang City in 2010. The city has also begun to receive gas
supply in 2012 from CNPC’s West-East Phase 2 pipeline, which brings
natural gas from Central Asia to eastern coastal regions of China.

The gas penetration rate of 5% in Jiangxi Province ranks among the
lowest in China as natural gas only arrived recently, which offers a lot
of scope for growth. The current annual gas sales volume of Nanchang
project is 130 million cubic meters of which industrial and commercial
users accounts for 61%. This gas sales volume is expected to increase
significantly by 2015 in tandem with the increase in natural gas supply.
The initial rapid increase is fueled by the replacement of coal by natural
gas and the increase will subsequently be sustained by the continuing
double digit economic growth of Nanchang City. As a provincial city
gas project, it will contribute significantly to the Company’s revenue
and profit by 2015.

The acquisition adds to the Company’s existing footprint in Jiangxi
Province and create further cluster synergy with city gas projects in
Jingdezhen and Yingtan in terms of centralized procurement, pipeline
design & construction and management efficiency.

Also included in the projects acquired are 6 projects located in
prefecture-level cities with sizeable GDP and double digit growth
rates. All the above gas projects acquired are relatively new to pipe
natural gas thus offers a tremendous room to growth at a very high
rate in the near future. Their aggregate gas sales volume is expected
to grow in tandem with the overall growth in gas supply in China which
is projected to more than double to 260 billion cubic meter by 2015. In
addition, cluster synergy with the Company’s existing city gas projects
will be further enhanced to fuel further operational scale and resulting
economic efficiency.

Independent shareholders’ approval and the fulfillment of all necessary
conditions were obtained on 16th October, 2012. The consideration
was funded fully by a shareholder’s loan repayable within 6 months of
completion of acquisition with interest at normal commercial rate agreed

between the Company and CRH.
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Establishment of a joint venture company in Tianjin

On 2nd November, 2011, the Company, through China Resources Gas
(Hong Kong) Investment Limited (“China Resources Gas”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Joint Venture
Contract, the Supplemental Agreement and the Articles of Association
with XZTRREEGR A A (translated as Tianjin Gas group company
Limited) in relation to the proposed establishment of the joint venture
company. The joint venture company will principally engage in, among
other things, the investment, construction and operation of city gas
pipelines, the sale and distribution of gas, the provision of gas related
equipment, apparatus and ancillary services, as well as gas facilities
repair and maintenance in Tianjin Municipality of the PRC.

On 6th November, 2012, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC has
approved the establishment of the joint venture company. The total
investment and registered capital are, respectively, RMB6 billion and
RMBS5 billion.

On 12th December, 2012, the joint venture company was incorporated
and an amount of RMB2.45 billion was paid by China Resources Gas
to the joint venture company on 14th January, 2013 for its share of 49%
interest in the joint venture.

Establishment of a joint venture company in Panzhihua

In February 2012, the Company, through FEEEFILE(PE)EGRAF
(translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a joint
venture contract with Z4H£EEHR A7) (translated as Pangang Group
Company Limited) in relation to the establishment of a joint venture
company, which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of
gas pipelines. The registered capital is RMB100 million, of which 80%
(equivalent to RMB80 million) would be contributed in cash by China
Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited.
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Establishment of a joint venture company in Changzhi

In May 2012, the Company, through FEBEMRKRE(FH)ERRQF
(translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited),
entered into a joint venture contract with KATMEE TEEELEER
‘A7) (translated as Changzhi City State-Owned Assets Management
Company Limited) in relation to the establishment of a joint venture
company, which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection
of gas pipelines. The registered capital is RMB300.19 million, of which
55% (approximately RMB165 million) would be contributed in cash by
China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited.

Establishment of a joint venture company in Puyang
In June 2012, the Company, through ZEERARILE(FE)ER A A
(translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited),

entered into a joint venture contract with BT AXART A
as Puyang City Gas Company) in relation to the establishment of a

7] (translated

joint venture company, which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines. The registered capital is RMB185 million,
of which 80% (equivalent to RMB148 million) would be contributed in
cash by China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited.

Establishment of a joint venture company in Panjin

In July 2012, the Company, through ZFEMEMRRKRE(FH)ERDQF
(translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited),
entered into a joint venture contract with M XARARAF] (translated
as Panjin City Gas Corporation) in relation to the establishment of a
joint venture company, which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines. The registered capital is RMB150 million,
of which 95% (equivalent to RMB142.50 million) would be contributed in
cash by China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited.

Establishment of a joint venture company in Handan

In August 2012, the Company, through ZEERRILE(FR)ERA A
(translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited),
entered into a joint venture contract with HSEBT A AR (translated
as Handan City Gas Company) in relation to the establishment of a
joint venture company, which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines. The registered capital is RMB360 million,
of which 71% (equivalent to RMB255.60 million) would be contributed in
cash by China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited.
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Establishment of a wholly-owned subsidiary in Pingtan

In September 2012, the Company, through ¥ EMFIRE (FE)EREAQ
Al (translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited)
established a wholly-owned subsidiary in Pingtan namely B Z BIA R
BBR/AF] (translated as Pingtan China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.), which
is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines.
The registered capital is RMB100 million.

Establishment of a joint venture company in Wugang

In October 2012, the Company, through F BRI E (FE)ER AT
(translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited), entered
into a joint venture contract with Rifl&EEEFE QA (translated as
Wugang Logistics Group Real Estate Company) (a subsidiary of &
EIME(E@) AR (translated as Wuhan Iron and Steel (Group) Corp.)
in relation to the establishment of a joint venture company, which is
engaged in sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines.
The registered capital is RMB300 million, of which 50% (equivalent to
RMB150 million) would be contributed in cash by China Resources Gas
Investment (China) Limited.

Establishment of a joint venture company in Zaozhuang

In November 2012, the Company, through ZEBEREIZE(FENER A
Al (translated as China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited),
entered into a joint venture contract with B TAAAE A A (translated
as Zaozhuang City Gas Corporation) in relation to the establishment of
a joint venture company, which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines. The registered capital is RMB150 million, of
which 70% (equivalent to RMB105 million) would be contributed in cash
by China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited.

Other acquisitions are stated in Note 36 and Note 37 of the consolidated
financial statements.
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GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2012 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 229 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
15 and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 20 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2012, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for were less than
30% of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2012, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for were approximately
91% of the Group’s total purchases, out of which 63% was attributable
to the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ma Guoan (resigned on 1st June, 2012)
Mr. Wang Chuandong

Mr. Shi Shanbo (appointed on 1st June, 2012)
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Wei Bin

Mr. Huang Daoguo (appointed on 1st June, 2012)
Mr. Chen Ying (appointed on 1st June, 2012)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing

Mr. Luk Chi Cheong (resigned on 28th December, 2012)
Ms. Yu Jian

Mr. Yu Hon To, David (appointed on 28th December, 2012)
Mr. Qin Chaokui (appointed on 28th December, 2012)
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The Company has received an annual confirmation from each Independent
Non-executive Director with each confirming his independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers such
Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Shi Shanbo,
Mr. Huang Daoguo, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr.
Qin Chaokui shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and shall be eligible for re-election; pursuant to bye-law 110(A),
Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, Mr. Du Wenmin and Ms. Yu
Jian shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and shall be eligible for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (to which the Company or its
subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow subsidiary was a party)
subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a Director of
the Company is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.
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EEMLRSES
BRTIXEZEEIN RZE—=F+=A
=t+—8B  AABDEFERITREHRAR
Al HEMAEEE (ERRBLHARAEG
Bl ([EH KSR EXVED) B H
AR M IESP - BEEBIREFESF L
EEPIEXVHBETRED EBEME AR AR
BRI =S A R (RIEREHEFRAE
WOl A BB 1ES R BiEA M &%
B)  SREES RS KO F352158 AR
AZIEFTIEE R MRS AR - SRR L
MBEITAERETEF XS HIZESTRZAL
EARRA R R FTHEESORE

(a) REQRFAECRITEERNER

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2012, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had

any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

PRz

BEEI

HARKE BRHEE Aggregate

EENE g4 Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Directors Capacity position shares of interest’

FTEREE ERfEAA R 330,000 0.0148%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Beneficial owner Long position

AEBEE EREEA 552} 50,000 0.0022%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Beneficial owner Long position

EARIREE ERBEAA R 100,000 0.0045%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Beneficial owner Long position

XX R EE BEamEa A e 54,000 0.0024%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position

miSEE BaEEAA e 80,000 0.0036%

Mr. Wong Tak Shing

Wi

-y

EAR-E——4+-A=t+—HF
BAAREBRGABBERATS
BEBTRANE S

Beneficial owner

Long position

Note:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares to the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st
December, 2012.
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(b) RAELQAFEB EZEEHAUAEERAT (b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
(TZ£A/l ERTEBRREBERGH China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”), an associated
% corporation of the Company

=10
THEE
BRME  Exercise Frib s
A" price BETHD?
HRHRE RHEE Number  per share RHEAH  Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of share (&) Date of percentage

Name of Directors position of shares options'’ (HK$) grant of interest?

FEREE He 450,000 150,000° 10.35 04/10/2004 0.0250%

Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

HXREE HE 100,000 - - - 0.0042%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

st Notes:

1. ULIEERIBIRET 2IATY R &VABREAR 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRE covered by its
mHE - share option schemes.

2. WARZZT——F+-A=+—HFR 2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
FERIE B RARBG IR G shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share capital
FR2HEBRITRANEDLL - of CRE as at 31st December, 2012.

3. ERETR-_ZTENF+ANBREC 3.  The exercisable period during which the share options may be
T—NFE+A=BEETUITE - exercised is from 4th October, 2004 to 3rd October, 2014.

4. EXFBRBENFERERBEEUE 4. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
=HBAFHER - capacity as beneficial owner.

5. EREBAT REMRTHERE 5. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share

/8% (1.00 7T © options granted.
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(c) RALAMBEIEEBHEHBRALT
(T#EHER]) ERTEBREABR
7 RS

(c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated
corporation of the Company

=304
TEE
B IR (Bx) Frib s
A Exercise wEES
HFRRKRE RHEHE Number price FHEAY  Aggregate
EEHE Long or short Number of share  per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options (HKS$) grant of interest’
AEEEE oA 140,000 - - - 0.0024%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position
HXREE e 840,000 = = - 0.0144%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
PR I& 5 4 HE 500,000 - - = 0.0086%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position

GEX

1. WAR-Z——#+-_A=+—HR
FEBEM L BERREERNTER
BLHEHEHRPERITRANES
te -

2. EXMEENMERSEHESUE
SHBAHNEE -

Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued share capital
of CRL as at 31st December, 2012.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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(d) REQAFREBLIEEFEIERER (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
AF ((EPEL]) ERTZTERKIE China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),
ARG S an associated corporation of the Company

K
TR
AR (&) Frik =
A" Exercise BEED?
HFREKE BHEE Number price HHEAH  Aggregate

EENS Long or short Number of share per share Date of percentage

Name of Directors position of shares options’ (HK$) grant of interest?

EEREE oy - 101,800¢ 2.75  06/10/2003 0.0021%

Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

AEBEAE FE 500,000 - - 0.0105%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position
MHXREE S~ 480,240 - - - 0.0101%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

BEE Notes:

1. ULIEEEE HERE S ROE 1. This refers to the number of underlying shares of CRP covered by its
ARHEE - share option scheme.

2. WAR-ZE——F+-A=+—80FF 2. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
REBENEBERREERKRO TR shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued share capital
BHEHEN2MEBRTREANA D of CRP as at 31st December, 2012,
tE e

3. HERERSAREAH HRBE=TZTN 3. The share options are exercisable in 5 tranches, from 6th October,
F_RERF —FTREFEF 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 to 5th October, 2013.
THFRZTTNFT+ARBRE=
T—=F+AAB LT UAITE -

4. FXRENZIHERBAEEAER 4. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
BEAFTDES - capacity as beneficial owner.

5. TEXREBERT  REMNERTHERE 5. In each case, HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the share

/A (11.00/8 7T © options granted.
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RAQBDHEBEEEBHKKEZRER
~E (TFERXKE] ERTEBRRME
BRGNS

(e)

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an
associated corporation of the Company

=0
THEE
B IR (Bx) FrikfEs=
S ¢E| Exercise BEAIL
HRRRE RHHE Number price BRHAY  Aggregate
EEHE Long or short Number of share  per share Date of percentage
Name of Directors position of shares options (HKS$) grant of interest’
AEELEE HaE 280,000 - - - 0.0043%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position
EARREE HE 300,000 - - = 0.0046%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Long position
PR IE S a5) 230,000 - - = 0.0035%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
Bt Notes:
1. WARZZ——F+=ZA=+—H0FF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FERKORE BT R BERIEFEEK
REMDETRANE DL -

2. LXWENRAESEAERNES
BAEANFNFE

RBstE

1.

BREE

RZEZE—F+—AZ+NARAMB
BRETEE T RELEENT TR
EE2REZORNAER UK
EEEHEE - 2HERESS 2R
RERAEBEAK B R RINERE
F(REMNERZEAAREFTE) NE
8 AEEFMKEABMNE[EER
FEER LN EETINTA2ERE
AR AEBTAKE A RME[
ISR - EBRY  BEMEAME
B (SREMEHEZTE) OEATHRA
BES : AEETMKE AT
MEZRE : ARAEFREBZRE
MEIMBEAL : AREARARETBMR
EHTAEEXZSEERENNE
DAL RRNIMES -

shares of CR Cement to the total issued share capital of CR Cement
as at 31st December, 2012.

2. All interest disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

1.

Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme adopted on 26th
November, 2001 is to promote dedication by its participants and
to encourage its participants to perform their best in achieving
the goals of the Group. The participants are any Director (or any
persons proposed to be appointed as such) and employee of each
member of the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employee or Director of each member of
the Group; any executive or employee of any business consultant,
business partner, professional and other advisers to each member
of the Group (or any persons proposed to be appointed as such);
any substantial shareholder of each member of the Group; any
associates of Director or substantial shareholder of the Company;
and any employee of the Company’s substantial shareholder or
any employee of such substantial shareholder’s subsidiaries or
associated companies, as absolutely determined by the Board.
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The scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme was
refreshed and renewed by ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 25th April,
2005 which enabled the grant of further share options to subscribe
up to 265,591,407 shares representing 10% of the shares in issue
as at the said date.

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue pursuant to the Share Option Scheme was
2,000, representing less than 0.01% of the issued share capital
of the Company. The maximum entitlement for any one participant
is that the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option is
granted. There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised. HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance
of the option within 28 days from its date of grant. The subscription
price is the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
(i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant and
(iii) the nominal value of a share. As the Share Option Scheme has
been terminated in 2008, no more option can be issued pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme share remain in force.

(a) Directors’ right to acquire shares

None of the Directors has any interests in the share options
of the Company as at 31st December, 2012.
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(b) EERAMZHEEEERDZE (b) Employees and other participants’ right to acquire shares

T

FR - IREBEFERETEEHEE A summary of the movements of the share options in relation to

ZRRR R H M B A A AR E R the employees of substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries

AEE (TREAEEESMA and associated companies (other than employees of the

NEIES) WEREZH M Group and Directors of the Company) under the New Share

N Option Scheme during the year is as follows:

BREAE
Number of share options

R=B-—=F

R=B-—=F +=A

BRITEE —A—H Er=[E

(&) i RATEE i i » i i RAT

Exercise Outstanding FREFH FRITE FREEH FR%M Outstanding

price as at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at 31st

BEBEH per share 1st January, during during during during  December,

Date of grant (HK$) 2012 the year the year the year the year 2012

“EE-FAAHF" 8.200 186,000 - - - (186,000) -
09/04/2002'

—ETNF—-—F+=R2 9.060 2,000 - - - - 2,000
13/01/20042

188,000 - - - - 2,000

B3 Notes:

1. BREENEREE 7% 1. The share options are either vested immediately and exercisable

TFENANARE=Z—= from 9th April, 2002 to 8th April, 2012 or vested in 4 tranches
FmMANBEEE T AT and exercisable on 9th April, 2002, 1st January, 2003, 2004 and
RAMMEE TEH-TT— 2005 to 8th April, 2012.
FMANE ZTT=F . =
TEMFR-PEEE A
HEZ_Z—_FWNA/N\HIE
BARE T LA TAE ©

2. HERESI=HEE =% 2. The share options are vested in 3 tranches and exercisable on
THE  ZTTERFRZZET 13th January, 2005, 2006 and 2007 to 12th January, 2014.

tFE-A+T=ARE_ZE—N
F— A+ B IEHE FIAITEE ©
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Incentive Award Scheme

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share
repurchased cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”)
in which selected employees of the Group or investee companies
(being any company in which the Company directly or indirectly
owns 5% or more attributable equity interests and in calculating
the percentage interest so attributed (the “Investee Company”),
the percentage interest held in the Investee Company shall be
multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of entity through
which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to participate
in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies
in retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless
early termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the
adoption date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares
which can be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and
to a selected employee throughout its duration are limited to 5%
and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the Company

from time to time.

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased
by the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the
Group and be held in trust for the relevant selected employees
until such shares are vested with the relevant selected employees
in accordance with the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme.
A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased at an aggregate cost
of approximately HK$253,999,000 (including transaction costs) on
7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and held by
the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any further
share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

93




94 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2012

EEEgWE
Directors’ Report

RZE—ZTF=A+H xQ81E On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
ET;%E)J#%‘J C E AR RSB A T Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded
ReMIFERBRD - KRARBSHHAL under the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the
EREBRHHOMENRIE  ZFRBRKR proceeds generated from disposal of the award shares held by
MHRZFEAFEEAREBFERE® the Trustee for the awards made under the scheme. The awards
HE o ZERBBLARRAFWNEES will be subject to the approval of the Company’s Remuneration
A RIS REERERE T RE Committee and the cash under the award will only be given upon
HERRER B SR IR EED - fulfillment of relevant vesting conditions imposed on the date of

grant of the award.

RZFE—ZF+A=+H " £FXQ On 30th October, 2012, upon the approvals of the Remuneration
AEFMEZEEH &R ARFRE Committee, the Company granted 6,893,520 award shares which
6,893,5200% BN &5 /&8 MY SE@IAR () o vested immediately. During the year, the Trustee disposed
AN ZREALEZEREBRYD  EE of these award shares which generated a net proceeds of
FIT 18 3R TEF 88112,366,470.747%8 7T & HK$112,366,470.74, and distributed these to selected employees
BZFESRTETREE (RIE=4 including 3 executive directors. Details of the movement of the
WITES) - XL AMFEBRGOE award shares held by the Trustee are as follows:
BEFEAT
REROEE
Number of

award shares

RZZETZNFNA-HEE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
R-E—ZEERERLEE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
R_E——EREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
R=E——F—F—HE&EH# Balance as at 1st January, 2012 60,440,504
R-BE——FRERHE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)

R-E——F+=-A=+—HN&EH% Balance as at 31st December, 2012 53,546,984
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

A.

Acquisition of China Resources Petrochem Gas Group Limited

On 23rd August, 2012, the Company entered into a share purchase
agreement with, amongst others, Powerfaith, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH, the substantial and controlling shareholder of
the Company, to acquire the entire issued share capital of China
Resources Petrochem Gas Group Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH with 16 projects (comprising of 15 city gas
projects and one mid-stream gas transmission pipeline project),
for a consideration of HK$2,415 million. The consideration was
satisfied in full in cash of HK$2,415 million and shall be paid
within six months after the completion date. The acquisition was
a discloseable and connected transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules and completed on 18th October, 2012 upon
obtaining necessary shareholders’ approval and the fulfillment of
all necessary conditions.
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Ongoing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into ongoing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which
are subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.46 of the
Listing Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.38. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the ongoing connected transactions and confirmed
that the ongoing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties and on arm'’s length basis;

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them;

(iv) on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of
the shareholders as a whole; and

(v) without exceeding the relevant cap disclosed in previous
relevant announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
for the year ended 31st December, 2012.
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Details of the above-mentioned ongoing connected transactions are
summarized as follows:

ARBTT
RMB’000

BEEHE
KABZHEWMBRR A LARRARKN
BRAR (—HKRHBEXINEREER
B ARIARAREEHHERR (BER
EBERRBERGF - KREBERRBRA
A BOREHEEMRERAR - EIMNE
HRRAR AT RGHERRRERAE)
MEERR) KBERAR

BB S 11 =
REBTEERITROARAE ([FREM
P EIRTT]) (— AR RERR M KB B T R
7 FERMARAR (FEERM ) 56
HiEigEs) 7% o AR A ZERBRREH
SERBAERRMDOMERF -

FRABRRIKET BRRTEMNEMMLE
B 3P E R e R A =5 8 30 E A
BREFR RS - BRMNEDHPEAR
RITEEE °

Sale and Purchase Agreement 425,828
Purchase of natural gas by a number of subsidiaries
of the Company from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited* (LU
TRAFAKMD BRAF]), a limited liability company
established in the PRC and is the substantial
shareholder of these subsidiaries of the Company
namely, Yangquan China Resources Gas Limited,
Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd, Hongdong
China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd., Huozhou
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.* and Yangqu China
Resources Gas Co., Limited respectively.

Strategic Cooperation Agreement 138,732
Placing of deposits with Zhuhai City Commercial

Bank Co., Ltd., (“Zhuhai Commercial Bank”), a

municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, in which

China Resources Co., Limited (“CRC”) has a

controlling interest. CRH, the Company’s controlling

shareholder, is a subsidiary of CRC.

The interest on the deposits are based on the same
interest rate and on the same term and conditions
as apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of Zhuhai Commercial Bank, which rates
are determined by the Peoples’ Bank of China.

*

Name translated for reference purpose only
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director

or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2012

had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section

mEKE 336 of the SFO:
RAEQTNEE Long position in the Company
it
A
BEFKA RAHE  Aggregate
BRRERB L) BEEHE Long or Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest short position shares  of interest’
CRH (Gas) Limited EEfAA BEaHAA Ha 1,407,828,991 63.30%
(ICRH Gas] ) Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
EREE? REBI AR R NE)EE {35} 1,422,298,991 63.95%
CRH? Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited Ee i IVNGL:o)= 33 NEER e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(ICRC Bluesky] )? Controlled company's interest Corporate interest Long position
ERROHARAR ([EBRH]?  XEHRFANER NGIL: 2 e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
("CRCL")?
REEBARR ([FEEE])? LI AR R NG5 e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources National Corp. Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
JP Morgan Chase & Co 3 (\E=EEA ERBAA e 1,456,110 5.75%
Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
(iR ELE Hivgs e 98,950,000
Investment manager Other interest Long position
(REA - LB/ BRERLREA Efb#s #E 27,269,888
Custodian corporation/ Other interest Long position
approved lending agent
(V) E&=HEAA EafEBA wE 220,000 0.01%
Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Short position
MEEE - Notes:
1. AR -—TE——F+—-A=+—HF#H 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the

fefn iF B BREE AR R 2 IEBITRA

WBEDL °

total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2012.



2. CRH GaslCommotra Company
Limited % B A 48 A 7]1,407,828,991 % i
19 1214,470,000/% i 19 R #E B EHE 1A -
ZMRARREREENZENBL
Ao BEL - FHEBEWBERRAAN
1,422,298,991 /% i 17 R B 2 o
% @ /ACRC Blueskyt) 2 &M B2 A -
EMBEERNEERS - TERO A
FEEHNZEMNBAR - Bt - THE
+ CRC Bluesky * ZEH& {5 I o B2
AR VER AR A #91,422,298,991 A% % (5
hEEE R -

3. BIEEH R BEGOIEXVEBE2R35 &
REMAARBENERER BT
fiJP Morgan Chase & Co. A Tl /5=,
BAKEES - Z2F R BIP Morgan
Chase & Co. X H E#skH#ZEHE100%
EHIRE 2 EEEE
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Directors’ Report

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is therefore
deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company. CRH is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by
CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, CRH, CRC Bluesky,
CRCL and CRNC are therefore deemed to have interest in 1,422,298,991
shares of the Company.

3. According to the information disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, other than the following corporations which
were held by JP Morgan Chase & Co. in the manner described below, these
shares were held by JP Morgan Chase & Co. and corporations controlled
directly and indirectly as to 100% by it:

JP Morgan Chase & Co.
EESHERARSESL
Percentage interest

EEER (direct or indirect)
Name of Corporation held by JP Morgan Chase & Co.
J.P. Morgan Securities Plc 98.95%
China International Fund Management Co Ltd 49%

ERBRRNBEBEBNEM

FA - ARRWEET SLAEM G AB AR
e R R (R E) R AR MEINER
FEBMAL -

BE - hEFIR/EARQATN L
™ 2% 55

BAREFREEN  BE-T——F+=
A=Z+—BLLFE - ARALEEAHEL
T - & REEEARDFRLE -

BEBERE

HABREEDL EEMHEERBERZR
B MEARRF] 2N AR S R RIE
HARE -

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

During the year, the Company has not entered into any agreement
which impose any specific performance obligation on the Company’s
controlling shareholder, China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31st December, 2012.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

SIS
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PBRERE
BRIBEARBIMENARERKREEERR
Mo RAFRAFEBE  ARAFELETR
AN ARBRERT  IRBATEELRR
AIEBITIRHD T L 1R25% °
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REENPBRRCEHED HERT S
SHMITERZ - WK A A REERFEF A
BREREE  BEEY « BERT S8
TRARRZEED

REEFS
ERRRERAERAT
T

IER

& —E—=F=ZA+=H

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 228,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2012,
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
13 March 2013
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HE-T

——F+-A=t+—HLFE

R

—B—C-fF —F——f

2012 2011

FET FAET

HK$’000 HK$'000

L (&%)

NOTES (Restated)

EEE Turnover 8 19,590,613 14,208,046
HE A Cost of sales (13,571,704) (10,042,522)
EF Gross profit 6,018,909 4,165,524
A Other income 572,784 458,589
HERDHEALZ Selling and distribution expenses (1,522,478) (1,164,704)
THFAX Administrative expenses (2,058,257) (1,355,514)
3,010,958 2,103,895
BT AR Finance costs 9 (333,798) (87,687)
oy NS e Share of results of associates 125,369 119,217
Br TR A Profit before taxation 2,802,529 2,135,425
I\ Taxation 10 (767,824) (563,024)
F (A g 7 Profit for the year 11 2,034,705 1,572,401

FRHEAM2ERA Other comprehensive income
for the year
BMEEENERZHE Exchange differences arising
on translation 4,657 575,576
FEEEE AR H A2 EKA Share of other comprehensive income

of associates 332 55,028

4,989 630,604

FREEBALTE Total comprehensive income for the year 2,039,694 2,203,005
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—B—C-fF —F——f
2012 2011
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
L (&%)
NOTE (Restated)
AN AL EIEERER Profit for the year attributable to:
ZiN/NEIE=F =N Owners of the Company 1,650,964 1,176,268
FEPERR i Non-controlling interests 383,741 396,133
2,034,705 1,572,401
LATALEEEAN Total comprehensive income for
ZHEIRABEE the year attributable to:
PIN/NGIES V=N Owners of the Company 1,654,060 1,743,448
IR = Non-controlling interests 385,634 459,557
2,039,694 2,203,005
BT BT
HK$ HK$
(&%)
(Restated)
BRRZF Earnings per share 14
HR Basic 0.82 0.61

5 1 Diluted 0.82 0.61
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

)

RZE——F+=-A=+—H

—E-—fF —E——fF —E——%F
+=-BA=+—-H +=A=+—H —A—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHxT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E (&%) (&%)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)
EREEE Non-current assets
Y% - BB RF Property, plant and equipment 15 17,712,079 12,394,681 9,864,496
AR EAIE Prepaid lease payments 16 1,143,767 936,078 902,682
LEME Investment properties 17 53,681 54,519 11,647
REEE N RS Interests in associates 18 1,861,428 1,695,774 136,711
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 19 26,353 36,942 49,974
[EES Goodwill 20 1,676,018 1,216,719 969,197
L Operating rights 21 855,615 751,287 734,008
EIEFIB B & Deferred tax assets 32 191,682 124,329 133,623
KEEES Deposits for operating rights 70,728 70,741 =
FENBLHFRIER S Deposits for prepaid lease
payments 73,022 49,591 30,418
BEME  BER Deposits for property, plant and
B tisa equipment 119,342 13,144 =
LEZRS Deposits for investments 208,805 = 792,987
23,992,520 17,343,805 18,625,743
MENEE Current assets
T8 Inventories 22 747,339 464,279 319,819
EUE SRR K Trade and other receivables
o e R 23 4,366,327 3,095,084 2,065,513
EREFE 4 TENRIE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 24 838,189 696,810 446,985
AR L FRIA Prepaid lease payments 16 39,540 37,518 34,807
FEUS [R) 2 B B A B FIE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 25 33,913 23,001 69,607
EARRIR TR Pledged bank deposits 26 95,480 54,002 14,875
IRITEBR LIRS Bank balances and cash 26 12,285,555 7,123,634 7,008,840
18,406,343 11,494,328 9,960,446
REAE Current liabilities
ENE SRR Trade and other payables
H i FETER 27 6,239,457 4,472,581 4,154,798
EREFPAEHTIERE Amounts due to customers for
contract work 24 5,510,223 3,438,710 1,780,942
FEAS AR AR A R RIE Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 25 45,016 994,313 1,723,590
ERRRWNE A GRE Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries 25 2,564,673 254,303 -
BB & Government grants 28 9,545 3,599 8,505
IRITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 29 239,314 1,677,164 613,789
FERI R IR Taxation payable 319,516 209,053 162,655
14,927,744 11,049,723 8,444,279
mEEEFE Net current assets 3,478,599 444,605 1,516,167
27,471,119 17,788,410 15,141,910
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S A A e e e

—E—_—fF —T——1F —E——%F
+=ZA=+—-H +t=—A=+—H —A—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FExT FABT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
e (&%) (&%)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)
BN R ER Capital and reserves
RS Share capital 88 222,401 199,227 183,109
& Reserves 11,481,872 9,119,432 6,865,087
ARAAHEE AEERA Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 11,704,273 9,318,659 7,048,196
FEfE R = Non-controlling interests 3,099,753 2,547,404 2,190,843
14,804,026 11,866,063 9,239,039
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
BB Government grants 28 125,826 87,702 74,501
RITRAEMEE Bank and other borrowings 29 5,952,547 5,014,425 5,163,325
BERERE Senior notes 30 5,669,130 - -
HEtmRIAAE Other long-term liabilities 31 195,347 195,917 125,626
BEERIERE Deferred tax liabilities 32 724,243 624,303 539,419
12,667,093 5,922,347 5,902,871
27,471,119 17,788,410 15,141,910
F103E228E ViR B HER K HESFE The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 228 were
R-IZE—=F=ZA+=B#ERRETE approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13
THTINATRREZSEHRS - March 2013 and are signed on its behalf by:
FEH aEE
WANG CHUANDONG SHI SHANBO
o EZE

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-Z

—ZHE+ZA=t+—HILFE

ADFREARE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARREHH
#EZRY
BHEE  Shares
BE  heldfor FoRER
e ROEE AAER  EXBE EXRE Share incentive  EMEE  AHEE  REE Non-  RALE
Share Share  Contributed Capital ~ Translation option award Other Merger  Retained &3 controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus Teserve reserve reserve  scheme  reserves reserve profits Total interests equity
T Tin T T Fin T T T T T T T Firn
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
(Wita) (W) (Fizke)  (Wiza)
(Notea) ~ (Noteb) (Notec)  (Noted)
RoE——5-F-8(BL2H)  At1January 2011, as previously stated 183,109 8,388,600 - 301,819 H21m 13436 (47399) 238,188 (5042257) 1583270 5831837 2152375 7983912
AREHRROEBANYE Effect of business combinaion of enties under
(Hite) common contrl (Note 2) - - - (18003) 16512 - - 1<’} - 1207716 1216659 38468 125517
RZF--£-f-B(Ef) At 1 January 2011, as restated 183,109 8,388,600 = 283816 429,283 13436 (47399) 238622 (5042257) 2800986 7048196 2190843 9239039
ERgf Pralfit for the year - - - - - - - - - 1176268 1,176,268 396,133 1572401
REEANENZE Exchange differences arising on translation - - - - 52182 - B - - - 512182 63424 575576
EEBERALB2ERA Share of other comprehensive income of
associates = = = = 55,028 = = = = = 55,028 = 55,028
FREBZERA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 567,180 - - - - - 57180 63424 630,604
FRRERALE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 567180 - - - - 1176268 1743448 450557 2203005
FHERERTE Capital contribution from non-controling interests - - - - - - - - = = = 26,267 26,267
RASERIHEREL IR Issue of shares upon combination of entifes
(Fi3433(a)) under common control (Note 33(a)) 16,118 1914756 - - - - - - (1930874) - B - =
IWEHBAR (H:t36) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) - - - - - - - - = - = 69613 69,613
hERHBL AN b ER Acquisttion of addltonl nterest in a subsidiary - - - (508%) - - - - - - (508%)  (131081) (181919
BRERRYEROARRGE Loss of jointly control over a jintly controlled
(Hit3s) ey (Note 38) - - - - (32169) - - (1669) - usu - (46) (34652
REEEEA Avising from group reorganisation - - - - - - - - 660613 - 660613 - 600613
HERZDHE Disposal of shares held for incentive award
izpd vt scheme - - - - - - 28,101 - - 63,388 91489 - 91489
AERER Transfers between categories - (7388600) 7,388,600 - - - - 197598 - (197,5%) - - -
BRRE Dividends paid - - - - - - - - - (174249)  (174.249) - (174249
BHNRARRERRE Dividends paid to non-contraling interests of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (13,143  (13,143)
RZF--§1+A=1-R At 31 December 2011 199227 2914756 7,388,600 232978 964,298 13436 (219208) 434551 (6312518) 3702620 9318659 2547404 11866063
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ADFREARE

Attributable to owners of the Company

REEHE

BHZBR

BHEE  Shares

BE  heldfor FERER

e ROEE AABR  EXEE EXRE Share incenive  EMEE  AHEE  REE Non-  RALE
Share Share  Contributed Capital ~ Translation option award Other Merger  Retained &3 controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus Teserve reserve reserve  scheme  reserves reserve profits Total interests equity

TR TR TEn TR TEn TR TR TEn TR TEn TR TR TEn
HK$000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKFOOD  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO0O0  HKSO00  HK$000

(ita) (W) (Fiike)  (Wita)
(Notea) ~ (Noteb) (Notec)  (Noted)
FRgF Pralfit for the year - - - - - - - - - 1650964 1,650,964 383,741 2,034,705
BEEENENZE Exchange differences arising on translation - - - - 2764 - - - - - 2764 1893 4657
EEBELDLBRERA Share of other comprehensive income of
associates = = = = 332 = = = = = 332 = 332

FREBRERR Other comprehensive expense for the year - - - - 3,00 - - - - - 309 1893 4989
FRRERALE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 3,09 - - - - 1650964 1654060 385,634 2,030,694
FARERTE Capital contrioution from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - = = - 553176 583,176
BERDR (k33 Placing of shares (Note 33(c)) 16,000 2,696,000 - - - - - - - - 2712000 - 2712000
EIRHAFR Share issue expenses - (13210) - - - - - - - - (13270) - (13210)
IWEHBAR (H:tas) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) - - - - - - - - = = - 394185 304,185
WERHERANAER Acquisiion of addifonal nterest in a subsiciary 1474 781157 - (1) - - - - - - 575888 (592845)  (16.957)
HRBARAHNERT Consideration payable for acquiing subsidiaries

FEff 2R (i) under common control (Note 2) - - - - - - - - (2415000) - (2415000) - (2.415000)
HEBRDHE Disposal of shares held for incentive award

ARG scheme - - - - - - 24,968 - - 87,398 112,366 - 112,366
HERER Transfers between categories - - - - - - - 21046 - (211046 - - B
Bfifks Dividends paid = = = = = = = = - (240430)  (240430) - (20430)
BRRBAAARERRS Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of

subsidiaries = = = = = = = = = = - (fean)  (187801)

R=F-ZF1f=1-R At 31 December 2012 222401 6,378,643 7,388,600 20538 96739 13436  (194330) 705507 (8,727,518) 4929515 11704273 3,099,763 14804026
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RARAEFEDHR
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2o t-AS+-ALAR

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30 May 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve aroses from (a) discount on acquisition of jointly controlled
entities from an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the
Group in prior years; and (b) the difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”).

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.

e T e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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—E——fF —ET—F
2012 2011
FTHERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
mE K OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B A= Profit before taxation 2,802,529 2,135,425
HE Adjustments for:
B H Interest expense 333,798 87,687
2 U A Interest income (266,969) (103,376)
ERERBT B & Government grants recognised (3,586) (47,073)
BB E AR EE Share of results of associates (125,369) (119,217)
HEWE - BE & Gain on disposal of property, plant and
F AW equipment (19,093) (15,403)
HEMHESIRERN Loss (gain) on disposal of available-for-sale
(E518) Was investments 1,680 (665)
CDHEREWE RN Impairment loss recognised on trade
BIEEE receivables 5,890 2,894
EERTFERERE Impairment loss recognised on inventories - 954
BB FRIERERE Release from prepaid lease payments 27,568 23,055
AR R g Amortisation of operating rights 40,452 34,051
M - BRERBETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 717,717 527,552
REMENE Depreciation of investment properties 2,407 1,988
EBEESEEAH Operating cash flows before movements
KERSRE in working capital 3,517,024 2,527,872
FEEM Increase in inventories (222,850) (127,994)
FEWE SRR Increase in trade and other receivables
H At UK AN (555,510) (781,748)
B R F &4 TI2ZIEE A Increase in amounts due from customers
for contract work (141,509) (227,643)
ENE SRR Increase (decrease) in trade and other
Hith RERRIE A0 CRtd>) payables 1,046,350 (127,678)
ERNEEA#AITIEZIBEL I Increase in amounts due to customers for
contract work 2,072,154 1,274,116
REEREENES Cash generated from operations 5,715,659 2,536,925
BT BB EMEH PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (672,425) (524,972)
REXBRBREFAE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,043,234 2,011,953
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—E——F —E——F
2012 2011
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
B = (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
REXEK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
2 U F 8 Interest received 266,969 103,376
HEERHIEENSLER  Repayment from a joint venturer of

B a jointly controlled entity 178,657 -
LEWE - BEREE Proceeds from disposal of property,

FriSsk1E plant and equipment 92,930 183,286
2 E R RIAR S Dividend received from associates 65,010 73,507
B EEERBE Government grants received

BT related to assets 47,673 72,362
HEAHEERE Proceeds from disposal of

FriSsk1E available-for-sale investments 8,902 9,901
BB HELRIE Proceeds from disposal of prepaid

Frf5 5008 lease payments 2,256 2,354
BEYE  WENEZER Payments for acquisition of property,

(N plant and equipment (3,776,351) (1,954,041)
WeEE KT A R Acquisition of subsidiaries 36 (1,642,222) (191,942)
BESEEr -4 1) Advance to joint venturers of

HEERERR jointly controlled entities (525,746) (178,657)
KERE Deposits for investments (208,805) =
SASTER L FKIE Prepaid lease payments made (188,321) (74,822)
HEEWEMNE AT Settlement of consideration for

KRB the acquisition of subsidiaries 36 (186,343)

BEYE  KER Deposits for property, plant and

B ten equipment (119,342) (13,144)
B E R RIRIRE Investment in associates (104,963) (20,456)
KRR Payments for operating rights (85,722) (34,730)
FENBAOFIBZRE Deposits for prepaid lease payments (73,022) (49,591)
B3 3R ER 1T 17 203 0 Increase in pledged bank deposits (41,488) (32,972)
(PR RMBARER) (Advance to) repayment from fellow

KEARZHMBATIHER  subsidiaries (10,912) 97,569
BRAREMENNR Payments for investment properties (1,590) (41,315)
U B AL [R] 47 ) B Acquisition of jointly controlled entities 37 - 19,238
TRHEREEHEEN Net cash outflow from loss of joint

H R AT E A K control over a jointly controlled entity

e FE 38 - (530,484)
RIEURBE R TR 2 &) Deemed acquisition of additional

B A MER interests in a jointly controlled entity - (175,864)
REERS Deposits for operating rights - (70,741)
A SR E R Payments for available-for-sale

investments - (12,094)

RELKFARSTE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (6,302,430) (2,819,260)
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= —F——%
2012 2011
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
MEEE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BITBERBIEHRIE Proceeds from issue of senior notes 5,699,603 =
[4=540) Placing of shares 2,712,000 =
FIGIRIT R EMEE New bank and other borrowings raised 800,000 1,003,970
{)EEPNCIEE e 8 = Contribution from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries 553,176 26,267
HEABEEEEZ Proceeds from disposal of shares held
A& AP FT 1S K18 for incentive award scheme 112,366 91,489
BERTREMEE Repayments of bank and other borrowings (1,603,838) (151,687)
M) AR R I A BRI RO B 3R Repayment to an intermediate holding
company (949,297) (729,277)
BRRE Dividends paid (240,430) (174,249)
EENLEPNGIE S v 3 Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
[585) of subsidiaries (187,801) (13,143)
EELEEEF S Interest paid on senior notes (137,871) =
BRI REMEERS Interest paid on bank and other borrowings (130,708) (85,038)
(MERMEBARER) (Repayment to) advances from fellow
RKERZMBATNEFK  subsidiaries (104,630) 863,596
W hg HRE 6 E A Net cash outflow from acquisition of additional
REIME R FTEE £ B interest in a jointly controlled entity
RemHFE (35,596) =
BREEEITHA Senior notes issue costs (34,596) _
g Ny NS = ok B N Net cash outflow from acquisition of additional
FE £ MR &M HFHE interest in subsidiary (16,957) (181,919)
BITRHDFAX Share issue expenses (13,270) =
MEXEKMEREFE NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 6,422,151 650,009
RERRESESEEM NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
(R) BHE CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,162,955 (157,298)
FUEeRESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,123,634 7,008,840
SIEERSBHTE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES (1,034) 272,092
FRESRESEHE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR,
BRI 4E#H RIS representing bank balances and cash 12,285,555 7,123,634
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent
company is China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
(“CRH"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate
holding company is China Resources National Corp. (“CRNC”), a
company established in the PRC which is owned and controlled
by the PRC government. The addresses of registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information in the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi. The
Company uses Hong Kong dollars as its presentation currency
because the Company is a public company with its shares listed
on the Stock Exchange.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities
are set out in notes 45, 46 and 47, respectively.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

During the year ended 31 December, 2012, the Company
acquired from a fellow subsidiary 100% equity interests
in China Resources Petrochem Gas Group Limited (“CR
Petrochem”) on 16th October, 2012 for a cash consideration
of HK$2,415,000,000. The Group and CR Petrochem and its
subsidiaries (“CR Petrochem Group”) are engaged in sales of
liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines in the PRC.
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mBLEE (F)

R R BRI - AEBEREBAL
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REEREBAHBHPHEERIFEL
ENER mMzSREEREESES
R ag ((BEEmMAE]) B6
BB IE5 F55% [ HERZERIE 6
mevtestEl (583518551 F
e RASERREGIE S
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BE-Z——4F+-RAR=+—HL#H
EEHACRREBMKENLRE
HER (ZAREEREBALRAR
SEWEREBTAGEMBRERA)
G REBEBEE-ZT——FR-_T—
—E+ A=+ BLERAEENLS
EE2EWRARE  GReEhAiEn#
EREAHRESRERVEBEBALR
REBNCEEE BEZ2PRRL
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MR R BB AFE -

B bt KRR EEE 2 KA A o
AEECHERBE_T——F+=
A=+—B L FEMKRENEB R RN
BERBENERAFEELEBYH
B PRI A E Z TE AU B A AR
FIEN RFEHE - ERYIE - BFE
®iE BERELEHRBEEBEELE
BEE (ANHFE36FE)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Group and CR Petrochem Group are both under the control

of CRNC before and after the date of acquisition, and that
control is not transitory. The Group and CR Petrochem Group
are regarded as continuing entities as at the date of business
combinations and hence the acquisition has been accounted for
as combination of entities under common control by applying
the principles of merger accounting in accordance with
Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations” (“AG 5”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Accordingly, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows of the Group for the two years ended 31st December,
2011 and 2012 include the results of operations, changes in
equity and cash flows of CR Petrochem Group as if the current
group structure upon the completion of the group reorganisation
had been in existence throughout the two years ended 31st
December, 2011 and 2012, or since their respective dates of
incorporation or establishment where this is a shorter period,
except for the jointly controlled entity acquired by CR Petrochem
Group during the year ended 31st December, 2011 as disclosed
is Note 37, which is included in the consolidated financial
statements since it was acquired by CR Petrochem Group. The
consolidated statements of financial position of the Group as at
1st January, 2011 and 31st December, 2011 have been restated
to include the assets and liabilities of the companies comprising
CR Petrochem Group as if current group structure had been
in existence as at the respective date, except for the jointly
controlled entity acquired by CR Petrochem Group during the
year ended 31st December, 2011 as disclosed in Note 37, which
is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31st December, 2011.

Apart from the aforesaid business combination of entities
under common control, the Group has retrospectively adjusted
the provisional fair values of the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiaries acquired during the year ended 31st December,
2011 to reflect the fair value adjustments made upon completion
of the acquisition accounting during the current year.
Adjustments have been made retrospectively to property, plant
and equipment, goodwill and deferred tax liabilities as set out in
Note 36.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company
acquired from a fellow subsidiary 100% equity interests in
Wang Gao Limited (“Wang Gao”) on 5 September 2011, for a
consideration of HK$1,930,874,000 (details are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 12 August 2011). The Group and Wang
Gao and its subsidiaries (“Wang Gao Group”) are engaged in
sales of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines in the
PRC.

The Group and Wang Gao Group are both under the control of
CRNC before and after the date of acquisition, and that control is
not transitory. The Group and Wang Gao Group are regarded as
continuing entities as at the dates of business combinations and
hence in the preparation of consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011, the
acquisitions have been accounted for as combinations of entities
under common control by applying the principles of merger
accounting in accordance with AG 5 issued by the HKICPA.
The effect of those restatements arising from the business
combination of Wang Gao Group has been adjusted in the
previous consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2011.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE—Z

2. REEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a) Lttt uifri§ll“‘féﬁzi_?——¢ (a)
+_A=+—HLEELEE
WAREKHFZESFT -

The effects of those restatements described above on the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the year ended 31 December 2011 are as follow:

ERbE ERAf
HEAIM by |
EHEEN L]
¥e ¥e
Effect of the Effect of
finalisation of merger
accounting for  accounting for
ZE--%£  acquisitonof  CR Pertrochem g —E--k&
2011 subsidiaries Group Elimination 2011
T TR TiEn TiEn T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R%25) (Fi3£36) (&51)
(Previously stated) (Note 36) (Restated)
e+ Turnover 13,506,632 - 711,070 (9,656) 14,208,046
HERA Cost of sales (9,534,172) (8.947) (509,059) 9,656 (10,042,522)
ES | Gross profit 3,972,460 (8,947) 202,011 - 4,165,524
EfilA Other income 447,703 = 44,108 (33.222) 458,589
BERDERR Selling and distribution expenses (1,083,752) - (80.952) - (1,164,704)
G Administrative expenses (1,229,354) = (159,382) 33,222 (1,355,514)
2,107,057 (8,947) 5,785 - 2,103,8%
BBRA Finance costs (76,809) - (10,878) - (87,687)
A NG S Share of results of associates 117,454 - 1,763 - 119,217
BHaaH Profit before taxation 2,147,702 (8,947) (3,330) - 2,135,425
R Taxation (551,294) 2,237 (13,967) - (563,024)
FREF Profit for the year 1,596,408 (6,710) (17,297) - 1,572,401
EREpRZERA Other comprehensive income for the year
BEELNES2E Exchange differences arising on translation 554,754 9,986 10,836 - 575,576
A SN O Share of other comprehensive income
of associates 50,707 - 4321 - 55,028
605,461 9,986 15,157 - 630,604
ER2ENAGE Total comprehensive income for the year 2,201,869 3216 (2,140) - 2,203,005
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o

2. REEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
TN EEAL
g Re5E
EHEEN AfEsH
ge g8
Effect of the Effect of
finalisation of merger
accounting for  accounting for
ZE--%  acquisitonof  CR Pertrochem it —E--k&
2011 subsidiaries Group Elimination 2011
THL T TEn Thn Thn
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R%230) (fi5+36) (&5)
(Previously stated) (Note 36) (Restated)
UTALREERER : Profit for the year atiributable to:
ARAFHERA Owners of the Company 1,200,473 (6,710) (17,495) = 1,176,268
FihER Non-controlling interests 395,935 - 198 - 396,133
1,596,408 (6,710) (17.297) - 1572401
UTALEEER Total comprehensive income
2EMNGE for the year attributable to:
ARARAA Owners of the Company 1,743,901 3276 (3729) = 1,743,448
RS Non-controlling interests 457,968 - 1,589 - 459,557
2,201,869 3,276 (2,140) - 2,203,005
(b) EFLTEARWENBARMNEE (b) The effect of the finalisation of accounting for subsidiaries
BENHE_T——_F+=-A= described above on results by line items presented in the
+—HIEFENGEEZEBAR consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
RPBREEYMEENZEEHT the year ended 31 December 2012 is as follows:
W
—E—_F
2012
FTHERT
HK$’000
B EE B AN h Increase in cost of sales 12,066
RIER D Decrease in taxation (3,017)

F R AR Decrease in profit for the year 9,049
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2.

(c)

mAEE (F)
EREE BN F

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

H—BoERa IR RZE

(c)

BE-F-—#t-A=+-ALEE

The effect of those restatements described above on the

consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January

Iy 2011 is as follows:

EBAt

RREH

EHETTH

7

Effect of

merger
—Z——% accounting for -
—H—H CR Pertrochem Eisc] —B—H
1.1.201 Group Elimination 1.1.2011
T TET TET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(R5%251) (831))
(Previously (Restated)

stated)
ERBEE Non-current assets
ERN Property, plant and equipment 9,100,672 763,824 = 9,864,496
SEIREHOP0E] Prepaid lease payments 850,292 52,390 = 902,682
BEYE Investment properties 11,647 - - 11,647
NN Eiy Interests in associates 85,249 51,462 = 136,711
AIHHERE Avalilable-for-sale investments 47,795 2,179 = 49,974
mE Goodwil 527,253 441,944 - 969,197
Rt Operating rights 716,384 17,624 - 734,008
BEFIAEE Deferred tax assets 132,188 1,435 = 133,623
SENNEiEEY) Deposits for prepaid lease

FREE payments 9,776 20,642 - 30,418
REES Deposits for investments = 792,987 = 792,987
11,481,256 2,144,487 - 13,625,743
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HE-T

—ZHE+ZA=t+—HILFE

g e i T e

2. REEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

EEAL
MRREE
EHEFHN
b7
Effect of
merger
—Z——%F accounting for —E2——F
—H—H CR Pertrochem e —A—H
1.1.201 Group Elimination 1.1.2011
FAT FAT FHAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RE251) (&51)
(Previously (Restated)
stated)
MENAE Current assets
FE Inventories 268,709 51,110 - 319,819
FEWE SRR Trade and other receivables
H A UK 1,771,264 294,249 = 2,065,513
EWEFA#HTIREZIE  Amounts due from customers
for contract work 398,319 48,666 - 446,985
TBRNRLZE Prepaid lease payments 33723 1,084 = 34,807
JEWRZMBARFIE  Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 103,558 963,776 (997,727) 69,607
EIEIRRI TR Pledged bank deposits 14,875 = = 14,875
RITEHRRRS Bank balances and cash 6,707,419 301,421 = 7,008,840
9,297,867 1,660,306 (997,727) 9,960,446
mEaE Current liabilities
B SERK Trade and other payables
R AN 3,666,749 488,049 - 4,154,798
ENZPE4TIZZIE  Amounts due to customers
for contract work 1,658,615 122,327 - 1,780,942
JEMFREIEARARIZIAE  Amount due to an intermediate
holding company - 1,723,590 - 1,723,590
ENRZWNBARFE  Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries 963,731 33,996 (997,727) -
B fEBE Government grants 6,645 1,860 = 8,505
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 534,199 79,590 = 613,789
JERTR Taxation payable 160,375 2,280 - 162,655
6,990,314 2,451,692 (997,727) 8,444,279
REEEFE Net current assets 2,307,553 (791,386) = 1,516,167
13,788,809 1,353,101 - 15,141,910
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2. REEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
EEAL
MRREE
EHEFHN
b7
Effect of
merger
—Z——%F accounting for —E——F
—H—H CR Pertrochem e —A—H
1.1.201 Group Elimination 1.1.2011
FAT FAT FHAT FAT
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(RE251) (&51)
(Previously (Restated)
stated)
BRI Capital and reserves
[ Share capital 183,109 = - 183,109
i Reserves 5,648,428 1,216,659 - 6,865,087
PAUNCT =N Equity attributable to owners of the
FEAERA Company 5,831,537 1,216,659 - 7,048,196
FEERR R Non-controlling interests 2,152,375 38,468 = 2,190,843
7,983,912 1,255,127 - 9,239,039
ERBARL Non-current liabilities
BUSfER Government grants 57,895 16,606 = 74,501
RITRHEMEE Bank and other borrowings 5,156,274 7,051 = 5,163,325
HitRHaE Other long-term liabilities 124,287 1,339 - 125,626
EERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 466,441 72,978 - 539,419
5,804,897 97,974 - 5,902,871

13,788,809 1,353,101 = 15,141,910
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2. REEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(d)y LEZESHINENR_T——F+ (d) The effect of those restatements described above on
ZA=+—BNGREVBRRE the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
VR BEIINT December 2011 is as follows:

ERAE EHAL

WEA RN RREE
EHRENYE Affennye
Effect of the Effect of
finalisation of merger
“E-—% accounting for accounting for —E--f%
T=A=t-H  acquisition of CR Pertrochem B% TZA=t-H
31.12.2011 subsidiaries Group Elimination 31.12.2011
TAL THET T THL THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(REZ51) (Ht7E36) (E5))
(Previously (Note 36) (Restated)
stated)
FRPEE Non-current assets
nE  BERE Property, plant and equipment 10,554,637 397,055 1,442,989 - 12,394,681
BRRGZE Prepaid lease payments 844,531 - 91,547 - 936,078
REmE Investment properties 26,701 - 27,818 - 54,519
REEDRER Interests in associates 1,642,728 = 53,046 = 1,695,774
MtHERE Available-for-sale investments 28,493 = 8,449 = 36,942
L Goodwil 589,579 (294,515) 921,655 - 1,216,719
mEE Operating rights 728,953 - 22,334 - 751,287
ELHBEE Deferred tax assets 121,274 - 3,055 - 124,329
geREe Deposits for operating rights 61,675 - 9,066 = 70,741
BNBEATERE Deposits for prepaid lease payments 29,564 = 20,027 = 49,591
BENE  BER Deposits for property,
ffeize plant and equipment = - 13,144 = 13,144
14,628,135 102,540 2,613,130 - 17,343,805
REBEE Current assets
7E Inventories 412,178 - 52,101 - 464,279
EWE ZERR Trade and other receivables
Hi KR 2,713,646 - 381,438 - 3,095,084
EREFANIREE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 618,509 - 78,301 - 696,810
BREHZE Prepaid lease payments 35,689 = 1,829 = 37,518
ERRAZMBARZE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 89,581 = 104,286 (170,866) 23,001
[ EEATEE Pledged bank deposits 17,891 - 36,111 - 54,002
ROEBERS Bank balances and cash 6,889,999 - 233,635 - 7,123,634
10,777,493 - 887,701 (170,866) 11,494,328
mEaE Current liabilities
EREZERR Trade and other payables
Eft R 4,068,037 - 404,544 = 4,472,581
ENEFANIRZE  Amounts due to customers
for contract work 3,153,842 - 284,868 - 3,438,710
[EfT R EEIRD AlFE Amount due to an intermediate
holding company - - 994,313 - 994,313
EEEGENG R Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 213,536 - 211,633 (170,866) 254,303
BRfsE Government grants 1,181 = 2,418 = 3,599
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 1,536,083 - 141,081 - 1,677,164
ER#E Taxation payable 196,146 = 12,907 = 209,053
9,168,825 - 2,051,764 (170,866) 11,049,723
RBEEFAE Net current assets 1,608,668 - (1,164,063) - 444,605

16,236,803 102,540 1,449,067 = 17,788,410
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2. RBEE (&) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
E@at

TERE RAEE
2R AftEstH

B RENE g
Effect of the Effect of
finalisation of merger
—Z——% accounting for accounting for —E—-F
+=B=+—H acquisition of CR Pertrochem H¥E +-A=t-8
31.12.2011 subsidiaries Group Elimination 31.12.2011
T TAT BT TET AT
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
(R%251) (PiyE36) (E31))
(Previously (Note 36) (Restated)
stated)
BARGEE Capital and reserves
BRA Share capital 199,227 = = = 199,227
tE Reserves 7,903,226 3,276 1,212,930 - 9,119,432
AARHBAEERA  Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 8,102,453 3,276 1,212,930 - 9,318,659
JerEiRiER Non-controlling interests 2516,094 = 31,310 = 2,547 404
10,618,547 3,276 1,244,240 - 11,866,063
FRBaE Non-current liabilties
BifEsE Government grants 69,268 - 18,434 - 87,702
BIIREMEE Bank and other borrowings 4963513 = 50912 = 5,014,425
HitRHaE Other long-term liabiliies 194,567 = 1,350 = 195,917
EEREARE Deferred tax liabilities 390,908 99,264 134,131 - 624,303
5,618,256 99,264 204,827 - 5,922,347

16,236,803 102,540 1,449,067 = 17,788,410
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mBEXE (Z) 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(e) LiMZEHIHAEEHEZE_T (e) The effect of those restatements described above on the
——FRZE—-F+-A=+ Group’s basic and diluted earnings per share for the years
—HIFEERERNREERF ended 31 December 2011 and 2012 is as follows:

VREBHESINT
—B-=F —T——%
2012 2011
HER HE®R HEK EIRSTd
HAREF BERA ERERF EAR
Mg M8 0% 057
Impact on Impact on Impact on Impact on
basic diluted basic diluted
earnings earnings earnings earnings
per share per share per share per share
BT BT BT T
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AEFETF Figures before adjustments 0.80 0.80 0.62 0.62
S NG Adjustments arising from finalisation
BHREMELNAR of accounting for acquisition
of subsidiaries - - - -
AEBHALRREEEH Adjustments arising from merger
SETMEERRE accounting for CR Pertrochem Group 0.02 0.02 (0.01) (0.01)
FRIEH T Figures after adjustments 0.82 0.82 0.61 0.61

RAFE] RAEERTNEBY
7]&#& .:. A ([ & 7% B % 8|

DH
g
L

RAFE  AEBEDEAATHES
AT A SR AT RS ERTEE
BATS RS AR o

BEEHER EERIE  HREE
E125RAIER] allgEl

ABUBHEEN  BE-ER
FTHRIER] SREE

REFEEBEBPBREERNOERT
HAEEARFERBEFENT R
R BIRRIA K SR AR & B 7
BERMENBRELEBAZE

K 9 S92 2 R A T B ARG B 4
RERMN T RGBS
A -

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax: Recovery of
underlying assets
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures

— Transfers of financial assets

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.
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3. BRANENET RAMERT VBB 3.
BHREEA ((BERBUBR

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

HEA ) (&)

BB EE
AT

TNFE-T
——FHif) !
BEMBREED KB EEER Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting financial
BTHRIBET EERERARE assets and financial liabilities'
ERMBRELN BEMBERE Amendments to HKFRS 9 Mandatory effective date of HKFRS 9
L& R 957 and HKFRS 7 and transition disclosures®
HREERIFETHRM 56 |1 A A A
E) RR 5=
BERMBRELD  HEEMBHRE - Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Consolidated financial statements,
2105 - BEUMB  BETHK HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 joint arrangements and disclosure
BEEAFENRE HaEBERN of interests in other entities:
ERMSRELER HE: BEN Transition guidance’
F125ERT &3l
ERMBRELR RERE Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment entities?
$£105% - BB HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
HEEAIF125 &
BAEGER
BTHAER]
ERUHEREEL 2@IAS HKFRS 9 Financial instruments®
5%
BRMBRELD  HREMBHREK HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements'
£105%
BANBREER  HETH HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements'
F115R
BANBREER REMEEN HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other
125 R entities!
BERMBRELN  RAFERE HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement!
1358
BAGHERE195 EEREA HKAS 19 Employee benefits’
(R=F——F (as revised in 2011)
BIERT)
BB GIERE27H BUMSRE HKAS 27 Separate financial statements’
(R=Z——F (as revised in 2011)
FSEHD)
BAGHAERIE28 REEDAR HKAS 28 Investments in associates and
(R=F——F BEARM (as revised in 2011) joint ventures'
BIERT) ®BE
BAGHER 25 EM2E Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other
EA b0l CH) WAIER* comprehensive income*

BRENBRSE
A i

—8B5 (=%

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2009-2011 cycle!
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 32

HK(IFRIC) - INT 20

Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities?
Stripping costs in the production

phase of a surface mine'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint

arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint

arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued, including
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and
separate financial statements” that deal with consolidated
financial statements and HK(SIC) — INT 12 “Consolidation —
Special purpose entities” will be withdrawn upon the effective
date of HKFRS 10. Under HKFRS 10, there is only one basis for
consolidation that is control. In addition, HKFRS 10 includes a

new definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power

over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investee; and (c) the ability to use its

power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s

returns. Extensive guidance has been added in HKFRS 10 to

deal with complex scenarios.

——H+ZA=t—HLFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint

arrangements, associates and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures”.
HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or
more parties have joint control should be classified. HK(SIC) —
INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities — Non-monetary contributions
by venturers” will be withdrawn upon the effective date of
HKFRS 11. Under HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified
as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights
and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast,
under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint arrangements:
jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly
controlled operations. In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS
11 are required to be accounted for using the equity method of
accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31
can be accounted for using the equity method of accounting or
proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities
that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than
those in the current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain transitional guidance on
the application of these five HKFRSs for the first time.

These five standards, together with the amendments relating
to the transitional guidance, are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with earlier application
permitted provided that all of these five standards are applied at
the same time.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures (Continued)

The directors anticipate that the application of these five
standards may have a significant impact on amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements. The application of HKFRS
11 will change the classification and subsequent accounting of
the Group’s jointly controlled entities. For example, under HKAS
31, the Group’s jointly controlled entities have been accounted for
using proportionate consolidation method. Under HKFRS 11 and
HKAS 28, those jointly controlled entities which are reclassified
as joint ventures or associates under the new accounting
standards will be accounted for using the equity method instead,
resulting in the aggregation of the Group’s proportionate share
of jointly controlled entities’ net assets and items of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income into a single line item which will
be presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
and in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as ‘“investment in joint ventures” and “share of profits of joint
ventures” or “investment in associates” and “share of profits of
associates”, respectively. The summarized financial information in
respect of jointly controlled entities are disclosed in Note 47. The
directors of the Company are still in the process to determine
and quantify the impact of the application of the new accounting
standards.

HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements.
The standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value, and requires disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to
both financial instrument items and non-financial instrument
items for which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements,
except in specified circumstances. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 13 are more extensive than those in the
current standards. For example, quantitative and qualitative
disclosures based on the three-level fair value hierarchy currently
required for financial instruments only under HKFRS 7 “Financial
instruments: Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover
all assets and liabilities within its scope.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement” (Continued)

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be
adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning 1 January 2013 and that the application
of the new standard may affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and result in more extensive
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of items of other

comprehensive income”

The amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of items of
other comprehensive income” introduce new terminology
for the statement of comprehensive income and income
statement. Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a “statement of
comprehensive income” is renamed as a “statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income” and an “income
statement” is renamed as a “statement of profit or loss”. The
amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss
and other comprehensive income in either a single statement
or in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the
amendments to HKAS 1 require items of other comprehensive
income to be grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that
may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive
income is required to be allocated on the same basis — the
amendments do not change the option to present items of other
comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation of items of
other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when
the amendments are applied in future accounting periods.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and
up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling
interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

- o S e e
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including
any components of other comprehensive income attributable
to them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest, with any resulting difference being recognise as a gain
or loss in profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement” or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment” at the acquisition date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard.

- R e T
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on
the basis specified in another standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period and additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Merger accounting for business combinations involving

entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses had been
combined at the previous reporting period or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and up to the
date of disposal, as appropriate.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business or a jointly
controlled entity (which is accounted for using proportionate
consolidation) is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or a jointly
controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associates. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of assets” as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled entities
using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share of each
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly
controlled entities are combined with the Group’s similar line
items, line by line, in the consolidated financial statements.
The financial statements of jointly controlled entities used for
proportionate consolidation purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in
a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of a business or a jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

For deemed acquisition of additional interests of jointly controlled
entities, the excess of the share of net assets before the deemed
acquisition over the share of net assets after the deemed
acquisition is recognised as goodwill.

Upon disposal of a jointly controlled entity that results in the
Group losing joint control over that jointly controlled entity,
any retained investment is measured at fair value at that date.
The difference between the previous carrying amount of the
jointly controlled entity attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the jointly controlled entity. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that jointly controlled entity
on the same basis as would be required if that jointly controlled
entity had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that jointly controlled entity would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when it loses joint
control over that jointly controlled entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in jointly controlled entities (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly controlled
entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.

Connection fee income is recognised upon the connection of
pipelines of customers to the Group’s existing gas pipelines.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income
from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably).
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137



1 E;ES CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2012

RE ISR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 HE (&)

M - BERRE

ME - BB LRE (BRHIELE -
RHEEMARE - HITREEBEDN
HEME HEIBRRBREZETR) HR
RAEREZ R ITE R RFRERS
B (E) REAMBIRRIEE -

FEDNZGAIERFHREER
HARSGEEERABREMEY
X BER&E(GERIREERIN ©
IEE@Z$FE%LMEM fEEHA e
AR RBREERTES AN SR
iﬁﬂﬂii’i TiRE - MR E B
FEUNEMEEDIR -

EREITREBERNS THBRIAHREE
RERBRANME  BEIERE - &
BIRERAR AR ERREREE
IR - AR T RN A M A AIERE
REEDBREERINYE  B&E
ks ZSEENTEREEANR
ABEREHRERBYEEEHRR
R E R IR TE R -

ME BERRBEEXRHERER
HIR B AR EET B AR KEH
ﬂﬁnﬁ RILHER - HEXEEME
W7 KA E EE 2 EamsE
BREEMSHEAEEREERZ
ZRAE - AN IBEENER

HEFAREBANBRFEN LR
BF

M ERP AN RET IHIEEE
EERE PEAKERNNELL
HWE S HERRMNBLHKIE - XLUE
ORIRTE B - NEGZEIR - B
DB ENEHEFSINEERET
KRAEN—HD - ERETREAAER
ERERBREEBRIE LR
WE - BELRRE BTRAMRER
i (B8 T B2 B AT 3 MER
B EREE MR FIaITE -

For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold properties
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease
is classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses and are classified as property, plant
and equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when
they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion
at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably,
revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting
period, measured based on the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total
contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus
is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract
work. Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position,
as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under trade and
other receivables.

139




1 [1() CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2012

RE ISR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TESTHER (F)

BILEE
BVEE~RENTEERBNEERE -

BRI T EE

BB RAERFHREROETE
R AR R AT R REHRUE
BRI - AR ERERNETLE
EREE A RFRIARREEE -

BRAEDNHERINERRHERL
P EER A & E AR RS 2
RINIER - RNRMERRLEERE
R EAREEEER AR EMEN
BFREAEREENEZENE) R
FRIRTER X B EN PN IBREER -

EA
TFEARAME R A 23 FERM & # 8
BF AR o RANEANEFIDEFE -

TRITAR

MEBEERATAEANKRIXMAN
o RAlEREREERSRABELR
EMBIRARAER - EREERSE
BEENFARTFEFE - RERHE
R WERBRTEREERERE
BEENEERIZRA R FEF
ABSHNEREERSBA BRI
BRFEAMAS MR EREES S
BAENQFE -

SREE

AEE NS RAESE R TRED
Heb—F B IEE KRR A R
THBESMEE - PEIRT LR
B 1 % B MO T A MR R
BB -

For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the
period when the asset is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and
cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the
asset on initial recognition. Interest income is recognised on an
effective interest basis for debt instrument.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables, or held-
to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

° it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well
as observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.



2 HE (&)

SWTA ()
SREE (8)

SREERE ()
SABBRATIENSREERE -
WERES EE N G T E R

AAAKREERENRE (REBEE
MRERMEFE) 2R ZRER -

HIARAFI R R AB R REMS
BEBEN S RIREEREE R G
AERBRERENRE (RAELERE
ENREmSLRERFTHE) 2HHE
B o RORME B 1R T 0 H 1R ) B
@ - EERIEENER A FEENE
BEREME2mBAERILNIREER
GRS

BEeREERMNRESRSE
ERemEEREETERIR 16
FEWE B RS @%'ﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BERELIRN - BRKE ZHRTIK
A8 R AT U B - T 8 £ B PO i
e BRERANREEZSHENIER
FhRE SR o ST AT 8 A FROR fiF 1R
|l - RUEF AR ©

SRABBRAABNEREEN = -
iR EBEENERARRD - BZ
A BN FEROR B R TS ENEHA
BEBHE B zatERNRERSE
SR\ PBE - ERNRERERE
HZ R E B BRE E S B M EER
BB E KA -

ERRARRARAT | —2— —FER

IRE SRR MY R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For investments in equity securities that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss
will not be reversed in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in investment
revaluation reserve.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit and loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, amounts
due to an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term
liabilities, are measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method subsequent to initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease
are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease
term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land and building (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the costs of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.



TESTHER (F)

BiIE

P15 T2 A S 46 B HA P A 50 IR BB FE 75
AT -

B EA 8 {5 B IR 4% F 9 B AR B i A &
- BRBFGEN T EREMERNE
ARBRXAHHWZIAR - TTEES
AR NBIAR - AW EES
2HRABRRMZBORBRIALNF
PR - AEEMENATIER BEYR
EREHREROREERMOHE
stE -

BRERBIIEGEVBEREANEER
& (BRI (B 82 5 5 P aR B0 A B £R AR
MR EMmE M ERE - ELEHIRA
BE-RAAEERNEG K EEER
AR - BERBEEBTRAIREERE
aR A A A A B P A R N B
ERER AR E MY R EREER
fR-MEREZRDEABERE—ET
YRRV G R G RN ERTE
MR S EIRIER (B AR B
EEMBEMEL  BIHBEEER
BEBTEREAARK -

EERBEERNMB AR - BERQ
RARESEENREMEENE
AR Z R - EHARE R
IR A R T RERAED
G0 R] RS AR E E B AR S - BB
B % & FA w40 O T HOOR D B R
i B A R AT AR TR A EE(E I A REEE AR
B HIERTE MIAB) B E R Z 5T
I FEHA R 1A AJ 5 R HBE () B 2R o

EERIRE E R REER & HRD
SHETEN  MITBAEEEHER
B AR EREH O HEE
2= BIE T AR -

For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

EBREIRARART | T —FER

IRE SRR MY R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint controlled entities, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current
and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination,
the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

Share-based payment transactions

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
after 7 November 2002 and vested on or after 1 January 2005

For share option schemes, the fair value of services received,
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date, is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share option reserve). At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will continue to be held in share option
reserve.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of share options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in the
profit or loss, such that the cumulative expenses reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve.

For incentive award schemes, the cost of acquisition of the
Company’s shares held for the incentive award scheme is
recorded as treasury shares (shares held for share incentive
scheme). The shares held for the incentive award scheme will be
disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the employees.

When the shares held for incentive award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
on or before 7 November 2002, or granted after 7 November 2002
and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded
in the consolidated financial statements until such time as the
options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the profit
or loss in respect of the value of options granted. Upon the
exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share over
the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share premium.
Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date
are deleted from the register of outstanding options.

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue
over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future in preparing accounting estimates. The resulting
accounting estimates may not be equal to the actual results.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both the current and future periods.
The key estimates and assumptions that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property,
plant and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment could change significantly as a result of technical
innovation. When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment due to the change of commercial and technological
environment are different from their estimated useful lives, such
difference will impact the depreciation charges and the amounts
of assets written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31
December 2012 is HK$17,712,079,000 (31 December 2011:
HK$12,394,681,000 and 1 January 2011: HK$9,864,496,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$1,676,018,000 (31 December 2011: HK$1,216,719,000 and
1 January 2011: HK$969,197,000). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 20.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2012 BE-_Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an
assessment of the recoverability of debtors. Allowances are
made on trade debtors whenever there is any objective evidence
that the balances may not be collectible. The Group makes
judgment in assessing the collectability based on observable
data including creditworthiness and payment history of the
customers (for details please refer to Note 23). When objective
evidence for allowance exists, the amount of allowance is the
difference between the carrying amounts of the debts and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. Where the expectation on the
recoverability of the debts is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amounts of debtors and
doubtful debt expenses in the periods in which such estimate
has been changed.

The carrying amount of trade debtors, net of allowance, at 31
December 2012 is HK$2,063,190,000 (31 December 2011:
HK$1,055,436,000 and 1 January 2011: HK$622,159,000).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances
are applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than
the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories
requires the use of judgment and estimates on the conditions
and usefulness of the inventories. In cases where the net
realisable value of inventories assessed are less than expected,
a material recognition of allowance for inventories may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such recognition takes place.

At 31 December 2012, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$747,339,000 (31 December 2011: HK$464,279,000 and 1
January 2011: HK$319,819,000).
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6. EXEMER 6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AEEEBEERNNGERRITREM The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
BEEEMEREEXGMSRERE continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
R FFE MR T o NEE I E HAES through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
THELREEARBESTREFEE monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
MR LEREABERANEEES its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
RRARHRMERBEURERBESR sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of
Ko funding are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements.
REBWEAREHRBETE (B2 The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
BITREMES) BERE - RITE include bank and other borrowings, senior notes, bank balances
SRRARE R ARGRAR (B2 % and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
TER - (REBEMN REMFEEHAERK) issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.
AEBEEETHRITERERE - & The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
B 8RR E AR K 8 B R B T g a regular basis. As part of this review, management considers
NAM—HBH - WKEEZITEFHE the cost of capital and the associated risk, and take appropriate
AEENEARER  BERNKRE - actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the
BITHAR - BITHESEBTRBER payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of

new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

7. @I A 7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
I AER Categories of financial instruments
—B-=F —E——F —F——F
+=—A=+—-8A +=A=+—H —A—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FET FHET T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
(&%) (E51)
(Restated) (Restated)
EREE Financial assets
BR & ERIE Loans and receivables
(BRERE& (including cash and
ReEE) cash equivalents) 15,328,735 8,709,931 7,962,597
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments 26,353 36,942 49,974
SRMEE Financial liabilities

Xz DN At amortised cost 18,213,275 10,676,836 9,444,510
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, trade and other receivables, amounts due from/
to an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, bank and other borrowings, senior notes and
other long-term liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e.
currency other than the functional currency of the respective
group entities, which are mainly amounts due from/to an
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

—E——F —T——F
2012 2011
FET T
HK$°000 HK$'000
EE Assets

e United States dollars 433,766 416,220
BT Hong Kong dollars 993,557 1,162,839
1,427,323 1,579,059

=R Liabilities
e United States dollars 5,669,130 -
BT Hong Kong dollars 5,424,347 5,880,000
BT Euro 14,927 15,745
11,108,404 5,895,745
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange rates.
The Group currently has not entered into any foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk.
Management will consider hedging foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional
currency of the group entities, against relevant foreign
currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate which represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive (negative) number indicates an increase
(decrease) in pre-tax profit for the year when RMB strengthens
5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a 5% weakening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year.

—E——F —E——4F
2012 2011
FHExT T

HK$’000 HK$'000
EpH United States dollars
F AT AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 261,768 (20,811)
BT Hong Kong dollars
FE AT AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 221,540 235,858
BT Euro
F AT @ A Pre-tax profit for the year 746 787

ERERL AREFREERANRR
Y ARBEFNER  HLGERED
T BERKREA FSMNERER

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
floating-rate bank and other borrowings (see Note 29 for details
of these borrowings). The management continuously monitors
interest rate fluctuation and will consider further hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to amounts due to joint ventures of jointly controlled
entities of the Group and fixed-rate bank and other borrowings
and senior notes (see Notes 23, 29 and 30 for details). The
management continuously monitors interest rate exposure.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances (see Note 26 for details of these deposits).
The management considers the Group’s exposure of the short-
term bank deposits to interest rate risk is not significant as
interest bearing bank balances are within short maturity period.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances and
bank and other borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming
those balances outstanding at the end of each reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 10 or 50 basis points
increase or decrease which represents the management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates is
used.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances and pledged bank deposits
carried at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 would increase
by approximately HK$12,381,000 (2011: HK$7,178,000). If the
interest rate on floating-rate bank and other borrowings had
been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2012 would decrease by approximately HK$28,450,000 (2011:
HK$30,777,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its bank balances with variable
rates and floating-rate bank and other borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and People’s Bank of China Base Rate
arising from the Group’s borrowings denominated in RMB and
Euro.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
has policies in place for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries out
searches on the creditability of the new customer and assesses
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits
by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed once a
year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the Group considers that the credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit standing.

At 31 December 2012, the Group has concentration of credit
risk in relation to the receivables from fellow subsidiaries and a
joint venturer of a jointly controlled entity of the Group amounting
to HK$33,913,000 (31 December 2011: HK$23,001,000 and
1 January 2011: HK$69,607,000) and HK$525,746,000 (31
December 2011: HK$178,657,000 and 1 January 2011: nil),
respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has reviewed the recoverable amount of each receivable from
its fellow subsidiaries and joint venturer at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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SRMTA (&) 7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
HERKREEEEREE (&) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
REEL/EE Liquidity risk
EERBESRERE  ANEBERYW In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
BRHETEERAEANBNAEEER and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
W RASEEKT  HEKS Y adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
RERNBOTE - EEENERRIT and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
BENBA  BRETERZE (W0 management also monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
B) - ensures compliance with loan covenants, if any.
TRAASIAEEN SR E EHT The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
BRENFH ZERZEBEE (RAE maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
SEUHERINNZERE) AKX up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
HRRERERE - ZRBEFER based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
ReWBERE - to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
BBIE
BF@R5F RER
METAFI= Over BeHgng
Weighted RERE FE1E  1yearbut BiB5E Total RAE
average On Less than not more Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 1year than5 years 5years  cash flows amounts
Tign Tign TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEgn
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
R=8-=% At 31 December 2012
+=ZA=1-H
FENE S5 K A ERZ Trade and other payables - 660,915 2,886,333 - - 3,547248 3,547248
FENTRIERATIE  Amount due to an intermediate
holding company - 45,016 - - - 45,016 45,016
ENFZMBARZE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries - 2,564,673 - - - 2,564,673 2,564,673
FAIRHMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.67 - 250,217 5,815,989 496,570 6,562,776 6,191,861
BEEE Senior notes 450 - 261,621 1,046,485 712191 8,430,017 5,669,130
HREERE Other long-term liabilities 2.31 - 25,001 140,629 117,308 282,938 195,347
3,270,604 3,423,172 7,003,103 7,735,789 21,432,668 18,213,275
R=E——F At 31 December 2011 (restated)
+=A=1-R (3
ENESEZ R E b ERF Trade and other payables - 758,143 1,782571 - - 2540,714 2540,714
ENTREIERATZIE  Amount due to an intermediate
holding company - 994,313 - - - 994,313 994,313
ENRZMBATSE  Amounts due to fellow subsidlaries - 254,303 - - - 254,303 254,303
FIRA S Bank and other borrowings 369 0000 1414919 4968893 %8906 6952718 6691589
HbREaE Other long-term liabilities 393 - 20,578 131,009 133,006 284,593 195917
2,306,759 3,218,068 5,099,902 401,912 11,026,641 10,676,836
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in listed equity securities classified as available-for-sale
investments (see Note 19). The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risks. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. In addition,
the management of the Group monitors the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date.

If the prices of the listed equity instruments had been 5% (2011:
5%) higher/lower, the investment valuation reserve will increase
by HK$396,000 (2011: HK$505,000) or the pre-tax profit for the
year will decrease by HK$396,000 (2011: HK$505,000).

The Group’s sensitivity to available-for-sale investments has not
changed significantly from the prior year.

Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their
fair values.
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale
of liquefied petroleum gas and natural gas for residential,
commercial and industrial use

Gas connection — connection fee income and construction
contracts for gas connection to the Group’s pipelines

Segments results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, finance
costs, central administration costs, release from prepaid lease
payments and directors’ salaries. This is the measure reported to
the executive directors for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.
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8. BEHRSEER (&) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
NG DEER DHEEERD The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
HEBENAERNAT : assets and segment liabilities are as follows:
BE-Z——HF+-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2012
DEEW R FE Segment revenue and results
HERDHRE
MR RAERE M
Sale and
distribution of MRER
gas fuel and Gas &t
related products connection Total
FET FExT FEx
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R Turnover
HNEH External sales 15,540,751 4,049,862 19,590,613
E3 Results
DA Segment results 1,580,057 1,733,152 3,313,209
FEARES & A RIZEAR Share of results of associates 125,369
RN Finance costs (333,798)
RO BB Unallocated income 458,227
RABEFAEZ Unallocated expenses (760,478)
FRA A Profit before taxation 2,802,529
PEEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHRAR
MAREEER
Sale and
distribution of
gas fuel MR R
and related Gas &ast
products connection Consolidated
FExT FHER FET
HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE ASSETS
DEREE Segment assets 17,139,595 5,147,545 22,287,140
NN b Interests in associates 1,861,428
FEREFRIEEE Deferred tax assets 191,682
AOBAGIEE (Mfffa) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 18,058,613
42,398,863
i=F- LIABILITIES
PEEE Segment liabilities 3,500,369 7,636,132 11,136,501
FESFIIE Taxation payable 319,516
RIEFIRAE Deferred tax liabilities 724,243
ROBATEME (H3b)  Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 15,414,577

27,594,837
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8. BEHRSEER (&) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-ZE—-—H+-HA=+—HLHF For the year ended 31st December, 2012 (Continued)
E (&)
Bt Other information
HER D
RERER
HEER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MR EER
and related Gas RAE &5t
products connection Unallocated Total
FET FET T FExT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
RNEFFRBEE Additions to non-current assets 3,642,911 - 233,896 3,876,807
e o Depreciation and amortisation 633,017 - 127,559 760,576
fRRRTE TR E IR Release of prepaid lease payments - - 27,568 27,568
E S REWRTZUREEE Impairment loss on trade receivables 5,890 - - 5,890
LEME - BEX Gain on disposal of property,
B e plant and equipment 19,093 - - 19,093
BE-Z—-F+=-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2012
DWW RFEE (ES) Segment revenue and results (restated)
HERDH
REZIARL K
HEE®
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel R B
and related Gas A&t
products connection Total
FHET FHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BER Turnover
SNEH External sales 11,253,594 2,954,452 14,208,046
E45 Results
DEEE Segment results 1,073,963 1,236,569 2,310,532
FEMREE N R ¥EE Share of results of associates 119,217
B RS A AR Finance costs (87,687)
Ko EUA Unallocated income 374,777
ROBFZ Unallocated expenses (581,414)
B 54 BT e A Profit before taxation 2,135,425
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8. EXBRo/BER (&) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z——F+ZHA=+—HL#HF For the year ended 31st December, 2011 (Continued)
E (&)
DEEEREE (BZ) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
HERDHAE
R AR R E
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RRER
and related Gas A5t
products connection Consolidated
FHT FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE ASSETS
DIEEE Segment assets 11,786,400 3,646,834 15,433,234
R NEI Y Interests in associates 1,695,774
BERIREE Deferred tax assets 124 329
ROBATEE (MiFa)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 11,584,796
28,838,133
afE LIABILITIES
DEEEE Segment liabilities 2,315,833 4,878,075 7,193,908
FERHREIE Taxation payable 209,053
EERIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 624,303
KHOBATEME (Hib)  Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 8,944,806
16,972,070
BmEH (E) Other information (restated)
HERDH
RESIAR K
e E @
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel AR
and related Gas Ko A&t
products connection  Unallocated Total
FHT FHAT FHIT FHT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEIFEMBEE Additions to non-current assets 1,850,628 = 179,458 2,030,086
& Kk i Depreciation and amortisation 489,681 = 73,910 563,591
fEIR TR IE B FRIE Release of prepaid lease payments = = 23,055 23,055
E 5 EWEFUREEIE Impairment loss on trade receivables 2,894 = = 2,894

HEWE - BE & Gain on disposal of property,
R plant and equipment 15,403 - _ 15,403
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8. BEERDEER (&) 8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
R=—ZE——%—H—H At 1st January, 2011
THEHEEREE (ES) Segment assets and liabilities (restated)
HE R HRAE
AR ARRE
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RSB B
and related Gas e
products connection Consolidated
FHT FAET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
DIEEE Segment assets 9,406,170 2,581,297 11,987,467
RIEFH B E & Deferred tax assets 133,623
AN Interests in associates 136,711
RAOBLATEE (M5Fa)  Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 11,328,388
23,586,189
=R LIABILITIES
DEAaE Segment liabilities 1,684,854 3,699,284 5,384,138
FEfHRETE Taxation payable 162,655
EEFHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 539,419
ROBATIEME (H3b)  Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 8,260,938
14,347,150
3t 12 B Geographical information
REZMER » NEEE S EENIER The Group’s turnover and non-current assets (excluded financial
PEE (TREERITAREERIE instruments and deferred tax assets) are arisen in and located in

BE) Ty BIEEN A - the PRC during both years.
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

No single external customer contributed revenue from
transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the
Group during both years.

Notes:

(a) Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on
acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities which
are engaged in sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products and gas connection, investment properties, prepaid
lease payments, deposits for prepaid lease payments, deposits for
property, plant and equipment, deposits for investments, available-
for-sale investments, other receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash.

(b) Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, consideration payable for acquisition of subsidiaries,
amounts due to an intermediate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries, bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other
long-term liabilities (excluding payable for acquisition of operating
rights). The amounts due to an intermediate holding company and
fellow subsidiaries, bank and other borrowings and senior notes
are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities because they are
managed centrally by the treasury function of the Group.

9. FINANCE COSTS

—E-CF =%
2012 2011
FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
FE Interests on:
ARIEER Y= NGIE/ S Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 12,326 =
//\E"ﬁfﬁﬂq%%fgﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁ& Bank and other borrowings wholly
HiEE repayable within five years 109,034 83,406
BARAFANEBHEEDN Bank and other borrowings
RITREMEE not wholly repayable within five years 9,348 1,565
BARAFRNEHEEN Senior notes not wholly repayable
BREERE within five years 201,120 =
HiREEE Other long-term liabilities 1,970 2,716

333,798 87,687
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10. B8 10. TAXATION
—2—=F —E——F
2012 2011
THET FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&E31))
(Restated)
HIESLH (EE) 81F : The tax charge (credit) comprises:
RVEATE IR Current taxation
P ERER PRC Enterprise Income Tax 695,715 545,551
BEFEREETR Underprovision in prior years 6,074 =
BEFREELED D IREA Withholding tax paid for distributed profits of
SR TENFR investments in the PRC 54,277 31,224
756,066 576,775
EIERIE (FI3E32) Deferred taxation (Note 32)
FRLH (ER) Charge (credit) for the year 11,758 (13,751)
767,824 563,024

F A EBFNEGER R E GG ER
808 R AR B £16.5% (—ZF— —4 :
16.5%) 5T 8 - ARAIRERBHK
&R BT B A R I A R R B
It WERGEMBEWENTIRE S
ISR -

o B A AR B R R RO B R AR R T

st
= o
It

ETRPREEENHEBARENKRE
ABBIIEE 1814 B o EEF FE R
W 4F HA ] ] 7 BA 2 A A 8 R Y AR 1
EMEH WREB=FAEEMBR
5% H) E I R £50%H Bl 1 %
FRiSHL ©

ETRA RS EN K REHEE
BEEEHMRBREETHRARR - #H
FREEEMSHEERE15% °

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.

Profits tax arising in the PRC is calculated based on the
applicable tax rates on assessable profits.

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC are exempted from
income tax applicable in the PRC for two years starting from the
first profit making year after utilisation of the tax losses brought
forward and were granted a 50% relief from applicable tax rate of
25% for the following three years.

Certain jointly controlled entities which are operating in the
Western China have been granted tax concessions by the local
tax bureau and are entitled to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at
concessionary rate of 15%.
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10. TAXATION (Continued)

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2010 No. 1, only the
profits earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st
January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors, can be
grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax. Whereas,
dividend distributed out of the profits generated thereafter,
shall be subject to the Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and
withheld by the PRC entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the
New Law and Article 91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.

T8 B S 0] B3R B AR A BR 40 The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

™ taxation as follows:
—E-—F —E——F
2012 2011
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
BT A A Profit before taxation 2,802,529 2,135,425
12 i A A8 B % 25% Tax at the applicable income
—F——4F : 25%) tax rate of 25%
SEMFEIAE (B (2011: 25%) (Note) 700,632 533,856
MR BT HRFAS /Y Tax effect of expenses not deductible
Mg 2 for tax purposes 95,419 46,596
MG RS BAERTUWAR Tax effect of income not taxable
BT for tax purposes (17,922) (14,306)
JEIEBE S AR EENHBEFE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (31,342) (29,804)
AERREEENRGTE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 21,987 21,140
BT ARERMFIEREIE  Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised (13,355) (281)
A B KB A A Effect of tax exemptions and reliefs granted
FrETi TR 2 H 2 28 to subsidiaries operating in the PRC (28,814) (21,944)
REBBERAENEH Income tax at concessionary rates (33,406) (17,077)
R NGIENER =02 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 1,384 1,552
BRAPEIEE R D RS Withholding tax for undistributed profits
TEM of investments in the PRC 12,449 18,000
BEFREIEED DR Withholding tax paid for distributed profits
SR TESORL of investments in the PRC 54,277 31,224
BAFERETR Underprovision in prior years 6,074 =
HAth Others a1 (5,932)
FRBIEZ Tax charge for the year 767,824 563,024

MisE EAMGHEREAEERBY EKE
ARBE  BE-_T——FR-_FT—
—F+—A=1+—HItWEFEHF

B MK H25% °

Note: The applicable income tax rate represents PRC Enterprise Income
Tax rate of 25% for the two years ended 31 December 2012 and
2011, of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.
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1. FREF

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—E-C-F —ET——%F
2012 2011
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
FRRMEHER (GTA) - Profit for the year has been arrived at
after charging (crediting):
=5 %N Staff costs
Z50E (ME12) Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) 47,410 31,225
HtET Other staff
— e kEARET — Salaries and other benefits 1,541,882 1,010,766
— REETEI T RITE — Performance related incentive payments
pfiana under the Incentive Award Scheme 75,246 67,609
— BRIRERIET SR - Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 244,173 153,241
B TR A4R%E Total staff costs 1,908,711 1,262,841
il Auditor’s remuneration 5,500 4,100
M - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 717,717 527,552
WEYENE Depreciation of investment properties 2,407 1,988
LR (E5F ATTEESZ)  Amortisation of operating rights (included in
administrative expenses) 40,452 34,051
TEfS A FIBR R Release of prepaid lease payments 27,568 23,055
FEWE 5 R FOR BB 18 Impairment loss on trade receivables 5,890 2,894
FEREBSE Impairment loss on inventories - 954
HEYENKEEROES Operating lease rentals in respect of
rented premises 79,356 49,135
HEWE - BERREN Gain on disposal of property, plant and
Wz equipment (19,093) (15,403)
HEEHEEIRERE Loss (gain) on disposal of available-for-sale
(zs) investments 1,680 (665)
BB Government grants (60,605) (47,073)
SRITHERFE Interest on bank deposits (266,969) (103,376)
REZLEMENHHESIA Rental income from investment properties
(B I0BR A 2BE G ) (net of negligible outgoings) (6,064) (4,856)
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12. EEME R AR BESHES 12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

= Directors
B ENESOMSOT ¢ The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:
—E-ZF 2012
#EEME  Name of Director WITE EREF
Fex s Bt
H{tf8F Performance  Retirement —T——fF
Salaries related benefit B
e and other incentive schemes &5t 2011
Fees benefits payments contributions Total Total
FaE FERT TERT TERT TER TERT FHT

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000

HITES Executive directors

EB% Ma Guoan c 35 2,276 18,145 89 20,545 9,382
FER Wang Chuandong 70 2,196 14,538 136 16,940 18,221
RER Shi Shanbo a M 1,387 - 103 1,531 -
EMR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken 70 1,620 5,865 179 7734 3,032

¥HTEE Non-executive

directors
YR Du Wenmin 70 - - - 70 70
o Wei Bin 70 - - - 70 70
HIEE Huang Daoguo a 35 - - - 35 =
3 Chen Ying a 35 - - - 35 =
BEES Luk Chi Cheong d 150 - - - 150 150
BT Independent non-
= executive directors
=555 Wong Tak Sing 150 - - - 150 150
F& Yu Jian 150 - - - 150 150
EEE Yu Hon To, David b - - - - _ _
RERE Qin Chaokui b - - - - - _
876 7479 38,548 507 47,410 31,225
Bt Notes:
(a) ZEEBDNR-_ZT——FA—HE (a) These directors were appointed on 1 June 2012.
AT -
(b) ZEEFDHR-_ZE—=-F+=A=+ (b) These directors were appointed on 28 December 2012.
J\NEHEZE -
(c) ZEBEFER-ZE—-FA—HE (c) The director resigned on 1 June 2012.
£ o
(d) ZBEFTER=_ZE—=F+=A=+ (d)  The director resigned on 28 December 2012.

NBBHE -
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12. EEME R AR HES
(%)

B (&)

AWITENRSDRIBEAEENLZE
B AARBARAHERN TSR
SHEUREE o Hh 2R RIEMHE4M
iE 5 1) 82 B A 81X T # 37,120,000
B T (Z & — — 4 : 23,880,000/
JT) °

==

AEFELEERFALRERS (=
T——F:WEB) WTES BEW
HeFBERN EX - REBEEHR=F
“E——F: =) ke FHEENH
ST

BE-F-—#t-A=+-ALEE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

Performance related incentive payments were determined
with reference to the Group’s operating results, individual
performances and comparable market statistics. Included therein
were amounts granted to directors of HK$37,120,000 (2011:
HK$23,880,000) under the Incentive Award Scheme as defined in
Note 34.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2011:
two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2011: three)
highest paid employees of the Group are as follows:

—EB-—fF —E——F

2012 2011

FHET T

HK$’000 HK$'000

e REMET Salaries and other benefits 2,064 1,653
WINITERNES Performance related incentive payments 27,097 16,508
RINEF T2 Retirement benefit schemes contributions 205 167
29,366 18,328

tiiEENHEN FIATEE

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:
= a2 —F——F
2012 2011
EEAH EE A%
Number of Number of
employees employees
5,000,001/87C%£5,500,000/85C HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 - 1
6,000,001/ 7C£6,500,000/8C HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 - 1
6,500,001/ 7C£7,000,000/7C  HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 - 1
8,000,001/ 70£8,500,000/ . HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 1 -
9,500,001,%70210,000,0007%8 7 HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 1 -
11,000,001757C211,500,000/%8 7 HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 1 -
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BEZT-——H+_A=+—HILFE

B E 13. DIVIDENDS
—E-C-F —T——%
2012 2011
FERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FREREDIRAME : Dividends recognised as distribution
during the year:
—E——FIRMNEF RS Interim dividend paid of 2 HK cents
BB (ZFB——%F - per share for 2012 (2011: paid of
ZE——FIRNOFPHRE 2 HK cents per share for 2011)
BRR27AL) 40,073 33,199
—E——FRMNAOKRBAKE Final dividend paid of 10 HK cents
BIRA10BI (ZF——F : per share for 2011 (2011: paid of
2 -ZF RN KRR E 8 HK cents per share for 2010)
FRE8EAIL) 200,357 141,050
240,430 174,249

EFEBARRKNEBEE=F—
TZA=t—HLEFENRBREE
B1aB Il (Z T2 ——F: 8K

fil) -
FREF

FRERRET R THRIA T BIRFT

—F

%1055

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 14
HK cents per share for the year ended 31st December, 2012
(2011: 10 HK cents per share).

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

i based on the following data:
—E——F —T——%F
2012 2011
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
B Earnings:
RAUTESRERRES Earnings for the purpose of basic and
BRNOEF (KRREEA diluted earnings per share (profit for the
FEMRFEARF) year attributable to owners of the Company) 1,650,964 1,176,268
—E——F —T——%F
2012 2011
(&%)
(Restated)

RHEE :

R EESREARR T
IREFHEEITRMOER
B R ED R E R A IR

BEEERNHNTE
Bt

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of shares in issue
less shares held for incentive award scheme
for the purpose of basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential shares
Share options

2,015,851,847

748

1,921,478,763

52,320

AR BB g 2N
MEFHEEITRNER
R B R Bl A RO Ak i)

Weighted average number of shares
in issue less shares held for incentive
award scheme for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

2,015,852,595

1,921,531,083
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15. ¥13% - BERRE 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BE-
BERRE
Plant, GRE
HEME machinery REEE %B8 HERE RE EREIR
Leasehold and Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor  Construction &t
properties equipment pipelines  and fixtures improvements vehicles in progress Total
THL TE#T TET TET TEL TEL THL TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEE THE GROUP
RE cost
W=F—%-f-8 At 1 January 2011
(&31) (restated) 1,368,445 1,041,679 6,064,783 132,688 14,709 324,054 1,841,324 10,787,682
Eifg Exchange adjustments 84,410 102,798 497,424 8,307 1,280 19,325 184,758 898,302
RE Additions 107,387 136,962 91,197 31,720 4370 102,053 1,480,352 1,954,041
REHEAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 8,326 29,551 576,377 966 - 3,017 105,760 723,997
WERREHEE Acquisition of a jointly controlled
entity 8,967 2,634 364,699 1,350 - 2,702 108,162 488,514
RIERERREHESRS Deemed acquisition of additional
BoMER interests in a jointly controlled
entity 2,311 812 171,675 157 - 554 2,835 178,344
RXHAREHERN Loss of joint control over a jointly
HRE controlled entity (263,342) (109,451) (619,042) (13,775) - (41,09) (177,367) (1,224,072)
e Disposals (82,037) (68,983) (34,012) (10,382) - (10,133) (14,451) (219,998)
PEREE Transfers between categories 222,613 11,762 750,652 12,818 18,472 2,480 (1,018,797) -
RZZ——F+ZA=1—H At 31 December 2011 1,457,080 1,147,764 7,863,753 163,849 38,831 402,957 2,512,576 13,586,810
ERBE Exchange adjustments 2,842 1,263 12,647 363 40 555 4,010 21,720
RE Additions 269,038 351,936 675,636 59,657 11,886 160,763 2,260,579 3,789,495
WERBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 256,116 112,821 2,222,236 15,101 5,984 33,649 363,705 3,009,612
RAHAFEHERN Loss of joint control over a jointly
R (HE36(c) controlled entity (Note 36(c)) (7,213) (4,693) (681,483) (4,786) (4,165) (4,123) (73,455) (779.918)
BIENEARRHEREN Deemed acquisition of additional
BIMER interests in a jointly controlled
entity 1,711 898 36,636 136 68 442 9,795 49,686
e Disposals (28,858) (48,728) (15,559) (7,698) - (24,410) (3,120) (128,373)
PEHER Transfers between categories 278,222 121,172 1,065,032 10,839 822 3,155 (1,485,242) -
WZZ-ZF+-A=+-H At 31 December 2012 2,228,938 1,688,433 11,178,898 237,461 53,466 572,988 3,588,848 19,549,032
FERAE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
W=F—%-f-H At 1 January 2011
(&71) (restated) 83,883 158,242 540,019 41,905 6,182 66,124 26,831 923,186
ERBE Exchange adjustments 8,856 17,448 43,934 3411 229 5,963 - 79,841
EXHAREHERN Loss of joint control over a jointly
HRmLE controlled entity (50,618) (37,632) (173,603) (8.923) = (16,559) = (286,335)
AEERE Provided for the year 54,122 118,802 282,706 24,098 1,101 46,723 - 527,552
LERHR Eliminated on disposals (5,544) (28,666) (2,795) (8,618) - (6,492) - (52,115)
WZF——%+-A=1+—H At31 December 2011 90,699 228,194 690,261 51,873 7512 96,759 26,831 1,192,129
Efax Exchange adjustments 238 283 1,101 194 10 156 - 1,982
EXUAREHER Loss of joint control over a jointly
SLREEHIE (H13536(c)) controlled entity (Note 36 (c)) (338) (602) (17,624) (1,039) (149) (587) = (20,339)
AEREB Provided for the year 79,561 134,221 378,783 50,486 3,389 71,217 - 7,717
ERHE Eliminated on disposals (161) (26,988) (4,086) (4,161) - (19,140) - (54,536)
W=F-—%+-F=F+—F At31 December 2012 169,999 335,108 1,048,435 97,353 10,762 148,465 26,831 1,836,953
REE CARRYING VALUES
WZF-Z4%+-A=1+—H At31 December 2012 2,058,939 1,363,325 10,130,463 140,108 42,704 424,523 3,562,017 17,712,079
WZZ——%F+-F=F+—F At31 December 2011 1,366,381 919,570 7,173,492 111,976 31,319 306,198 2,485,745 12,394,681

RZE—&£-H-H At 1 January 2011 1,284,562 883,437 5,524,764 90,783 8,027 267,930 1,814,493 9,864,496
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15. ¥ - BMERERE (&) 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

L BERKFBEE (EET
RERIN) AR AR A AR R E
EETRIRBERABRETAFTE -

HEME 25E40F kiR B
HE (HAEEE)

B - ezl 52204
B
MR EE 20%E30%F

REMREE 3124
THEMEEE IE5F4IEAH

TAH (HABRES)
bt 3; 104

AKEOBENKOELR L LY
-

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold properties 25 to 40 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter
Plant, machinery and 5 to 20 years
equipment
Gas pipelines 20 to 30 years
Furniture and fixtures 3to 12 years

Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter
Motor vehicles 313 to 10 years

The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on
land:

—E—_—fF —E——4F —E——%F
t=A=t-8 +-A=t+-= —A—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (E31)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEIRINAR EFEL Outside Hong Kong on
medium-term lease 2,058,939 1,366,381 1,284,562

R-TE——&F+-"A=+—8  K@A
42 {E /6,624,000 7T (Z T ——F+
— A=+ —H :208,976,000/% T &
—ZF——%—H—H :1,470,000%
TT) BE - BB RERED R
LEREETFTAEENRITEE (M
29) °

At 31 December 2012, property, plant and equipment with
an aggregate carrying value of HK$6,624,000 (31 December
2011: HK$203,976,000 and 1 January 2011: HK$1,470,000) are
pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group
(Note 29).
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16. RS HEAKIER 16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
AEBMBENBEARESERE T The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise of leasehold land
frm - situated:

—E——fF - —E——F
+=A=+-H +=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (E31)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEBFINAR AL Outside Hong Kong on
medium-term lease 1,183,307 973,596 937,489
ABEMABEMOTE Analysed for reporting purposes as
EMEEE Non-current assets 1,143,767 936,078 902,682
MBNEE Current assets 39,540 37,518 34,807
1,183,307 973,596 937,489
17. REYHE 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
FHT
HK$'000

2% COST

R—Z——%—HF—H At 1 January 2011 13,607

[ 5, A #E Exchange adjustments 1,778

U B A BT HI B B Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity 2,033

NE Additions 41,315

RN-ZE——F+=-A=+—8 At 31 December 2011 58,733

[ 5, A #& Exchange adjustments (14)

NE Additions 1,590

nN=F—==F=H=-F+—H At 31 December 2012 60,309

e DEPRECIATION

R—E——F—A—H At 1 January 2011 1,960

TE 5, 5 % Exchange adjustments 266

NEERE Provided for the year 1,988

N=—ZT——F+=-_f=+—H At 31 December 2011 4,214

PE 5 % Exchange adjustments 7

REEEE Provided for the year 2407

R-ZE——F+-_HA=+—H At 31 December 2012 6,628

REE CARRYING VALUES

R-_ZE——F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2012 53,681

R-ZE——F+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2011 54,519

RZZT——F—A—H At 1 January 2011 11,647
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17. REWME (&) 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
NEBAANLERAOTAFE AR All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
BMHESWRASIEE NG EA R Y to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
B EUKAEXGE Yo BEAR using cost model and are classified and accounted for as
BN o TE IR 4TS F 5 investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
LABAREM IR E MR © cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the

remaining terms of the leases.

R-BE——ER-_FT——F+=-fA= At 31 December 2012 and 2011, all of the Group’s investment
+—H  AEEMFBREYHELML properties are situated in the PRC with medium terms of leases.

KB - B &AL -

18. REtE N A fE = 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E2—=F =T =T
+=A=+—-B +ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&71) (E51)
(Restated) (Restated)
JEETRG  RAAR Unlisted shares, at cost 1,664,626 1,559,663 101,338
[EES Goodwill 3,482 3,482 3,482
FE(E W 18 % T Share of post-acquisition profits
REMEEUA and other comprehensive income,
ECRR ) ¢ net of dividend received 193,320 132,629 31,891
1,861,428 1,695,774 136,711
RIMEBK - AEBAHE QRFS Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting

BT FE46 © period are set out in Note 46.
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18. REtE AR (&)
B0 A 0 B 75 A R

NS

HE-T

—=H+ZA=t—HLFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

T~ associates is set out below:
= =% —T——F
t=A=t-B +=A=t+—H —A—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FET FHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEAE Total assets 12,530,946 8,098,438 1,186,677
maE Total liabilities (5,014,911) (3,950,244) (721,781)
BEFE Net assets 7,516,035 4,148,194 464,896
REBE (R ZE N A The Group’s share of net assets
BEFE of associates 1,857,946 1,692,292 133,229
WA Income 8,608,294 6,559,635
HX Expenses 8,147,808 6,157,586
ARF [E s 7 Profit for the year 460,486 402,049
Hib2mUlA Other comprehensive income 1,681 143,159
AREFEEE AT A & The Group’s share of profit and
EAth B 2 EA other comprehensive income
of associates 125,701 174,245
N 4 rL 3
19. A HEFERE 19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
—E-—F —E——%F —E——%F
+=—A=+—-8A +=A=+—8H —H—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHERT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
RPN EHRD Listed shares in the PRC,
BRAYE at fair value 7,924 10,099 26,484
R B IE EHAEAIRE - Unlisted equity investments
R in the PRC, at cost 18,429 26,843 23,490
26,353 36,942 49,974
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Continued)

The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair
value measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active
market.

The unlisted equity investments are measured at cost less
impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that
the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

20. GOODWILL

FAT
HK$'000
REE CARRYING VALUE
RZZE——F—A—H (F3)) At 1 January 2011 (restated) 969,197
BE 5 g% Exchange adjustments 11,903
U i H R ) = 82 Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity 479,601
RENEE KRR B BRI ME = Deemed acquisition of additional interests
in a jointly controlled entity 9,892
T ok 5 HE B4 I B B A 0 I A Loss of control over a jointly controlled entity (253,874)
R_ZE——F+=-A=+—8 At 31 December 2011 1,216,719
P X Exchange adjustments 434
U BB B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 450,641
RAEUEE LR F a8 E I MER Deemed acquisition of additional interests
in a jointly controlled entity 8,224
N-E——F+=-_A=+—H At 31 December 2012 1,676,018
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20. & (&)

HEBAHIRENEESG RS
AR ERZERAHZREEL
B iEEREANRANS - EBE
BEMBARKARZEHERABEL
MRS EEBMN - A B LR RER
2HIERRBNE [HE R HRAER
MBI RBEER] RIRRER] D
B BAERRE-—TOEERDH -
RERERE BENRAEZZRE
mUEATHE AR RARZEG TR
FREAHER

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
cash generating units (“CGUSs”") that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The management considers each
subsidiary and jointly controlled entity represents a separate
CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing. As the
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are engaged in both
“sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products” and “gas
connection” segments, the goodwill is not further allocated to
each segment. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amount of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from
the acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities as
follows:

—B—-F —F——F

2012 2011

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

(E%1)

(Restated)

mEMEMRIAR AR mEmEMERIAR AR 479,512 479,601

BMNEBREERAF BMNEBERRER QA 413,427 413,504

AEI China Gas Limited AEI China Gas Limited

([AEI China Gas]) (“AEI China Gas”) 324,474 =

RIZEHRRBRAA RZE BRI BRAA 131,324 131,348
EEEILERRRERAA EEELERRRBRAR

(rEssE ) (“Baoshan Gas”) 126,919 =

ZIHERRRBR AT ZIHERRRBR AR 34,318 34,324

B ZE IR TR D B R A A M 2R RAR D B IR A A 30,196 30,202

ARZE BRI ERAA ARZEBRRERAF 23,084 23,089

ELHRRER A A ELHRRER A A 15,274 15,277

RBERRABEREEAR REERRRAREEAR 11,620 11,624

BREBRRERAF BERERRRBR AT 10,964 10,966

HAth Others 74,906 66,784

1,676,018 1,216,719

ReEEB U KOS EIIRER
BEAEEAEE - SEERERNET
ERJ[A/FRE HERELEEBEE
ERANTAAZS) - EREIHMAA
RREBREELEMBENEER
B E MR AR TS A AT
KGR K - WREILE NIRRT
BFE - EERERKANEFH AR
BEEG RIFRTIS AR T

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and
direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes in the market.



20. & (&)

AEERBEREZEBIERBARK
PRSI NMBREE GHERIER
EMREREBN —RERY) KR
Ren8A - RiRaN\Fafbatig
R/ MBHB T LFENGHFER
ER0% (ZF——F: ENFR5%
KRR 0% ) HHE T 78 5 5 1% 4
MR ERE - RARSELEMN
BeRnBMANMBAERI0% (ZF
—— % 1 10%) - EERA - RER
RMEEBOEHELELRERSE
AREER BEERR ZERR
MEMSEAEEH I SERRSE
ABUNREAEBAZRASELE
7B A Ui [ > RE AR R

KEKBLRAEENMFE
450,641,000/ TLIRE F EEE T -
UNEERAASHAEEAREERAR
HETEK °

REBE-T——F+=-A=+—H1I
FE BEERR-_ZT——FEWEKN
B AR AR A EFEN A ERE
RRET  RBXkAHIEERAT
([Ex]) REHEHRIERA A
([BHEMR]) BMmE - BEREEZ
AFEERKEE ANSEYMEET - =
T-—FHLRETELET - B
A estRiE 8 & Wi R HED 5K -

REWREBH W - BERKRED
A F & # $1392,685,000/8 7T © K iE
TR B B (532 5198,170,00078 7T © 7
24 fE R 294,515,000 7T ° AR
BIMTE  ARAHEBABEEEC
T——F+-_A=+—HILFENS
I 7R 406,710,000 7T (30 & iR &
182,237,000 7T) © 1B R 5
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 4 years, which is the general development period for sales
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 8 years and 0%
for the remaining 7 years (2011: 5% for the first 8 years and
0% for the remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the
forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 10% (2011: 10%). In the
opinion of the directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill
on gas operation is identified at the end of the reporting period.
Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the aggregate carrying
amount of the CGU.

The determination of goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries amounting to HK$450,641,000 is based on a
provisional basis, awaiting the completion of the identification of
separable assets and valuation of the assets and liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the identification
and determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets
of subsidiaries acquired in 2011 has been completed and the
fair value of the property, plant and equipment of =& T2
BRAA (“Flemming”) and B#EBMABEE QA (“Chuxiong
Gas”) were greater than the original estimate made at the date
of acquisition. The comparative figures of 2011 have been
restated as if the initial accounting had been completed from the

respective dates of acquisitions.

The fair value of property, plant and equipment was increased
by HK$392,685,000 and deferred tax liability was increased by
HK$98,170,000 at the respective dates of acquisitions. There
was a corresponding reduction in goodwill of HK$294,515,000.
The profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 attributable to
owners of the Company was also decreased by HK$6,710,000
as a result of additional depreciation (net of deferred taxation of
HK$2,237,000). Details are set out in note 36(d) and (e).
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21, K& 21. OPERATING RIGHTS
FHET
HK$'000
2% COST
R-ZE—%F—H—H (&%) At 1 January 2011 (restated) 869,134
[ 5 SR Exchange adjustments 22,223
NE Additions 34,730
AR VR EE — R E Deemed acquisition of additional interest
BEREBEIMER in a jointly controlled entity 132
R-ZT—F+_-_A=+—H At 31 December 2011 926,219
bEE SR Exchange adjustments (2,094)
NE Additions 85,722
gl )= NS Acquisition of subsidiaries 60,622
R_E——HF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2012 1,070,469
ey AMORTISATION
R-ZZE——F—H—H (&%) At 1 January 2011 (restated) 135,126
BE 5, 2 Exchange adjustments 5,785
NEERME Provided for the year 34,051
RN-ZTE——F+_A=+—H At 31 December 2011 174,932
Rk Exchange adjustments (530)
NEE R Provided for the year 40,452
N-ZTE——F+=-A=+—8 At 31 December 2012 214,854
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZE——F+-_A=+—8H At 31 December 2012 855,615
R-ZB——F+=-A=+—8 At 31 December 2011 751,287
R_T——%—H—H At 1 January 2011 734,008

W EBBEHNEERTIABRER
fEFT AT A FH10=50F A sH -

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised
over the estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a
straight-line basis.
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HE-T

o B o e

A 22. INVENTORIES
—B—=F —E——%F —E——fF
+=-—BA=+—-R8A +=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHET FAET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
FEEME Construction materials 531,553 335,054 265,908
BIRK 5B Finished goods 215,786 129,225 53,911
747,339 464,279 319,819
FEUN B 5 BR X & H 1t FE IR 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E——F —E——%F —T——%F
+=—BA=+—-R8A +=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHET FAET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%) (E%))
(Restated) (Restated)
U E 5 BRI Trade receivables 2,081,725 1,068,059 631,238
W REREE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (18,535) (12,623) (9,079)
2,063,190 1,055,436 622,159
e RFER R Deposits and prepayments 1,452,540 1,585,790 1,196,238
fEd L FHEFIEELA)  Amount due from joint venturers
A EBHRIE of jointly controlled entities 525,746 178,657 =
H e R Other receivables 324,851 275,201 247,116
4,366,327 3,095,084 2,065,513

EWHERZEHEBHNE E B RIE
BERT - REEFHE4.08E (=
T——F+=ZA= H: 4298 K
—T——F—A— T) iR RAE
R—FREE -

F
_|_
H

Amounts due from joint venturers of jointly controlled entities are
unsecured, interest bearing at a fixed interest rate of 4.08% (31
December 2011: 4.29% and 1 January 2011: nil) per annum and
repayable within one year.

——H+ZA=t—HLFE
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23.

BE-F-—#t-A=+-ALEE

FE Uk & 5 BR R H 1 FE UK 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(#) (Continued)
AEEGTHESEFPHRESR % The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
A30KEI0OK - EHBRRRBENE days to its customers. The aged analysis of trade receivables,
WESEFRIERRENEZAH net of allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the
HIRREC D ITAN T - invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
—E-=F —T——F —T——%
+=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—8H —A—A8
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHERT FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
0— 90K 0 - 90 days 1,803,666 903,446 505,146
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 118,899 73,296 63,395
180K A = Over 180 days 140,625 78,694 53,618
2,063,190 1,055,436 622,159

R-ZE——F+-_A=1+—HHEK
BEERBENRSEBHSHARMTD
JiE U BR 3:259,524,000/8 T (= & —
—F+-HF=+—H 151,990,000
BLTRZZT—-——F—H—A8:
117,013,000 7T) - BREB ARG
kR 8 B EREE) - FH L &%
ERBEELRE AEBEWERZE
BRI A EREER o

EEHE YRR ENERE SRR ARE

Included in trade receivables as at 31 December 2012
are receivables of HK$259,524,000 (31 December 2011:
HK$151,990,000 and 1 January 2011: HK$117,013,000) which
are past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not
impaired as there has not been a significant change in the credit
standing of the debtors. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these receivables.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

—E——F —E——F —E——F

+=A=+-8B +=ZA=+—H —H—H

31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011

FExT FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(&%) (E%))

(Restated) (Restated)

91 — 180k 91 - 180 days 118,899 73,296 63,395
180K A Over 180 days 140,625 78,694 53,618
259,524 151,990 117,013




23. B E 5 BRI H ft UK

(&)
B89 1530 AR A0 P U 53 B SR

(%)

REERKEREE ATREIR - &RE
BEREBANERRRIRERERD
RHABERTHEMINES - A
RAEEHRERERS  WEERR
SEHAR - At - ARAREZRR/E
EEGAMBHERFIEHNRERE
Sh - BASITIEREERRE -

REREEEETEHEARSHE
Al B % B FE 5 BR 3 & 3£18,535,000
BT (ZE——F+=ZA=+—8:
12,623,000 LR —E——F—f—
H : 9,079,000/ T) - 2 FE# AL
FHETEENEERMBRAE - A&
B oK 5t % 5 R UK BR 3R 5 B (R (T 4R 3

o
g °
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired (continued)

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
amount of HK$18,535,000 (31 December 2011: HK$12,623,000
and 1 January 2011: HK$9,079,000) which have either been
placed under liquidation or are in financial difficulties. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these receivables.

REREEH Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E-CF —E——%F
2012 2011
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
n—A—H At 1 January 12,623 9,079
[ 5,2 Exchange adjustments 22 650
EERREEE Impairment loss recognised 5,890 2,894
Rt+t-—A=+—H At 31 December 18,535 12,623

——H+ZA=t—HLFE
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24. B " EENBEEAHNIE 24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR

IE CONTRACT WORK
—B--F —T——F —T——F
+=ZB=+—-B +ZRA=+—8H —H—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FHET FAET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
ELERNE LA M Contract costs incurred
B R Al plus profits recognised 1,292,868 926,758 594,491
W TIRER K Less: Progress billings (5,964,902) (3,668,658) (1,928,448)
(4,672,034) (2,741,900) (1,333,957)
TE2MMEITON - Analysis for reporting
purposes as:
BWERFEA#ITIEIAE Amounts due from customers
for contract work 838,189 696,810 446,985
ENEEANIENRE Amounts due to customers
for contract work (5,510,223) (3,438,710) (1,780,942)
(4,672,034) (2,741,900) (1,333,957)

25. Bl R EER A A 25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO AN INTERMEDIATE

K E#AKM B A RKIE HOLDING COMPANY AND FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES
BR-_Z——F+_-_A=+—HBEN Except for an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of
A R B A A 838241588 T (% HK$2,415,000,000 at 31 December 2012 which was non-trade
HEBFESHME - mEHR - BKRH nature, unsecured, interest bearing at prevailing Hong Kong
TEBRITRAZEREEMEFEL2E Interbank Offered Rate plus approximately 2% per annum and
FFERAREREER) I IEHE repayable on demand, all other amounts are non-trade nature,
MRIBBHEIFESNE  BER £ unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

BRANEREEE -
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26. RITHER BEABITE 26. BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED BANK
ES DEPOSITS
RITHBIETISFRNERETE3.5% (= The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from nil
T——F : TE35%) 5B ° t0 3.5% (2011: nil to 3.5%) per annum.
R=_ZTE—=—F+=-A=+—H " 817 At 31 December 2012, bank deposits of HK$95,480,000
15 3095,480,000/8 7 (=& — —F + (31 December 2011: HK$54,002,000 and 1 January 2011:
~—A=+—H : 54,002,000 T & — HK$14,875,000) are pledged as security for trade payable to a
T —— 4% — F — B 14,875,000/ supplier of natural gas. The pledged bank deposits carry interest
7T) BEERREREN — B RARMIE at market rates ranging from 0.4% to 2.25% (2011: 0.4% to
PEIH B E SRR ER - 2EME 2.25%) per annum.
1717 R IR T 3% & F| #0.4%%2.25%
(ZZ——% :0.4%%2.25%) +t & o
RZE——ZF+=ZA=+—H" R At 31 December 2012, bank balances and cash of
17 # #% K& IR ©10,858,232,000/8 HK$10,858,232,000 (31 December 2011: HK$5,544,576,000
T(Z2E——&%+=-_A=+—8: and 1 January 2011: HK$5,484,787,000) were denominated
5,544,576,0008 TR —T——F—H in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the
—H :5,484,787,0008 L) JIAAR international market. The exchange rate of RMB is regulated
BitE - ARBIDTAIEEETS S by the government and the remittance of these funds out of the
ARz EE - ARMEERXZHEK PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC
FHRERMPBIRIINEHZEES ST government.
EI| AR B BT e 0N & 71N BEE PR i 1 4
27. BRESERERREMESRK 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—E-CfF T ——F T ——%F
+=ZBA=+—-8B +ZA=+—H —A—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FExT FHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%) (E%))
(Restated) (Restated)
&I E SRR Trade payables 2,721,104 1,657,054 1,115,677
TR K Receipts in advance 1,990,538 1,348,064 1,835,336
Bz e Deposits received 701,671 583,803 501,282
W RE P E A7) Consideration payable for
ERRE acquisition of subsidiaries
(R K5E36) (see Note 36) - 186,343 -
HpEARIE Other tax payables, accrued
FEETE TA AN & staff costs and other operating
HEmgEmx expenses 826,144 697,317 702,503
6,239,457 4,472,581 4,154,798
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27. BHE SRR R HAM BT 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

(4&)
EREZERERNBEHRENEEH The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on
R IRE DT 25T - invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:
—2—=fF —T——F —T——%F
+=—A=+—-B +=ZA=+—8© —A—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FExT FAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (E31)
(Restated) (Restated)
0— 90K 0 - 90 days 2,303,746 1,338,210 678,033
91 — 180K 91 - 180 days 125,474 68,086 119,268
180K VA E Over 180 days 291,884 250,758 318,376
2,721,104 1,657,054 1,115,677
BENTHEEHA7TAE180K - & The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
SEEHIEMERRERER - AR to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
RRBBEERAZSERMERR - place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.
28. BB & 28. GOVERNMENT GRANTS
RZZE—ZF+=ZA=+—8H " BT At 31 December 2012, government grants of HK$135,371,000
#B)4£135,371,0008 7T (—T——4F (31 December 2011: HK$91,301,000 and 1 January 2011:
+=A=+—H 91,301,000 T & HK$83,006,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by PRC
—ZT——%—H—H : 83,006,000/ governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
) TERFBERNFEBRE RREDN acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction of
BB AERKEDE  BERZE gas pipelines.

B GERMRE BRI AR -
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29. RITRHEHMEE 29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
—2—-F —F——F —F——F
+=—B=+—H +—-—A=+—H —H—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011
FixT FAT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
RITER Bank loans 6,078,067 6,599,705 5,551,380
Hib & Other loans 113,794 91,884 205,734
6,191,861 6,691,589 5,777,114
B Secured 57,099 266,063 =
I Unsecured 6,134,762 6,425,526 5,777,114
6,191,861 6,691,589 5,777,114

REEMFRITREMEE The Group’s bank and other

AR AT B EE - borrowings are repayable
as follows:
BRBERH—FR On demand or within one year 239,314 1,677,164
ZR—FETBARSE More than one year, but not
exceeding two years 101,967 72,925
ZHMEENBBARE More than two years, but not
exceeding five years 5,501,792 4,736,552
ZRAFE More than five years 348,788 204,948
6,191,861 6,691,589
B BB Less: Amount due within
—F NI BRI FIE one year shown under
current liabilities (239,314) (1,677,164)

JERBAEMTN %  Amount due after one year shown
B HAR FRIB as non-current liabilities 5,952,547 5,014,425
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29. RITREMEE (&)

REBMRTREMEER

B RFR 1

BE-F-—#t-A=+-ALEE

(Continued)

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are

mr set out below:
BRFHN=E
Effective
interest rate —ET-——F —F——%F
per annum 2012 2011
FER FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
ELEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
I ARBIRITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 0.65% — 6.1% 358,143 263,683
ERMAREEMER  Unsecured RMB other loans 2.25% — 6.56% 98,867 76,139
BIEWARBIRTER  Secured RMB bank loans 4.95% - 9.18% 44,767 196,370
ELEERE Total fixed rate borrowings 501,777 536,192
FEEE Floating rate borrowings:
KA ARBIEITER - Unsecured RMB bank loans
P ARBITER at the People’s Bank of China
MEFE Base Rate 5.06% - 6.89% 238,478 189,959
B ITTIRITE R - Unsecured HKD bank loans
REEMBEARIT at margin plus HIBOR
EES/FSE S, 1.35% — 1.85% 5,424,347 5,880,000
ERABTHMER - Unsecured Euro other loans
RPEARRITER at 0.3% over the People’s
FIZE 110.3%H) Bank of China Base Rate
s 1.8% 14,927 15,745
AEMAREEITER - Secured RMB bank loans
& B A RIRATEAR at the People’s Bank of China
S-S Base Rate 4.95% - 7.11% 12,332 69,693
FREERE Total floating rate borrowings 5,690,084 6,155,397
BE®E Total borrowings 6,191,861 6,691,589




30. BERE

R-_ZE——FMARHB  ARAEE
= 4% W {H97.95%H) % 1T B B 1T A
% % /5750,000,000% 7T (8 & ®
5,818,890,0005% JT) ) & % = &
([BEEZE]) - BAZREREZEXRT
FA45%:T B WRAEF¥FELHM
—R R T _FMAMA
He BAZRAERRE  WIRERSF
FEL48%EE - RBEZT—Z=F+
Z—A=t+—BHLFE BEINRH
F B 52 5201,120,0008 7T (ZZ—
—4F ) o

BEZEBRIMEBZBSLFRSAA
RMABEMm - BEEBER=F —
—F+-_A=Z+—BWHAFEHR
it #) /5825,763,000% T (4 & R©
6,401,100,000/% T) * J3i&:Z H AL
TEEE -

AEBE AR EE D H B AR E
BRELRBEA S EN100%I0 FE 5T
RARNFE  BBmIFELSERMAE
BARE -
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30. SENIOR NOTES

On 5 April 2012, the Company issued senior notes with principal
amount of US$750,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at
an offer price of 97.95% of the face value of the notes (“Senior
Notes”). The Senior Notes bear coupon interest at 4.5% per
annum payable semi-annually in arrears and are due on 4 April
2022. The Senior Notes are unsecured and carry effective interest
rate of 4.8% per annum. Interest expenses of HK$201,120,000
(2011: nil) was charged to profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2012.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31
December 2012 was estimated at approximately US$825,763,000
(equivalent to HK$6,401,100,000), which was determined based
on the closing market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued
and unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.

- R e T
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31. HhRHAE

R=ZF—Z=ZF+=ZA=+—Hit A
E #ib & By & & & 5 IH £59,589,000
Br(Z2——%+=-A=+—8":
61,596,000 TR T ——F— A —
A : 59,030,000/ Jt) © A Uik ™
EBAGEEEENRIES AR
1D e

Ui B 88 T B MR AR A S R T N RIR AY
BB

BE-Z—HF+-A=1t—RLFE

31. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31 December 2012 is an
amount of HK$59,589,000 (31 December 2011: HK$61,596,000
and 1 January 2011: HK$59,030,000), representing non-current
portion of payables for acquisition of operating rights for city
pipeline network.

The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline
network are repayable as follows:

—g—=% ———i —z——%

+=A=+-A +=A=+-~ —A—~

31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011

FER FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

—FUA Within one year 18,005 13,380 8,865

SR —FETBBMF

More than one year, but not
exceeding two years 9,486 8,501 5,021

ENES R h RS More than two years, but not
exceeding five years 48,984 40,727 38,175
ZRAF More than five years 1,119 12,368 15,834
77,594 74,976 67,895
B mEBAERETA Less: Amount due within one
EBHE SRR year included in trade
H At SRR and other payables
—F AR 8 RIE shown under current
liabilities (18,005) (13,380) (8,865)
JERBEaEMTRN—%  Amount due after one year shown
E|HRRy RIE as non-current liabilities 59,589 61,596 59,030

ZEREDRTRESRENE - T
ERAMITEEERNER A A30FH
ERFRR59E (ZFT——4F:59
Z) -

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 5.9% (2011: 5.9%) per annum for a term
of 30 years.

RZE—=—F+=-A=+—HrEM
KRB ERE %% 562,520,000
BITHRE(ZE—F+ZA=+
—H 162,532,000 =T ——F
—A—8: %) MxE - BARKE
WMEBARREAR T —NFLNHE
ERE (RMFES6) ©

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31 December 2012 is an
amount of HK$62,520,000 (31 December 2011: HK$62,532,000
and 1 January 2011: nil), representing deferred consideration for
the acquisition of a subsidiary repayable in 2014 (see Note 36).
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32. IEIER 1B

NTRAFERAEFETRCHER
EREFRIREE (AF) REZH :

32. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
RAEEF
iz HENB Hity
BUEFE Withholding TEER
Accelerated ReE tax on Other
tax Operating undistributed temporary &t
depreciation rights profits differences Total
FET FET FET FET FHT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZT——F At 1 January 2011
—A—8 (&%) (restated) (309,753) (131,005) (30,000) 64,962 (405,796)
kS Exchange adjustments (19,491) (7,375) - 2,469 (24,397)
FRERE Credit (charge) for
() the year 7,883 11,558 (18,000) 12,310 13,751
RAEMEE LR Deemed acquisition of
T B BREIMER additional interests in a
jointly controlled entity - - - 1,585 1,585
WEEH B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries (98,170) = = = (98,170)
Wi L FEFIER  Acquisition of a jointly
controlled entity (65,942) - - - (65,942)
5 RS AR Loss of control of a jointly
Ty e controlled entity 82,198 - - (3,203) 78,995
RZE——F At 31 December 2011
+=A=+-8 (403,275) (126,822) (48,000) 78,123 (499,974)
BE 5 AR Exchange adjustments 232 65 - 356 653
FA(ZH) &= (Charge) credit for the year (15,720) 11,788 (12,449) 4,623 (11,758)
WEEHB AR Acquisition of subsidiaries (98,613) = = 8,102 (90,511)
e S HEEE Loss of control of a jointly
TR controlled entity 69,029 - - - 69,029
R-E——F At 31 December 2012
+-A=+-8 (448,347) (114,969) (60,449) 91,204 (532,561)




1 5941 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED | Annual Report 2012

RE ISR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2012 HE-Z——F+-A=1+—HLFE

32. IEEH A (&)

32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

BB MDTAT Analysed for reporting purpose as:

—E-=F —E——%F —E——fF

t=A=t-B +=A=+-H —A—A

31.12.2012 31.12.2011 1.1.2011

FExT FHET FHT

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(&%) (E75)

(Restated) (Restated)

EETHIBEE Deferred tax assets 191,682 124,329 133,623
EIEFIIA A & Deferred tax liabilities (724,243) (624,303) (539,419)
(532,561) (499,974) (405,796)

R-ZFE—=—F+=-—A=+—H ' K
= B B K &) A B8 E515227,301,000
BT (ZE——F+=ZA=+—8:
192,773,000/ 7T ) AJHE 88 R A m A1 ©
B A 2R 2R ) SO B LA RE TE - ARE A
HERBERRECHBEE - W=
E——FR-FT——F+ZRA=1+—
BHRREBEEERRFELERFN
E

—E—Z—f+ZRA=+—8"
i A ERECEHEE G B
RAIARDKBNEEANEREZRER
1,263,286,0007% oL (= T — — F ¢
971,044,000 7T) - A& B AE1E
HlE R EEN RS EZEEER
A RS SR AT g N [ 48 - B R L X
EEBEREE -

hEillbs

N

At 31 December 2012, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$227,301,000 (31 December 2011: HK$192,773,000) available
to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. The tax losses at 31 December 2012 and
2011 will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31 December 2012, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$1,263,286,000 (2011: HK$971,044,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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33. B 33. SHARE CAPITAL
REE R EE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHET
HK$'000
HAR0.108 THIAR A Shares of HK$0.10 each
ETE Authorised:
RZE——F—H—H At 1 January 2011, 31 December 2011 and
—T——F+=A=+—H 31 December 2012
kT
+=—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRER Issued and fully paid:
R-_E——F—HF—H At 1 January 2011 1,831,094,933 183,109
RAEFHRRIEFRIE R Issue of shares upon combination of
ZEITR D (MisEa) entities under common control (Note a) 161,174,785 16,118
R-E—F+-_HA=+—8H At 31 December 2011 1,992,269,718 199,227
UREE AR B A Bl A E A Issue of shares upon acquisition of additional
B EITIRD (M5EDb) interest in a subsidiary (Note b) 71,741,153 7,174
B EMRH, (FisEe) Placing of shares (Note c) 160,000,000 16,000
R-E——F+-_HF=+—H At 31 December 2012 2,224,010,871 222,401

RAFEEEFTHRARE AN S
YRR A RTRGZERS S -

G

(a)

(b)

BER-_FT——FtHA=+=H
FUMEEHE AEEURE
1,930,874,0007% 7T I BE FE = 69 100%
MRARER - ZREDEBE % RHE
TARRTN61,174,785 KRB KD
B REROR=Z—FNAEA
PAFR%11.987 T T LAZET ©

R-ZE——F_F Z&EBEURE
805,288,000 7T U & Ff /& A 7] &P
M EE R R 1D A PR A 7] ([ 854 MR
) MEIMER - BEBBMRK
BB EHAR ErTiehr - R
{8 DA 3R £16,957,000/%8 7T & i i@ e
% % 31T 4ATE {E788,331,000/% JT Ky
71,741,153 A A AR ER D A -
KRB D IR TFHRESTRK10.99% T
BT o

The new shares issued during the year rank pari passu in all
respects with the existing shares in issue.

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement entered into on 22 July
2011, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in Wang Gao for a
consideration of HK$1,930,874,000. The consideration was satisfied
in full by the allotment and issue of 161,174,785 consideration
shares in the Company. The consideration shares were issued on
5 September 2011, at which time the share price was HK$11.98 per
share.

(b) In February 2012, the Group acquired additional interest in a
subsidiary, ) ZEERRKMH BB A F (“Zhengzhou Gas”), for a
consideration of HK$805,288,000 for the purpose of the privatisation
and withdrawal of the listing of H shares of Zhengzhou Gas. The
consideration was satisfied by cash of HK$16,957,000 and the
allotment and issue of 71,741,153 consideration shares in the
Company of HK$788,331,000. The consideration shares were issued
at an average share price of HK$10.99 per share.
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33. BA (&)

MisE : (48)
() MRZZT—=ZF+—A=Z+H &R (c)

AIE#EERAFICRH (Gas) Limited
([CRH (Gas)|) kAR A HAE R
BiIIVRERABEHE  BULEE
RIBIZEEESK16.955 T &
CRH (Gas)FfT# 4 #)160,000,000/%
WERND FETELARA - BRI
B & kREW# - CRH (Gas)R &
160,000,000/% £ Fic. &5 A% 17 21 B 48 R
BETAR 1 - B &G BRI IR (10
KREEXBARARIMNAR) #FxE
RAREEEZHE TR TRRRD
SHEER

34. LR ZTNR S
(i) AATUBRKEHNWERETS (i)
RZTZE—F+—A=+~8"
RAREIER—NNAMNE+ A+
T B ER AN i AR A 5T B0 BRAN T
AR E ([ZErEl)) - R
ST _F-A=+—H  ARQ7A
/S IR Rt RS 5T 25T &l -
BB RSB EN 2 H
EZHEE - N—_TTN\FE=RE
H  ARBIE&IEZETE -

ZAT BB 2 EEHNEIE
HE RIS B 2 83 & A&
DA B AREEERRR - 2
HESREFI2ERATHAE
EEMKEARINEMES (K
EAZBREZEREEE) FE
MES : AAEEEFKE AT
BEENEEK N2 HEETTN
ER2RETER  AEEEM
RERBMEBRER  £%%
B - B S H A R A A0 (R AR T B
ABZEES (REMEHEREME
RITBAEREERE)  A&E
BB ARMERMERRR - AR
AESRTEMROEMBEA
T URAR R EERRAEM
BEXZETEZRRNMBAR
g2 AR EMES -

=+—BLLFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

On 20 November 2012, CRH (Gas) Limited (“CRH (Gas)"), the
Company’s immediate holding company, and the Company entered
into a placing and subscription agreement with the placing
agent pursuant to which the placing agent placed 160,000,000
existing shares at a price of HK$16.95 per share owned by CRH
(Gas) to certain independent places. Pursuant to the placing and
subscription agreement, CRH (Gas) subscribed for 160,000,000
new shares equivalent to the number of the placing shares. The
proceeds from the placing of shares, net of professional fees and
out-of-pocket expenses, will be used principally for acquisition of
more downstream city gas distribution businesses in the PRC.

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s equity-settled share option schemes

On 26 November 2001, the Company terminated the share
option scheme adopted on 15 October 1994 and adopted a
new share option scheme (the “Scheme”). On 21 February
2002, upon approval of the Company’s shareholders, the
Company amended the Scheme to widen the scope of
participants that are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
On 5 March 2008, the Company terminated the Scheme.

The purpose of the Scheme was to promote dedication
by its participants and to encourage its participants to
perform their best in achieving the goals of the Group. The
participants are any directors (or any persons proposed
to be appointed as such) and employees of each member
of the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employees or directors of each
member of the Group; any executives or employees of any
business consultants, business partners, professionals
and other advisers to each member of the Group (or
any persons proposed to be appointed as such); any
substantial shareholders of the member of the Group; any
associates of the director or substantial shareholders of the
Company; and any employees of the Company’s substantial
shareholders or any employees of such substantial
shareholders’ subsidiaries or associated companies, as
absolutely determined by the board of directors.
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=/

RIBZA BT HORB AR E LA
BEARGD BB NSENR LB
Wtz HERRT 14 o WA TR
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R BREATREZR-_TN\R
RERLBN1ET - BEER
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HERRODEMZAETRRER
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(M

The Company’s equity-settled share option schemes
(Continued)

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option of the Scheme shall not be later than 10 years
from the date the option is granted. There is no minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. An amount of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the option within 28 days from its date of grant. The
subscription price is the highest of (i) the closing price of
the share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant, (ii) a price being the average
of the closing prices of the share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant and (iii) the
nominal value of a share. The Scheme is valid for 10 years
from 26 November 2001. No further options may be granted
pursuant to the Scheme after 25 November 2011.

Share options generally either become fully vested and
exercisable within a period of 10 years immediately after the
date of grant or become vested over a period of time up to
a maximum of three years after the acceptance of a grant.

Options granted to a grantee become lapsed if the grantee
ceased to be an eligible participant before the options
become vested.
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34. URGBZMNHREZ (&) 34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(i) ADFEUBRSREENBERESTE (i) The Company’s equity-settled share option schemes
(%) (Continued)
Bt R R B Details of the movements of share options granted under
BT the Scheme are as follows:
BREHE
Number of share options
R=2——=%F
R=ZB—=F RER +=A
—HB—H R Sqr=|g
TEE i RATHE Lapsed i RATHE
Exercise Outstanding during Outstanding
REBAH Date of grant price at 1.1.2012 the year at 31.12.2012
BT
HK$
—EE—EmANHE 9.4.2002 8.20 186,000 (186,000) =
—TTMNF—A+=H 13.1.2004 9.06 2,000 - 2,000
188,000 (186,000) 2,000
AT FERIT{E Exercisable at the end
of the year 2,000
IR HITEE Weighted average
(B7T) exercise price (HK$) 8.21 8.20 9.06
n-g——%
—A—HR
—E——F
+=A=+-—H
8 RATRERY
BREZE
Number of

share options
outstanding

TEE at 1.1.2011
Exercise and
REBAH Date of grant price 31.12.2011
BT
HK$
—TT-FWAIA 9.4.2002 8.20 186,000
—ZETWNE—-A+=H 13.1.2004 9.06 2,000
188,000
AR ELRITIE Exercisable at the end of the year 188,000
IREFEHITEE (BT) Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 8.21
BE_ZE——EN-_T——%F+ During the two years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, the
“A=+—BIMEAEE A& Group has not recognised any expense relating to share-based
B AMANT DS ERES payment transactions in respect of the share options granted by

BE 0 LARR 15 32 15 B0 58 5 H9 B S e the Company.
RBARR ©
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R-Z—FE=A+KE AR
A R B ST - 1A
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B 4 & K16.3078 7t (= T —
F:11.828 m) M H
££6,893,520% % 7 (= & —
— & :7,741,4960% B 7) °
PEZERMOMERESR
112,366,000/ 7T (= T — —
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BE2HHETFTAEENE TR
8 - HEARIERGE 2ERAR
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i)

On 1 December 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award
Scheme”) as an incentive to retain and encourage the
employees for the continual operation and development of
the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares
of the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the
market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held
in trust for the selected employees until such shares are
vested with the selected employees. No restricted shares
will be granted if the aggregate number of restricted
shares awarded throughout the duration of the scheme to
be in excess of the 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company at the adoption date of the scheme. The maximum
number of restricted shares which may be awarded to a
selected employee under the Incentive Award Scheme
shall not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

On 16 March 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares
will be awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds
generated from disposal of the restricted shares held by
the trustee for the awards made under the Incentive Award
Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, 6,893,520
shares (2011: 7,741,496 shares) were disposed of by the
trustee to the market at an average price of approximately
HK$16.30 (2011: HK$11.82) per share. The proceeds from
disposal of those shares amounted to HK$112,366,000
(2011: HK$91,489,000). The whole amount of the proceeds
was distributed to certain employees of the Group, with
an equivalent expense recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as employee benefits
during the year. The difference of HK$87,398,000 (2011:
HK$63,388,000) between the cost of the shares and the
proceeds was credited to retained profits.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees
pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme.

) R A e e A
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35. RIKEFIFHE 35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

'

7N & H A i 2 AR S B R IR FR A
BRI B R R E R KA B ([BE
RARBEETE L) - A RIBE RS ATE
SHEPIRIZHEEIEDEREE (58
BeiE)) ZEEAMNEERR
SENEESRRE  YAXTEAE
B WESNBRESEARIANDE
AR RNREEHKE - AIA
BEBRERABERKIRERTEINE
M2 maEests  MR_TTTF
ToA—HRZEMBAREENAE
HiEEHELMATERE -

BRRAREABIREBES RAE
EREEEAFENHETEI L (R
FA e B A S B 6 AR5 A #f E)
FAEHHER - fMiE 8 & IE H5R
AR B SR INR B 5T 8 - BIOR UK
B4 TR A R F00R AN SR R A RO
o FR - BERIE T XA BRI
TR (ZF——F &) -

ERRELFERKETH  AEEE
5B B 1R B M ry5% M % At Sl F 4t
K A RREEINE RE 5% 4

T
A °©

R-B-——FR_T——F+_H=
+— B WEEFAERL RS ATA
YRR AR SR EF L RO FE AT 45K o

HEl

AEBWFTRER SHEML TR
EMBRERRANBANETENKE -
REBEBREF RN ANIEEB DLW
RARBAET B MR EMiRftR
RAEH  AEEE R ZF RGN
pomE— B ERIEHIEEMMK -

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO
Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were
offered a choice of staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching
to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the
Group on or after 1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner in respect of the year
(2011: nil).

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contribution is
matched by the employees.

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions.
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2012

(a)

In July 2012, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in AEI
China Gas, which is principally engaged in operation of city
gas pipelines, gas selling and distribution and operation of
compressed natural gas, liquefied natural gas and liquefied
petroleum gas stations in the PRC from an independent
third party for a cash consideration of approximately
US$236,672,000 (equivalent to HK$1,857,946,000).
Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company’s
announcement on 16 May 2012. The transaction has been
accounted for using the acquisition method.

RUEE B 5
ERRLE
(HEE%E)
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
(provisional
basis)
FHET
HK$'000
BB N R R R BRI E E R E Net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired:
SEmBIEE Non-current assets 1,984,793
mENE E Current assets 605,255
mEIAE Current liabilities (794,452)
FERBAE Non-current liabilities (205,850)
1,589,746
NREZNHEERENRE Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 1,857,946
70 : AEI China Gasis B KB F]H Plus: Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
FEFEPR MRS held by AEI China Gas 56,203
W BREEREE Less: Net assets acquired (1,589,746)
WREENEE (BEREE) Goodwill arising on acquisition (provisional basis) 324,403
WEMBARNHRERREEE Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
TRHEFEAAT - in respect of acquisition of a subsidiary:
BEANRERE Cash consideration paid (1,857,946)
FriSiRITRB RIS Bank balances and cash acquired 280,488
(1,577,458)
BRBEEAERABNATERE The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, goodwill

BEREEEEETE - UFER
A D REEEARATHRIEE
R EEHETK -

WEERE—_T——F+_-_A=
+T—BHE BRETEHAE
BEXBERaMNERD A
743,901,000/ 7T % 46,699,000
PBIT e

have been determined on a provisional basis, awaiting
the completion of the identification of separable intangible
assets and valuation of the identifiable assets and liabilities.

The acquiree contributed turnover of HK$743,901,000 and
profit of HK$46,699,000 to the Group for the period between
the date of acquisition and 31 December 2012.
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36. WHBFKI B E (&)
BE-—Z—_—F+-A=+—HL#TF

(b) RZZT—=—FA XEEMUR (b)
ERELHARE111,167,0007T
(#8511 136,735,0007 7T ) M58
VE=ZHFWEELRR (HEH
ERERERERBREEEL)
B2 IARE - BEREXSERAK

=+—BLLFE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Continued)

In June 2012, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Baoshan Gas, which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas
and connection of gas pipelines, from an independent
third party for a cash consideration of approximately
RMB111,167,000 (equivalent to HK$136,735,000). The
transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition

AN - method.
RS B 58
ERALHE
(BEE%)
Amounts
recognised
at the date
of acquisition
(provisional
basis)
FHET
HK$'000
BB N RR R BRI E E R E Net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired:
EMEBEE Non-current assets 8,551
mBEE Current assets 70,855
mEaE Current liabilities (68,788)
JEMBAE Non-current liabilities (121)
10,497
NIRRT MEEZENKE Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 136,735
W BEREEERE Less: Net assets acquired (10,497)
WHEEEEE (BEEE) Goodwill arising on acquisition (provisional basis) 126,238
WERBARMNRE MIREEE Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
A RRE AT in respect of acquisition of a subsidiary:
BENBEeRE Cash consideration paid (136,735)
BURIBIRITEREIR S Bank balances and cash acquired 54,033
(82,702)

BUBEEMABRNRFERE
EREREEEEBT  AHER
AoRETEEAKLABAIEE
RABHETRK -

WEARE—_T——F+_-_A=
+—BHIM BB FEARE
BEEmafnaro sl A
74,164,000/ 7t & 1,909,000/
=

The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired, and
goodwill have been determined on a provisional basis,
awaiting the completion of the identification of separable
intangible assets and valuation of the identifiable assets
and liabilities.

The acquiree contributed turnover of HK$74,164,000 and
profit of HK$1,909,000 to the Group for the year between
the date of acquisition and 31 December 2012.
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Continued)

(c)

BRIEEBMRAAERARE (“Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas”)
was 70% held by the Group and 30% by the other joint
venturer. It was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity
as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions
must be approved by two-third of the members of the board
of directors (the “Threshold”) in Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas
whereby the number of members nominated to the board
of directors by the Group did not meet the Threshold. In
January 2012, the shareholders of Nanjing Jiangning CR
Gas passed a resolution which then led to the amendment
of the memorandum of association and the joint venture
agreement in which the number of directors which can be
nominated by the other joint venturer has been reduced.
Upon the change of board composition, the number of
members nominated to the board of directors by the Group
can meet the Threshold, and accordingly the Group is able
to control the strategic financial and operating decisions, at
which time, Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas became a subsidiary
of the Company.
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Continued)

E (&)
(c) (#&) (c) (Continued)
FAT
HK$'000
B RIS E MR RN ES Fair value of net identifiable assets of
S BRI #R & EFE Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas acquired at
B AFERET : the date of obtaining control are as follows:
ME - BB NERE Property, plant and equipment 1,085,113
T8 Inventories 37,608
FEUE 5 B 30 B H b FE UK Trade and other receivables 110,621
RITHEBRIRS Bank balances and cash 59,793
FES B 5 BR 3k R EL A FE A 3R Trade and other payables (28,025)
eI Taxation payable (2,891)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (37,005)
RIEFIBAE Deferred tax liabilities (98,613)
1,126,601
BRI EEBRRSAR An analysis of assets and liabilities of Nanjing
NEERBHREILLFIERER Jiangning CR Gas previously proportionately
BERBEN consolidated in the Group’s financial statements
DT - is as follows:
ME - BB K&E Property, plant and equipment 759,579
FE Inventories 26,326
FEULE 5 Bk 51 K E Ath B UK Trade and other receivables 77,434
RITHER LIRS Bank balances and cash 41,855
FE B 5 BR 3k B E M R AT 3R Trade and other payables (19,618)
FERTTRIE Taxation payable (2,024)
BITREMEER Bank and other borrowings (25,904)
RIEFIIE A & Deferred tax liabilities (69,029)
788,619
s RIS EERER Results on the acquisition of Nanjing Jiangning
FIEAERER CR Gas:
EWEBEEFE Net assets acquired 1,126,601
SRR BIARE KT EE Net assets previously proportionately consolidated (788,619)
eI =R Non-controlling interests (337,982)
Wi L 2= 2 B R 8 Analysis of net cash inflow of cash and cash
ReRRSFETA equivalents in respect of the acquisition of
SREDT Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas:
FsiRTEBR RS Bank balances and cash acquired 59,793
FRRLL AR & B RITAE R ) Bank balances and cash previously
B proportionately consolidated (41,855)

17,938
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011

(d)

On 31 March 2011, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest in Flemming, which is an investment holding with
subsidiaries engaged in the construction, infrastructure
design and operating of city gas pipelines, gas facilities
repair and maintenance, technical support, gas selling and
distribution, construction of natural gas station production of
liquefied natural gas, the provision of related requirements,
apparatus and other ancillary services, from independent
third parties for a cash consideration of approximately
RMB352,950,000 (equivalent to HK$420,394,000). Details of
the acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcement
on 16 March 2011. The transaction has been accounted for
using the acquisition method.

At the date of acquisition, goodwill of HK$256,249,000
has been determined provisionally based on the net
identifiable assets of Flemming. During the year ended 31
December 2012, the identification and determination of fair
values of the net identifiable assets acquired have been
completed. The following adjustments have been made to
retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognised at
the date of acquisition.

HE_ZT——F+_A=T—RHLFE
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36. WEEHIE AR (&) 36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BE-_Z——+=-A=+—HL#H For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)
) (&) (d) (Continued)
R B 5
ERALHE MR
(HEE%E) 04PN
Amounts HWAFE
recognised Fair value
at the date of upon
acquisition AFEFAZE completion of
(provisional Fair value acquisition
basis) adjustments accounting
FHT FHxT FHxT
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
(&%) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
BUEHTE QA8 AT B]  Net identifiable assets of
BEFE : the subsidiaries acquired:
W% - BE K& Property, plant and equipment 273,907 341,665 615,572
TEfS AR Prepaid lease payments 4,125 = 4,125
NG o Interests in associates 8,905 = 8,905
T8 Inventories 738 - 738
FEUE 5 BRI Trade and other receivables
H b & YR 35,211 - 35,211
RITER MR ® Bank balances and cash 56,352 - 56,352
B SRR K Trade and other payables
H At TR (107,553) - (107,553)
FERTTRIE Taxation payable (7,355) = (7,355)
EREFRIEA & Deferred tax liabilities = (85,416) (85,416)
BITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings (56,634) = (56,634)
207,696 256,249 463,945
NBEZHWE R Consideration transferred, satisfied
RE by cash 210,197
FERIRAB Consideration payable:
— AR —included in other payables in
+=—A=+—H current liabilities as at 31
BB EA R December 2011 and settled
HAb R R during the year ended 31
REE-_T——%F December 2012
+TZA=+—H1
FERNER 147,665
—FFAEMRIAE —included in other long-term
(B =T —m4 liabilities (payable in 2014)
=) 62,532
o JEIERRiER Plus: Non-controlling interests 43,551
B BWEFEE Less: Net assets acquired (463,945)
WIS EAR S Goodwill arising on acquisition -
WEHBATMIES KR  Analysis of net outflow of cash
ReFERD and cash equivalents in respect of
HRADMT ¢ acquisition of subsidiaries:
BESAE Cash consideration paid (210,197)
FSRITESRNIRS Bank balances and cash acquired 56,352

(153,845)




36. WHBFKI B E (&)
HE-_Z——F+-A=+—HL#HF

R=ZZFE——F+—ANA"
AEBUNREREHDAR
#63,000,0007T (H & K
77,356,0007%% jT) M B L F =
FlEEERE (EEHERL
RAREEBREE) 60%KR A%
o BARSERYEEAN

RUE B - R ERE AR
HREEFERETEEETN
%% 538,266,000/8 7T - REZE
T —F+-RA=+—HItF
B BEREAHBIEEFENRD
FEERKTEBEK - THHA
BTHFUEE B HFMERNE RS
REFT{ER B AZE o

For the year ended 31st December, 2012
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)

(e)

On 8 November 2011, the Group acquired 60% equity
interest in Chuxiong Gas, which is engaged in sales
of liquefied gas and connection of gas pipelines, from
an independent third parties for a cash consideration
of approximately RMB63,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$77,356,000). The transaction has been accounted for
using the acquisition method.

At the date of acquisition, goodwill of HK$38,266,000 has
been determined provisionally based on the net identifiable
assets of Chuxiong Gas. During the year ended 31
December 2012, the identification and determination of fair
values of the net identifiable assets acquired have been
completed. The following adjustments have been made to
retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognised at
the date of acquisition.

——H+ZA=t—HLFE
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36. WIBKIB AR (&)

BE-_Z——F+-A=+—HL#%F

BE-F-—#t-A=+-ALEE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2011 (Continued)

E (&)
(e) (#&) (e) (Continued)
R B 5
SRttt ] R5ER
(HEE%E) WEARER
Amounts HAFE
recognised Fair value
at the date of upon
acquisition AFEFAZE completion of
(provisional Fair value acquisition
basis) adjustments accounting
FHET FHET FAT
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
(&%) (E%)
(Restated) (Restated)
UK B AR Net identifiable assets of the
Al BB EFE - subsidiary acquired:
ME - WE K &RE Property, plant and equipment 57,405 51,020 108,425
TEfS A IR Prepaid lease payments 13,339 = 13,339
e E SRR Trade and other receivables
H A FEUGK 23,330 = 23,330
RITHEB KRR S Bank balances and cash 581 = 581
BB SEZR K Trade and other payables
H At FERT R (34) = (34)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (29,469) = (29,469)
RIEREA R Deferred tax liabilities - (12,754) (12,754)
65,152 38,266 103,418
NReS e EE Consideration transferred, satisfied
KB by cash 38,678
ERRE : Consideration payable:
— 5t ARZZE—%F - included in other payables
+=—A=+—8 in current liabilities as at 31
REEEND December 2011 and
H AR ER settled during the year
BE-_T——&F ended 31 December 2012
+ZA=+—H1t
FENEE 38,678
o SERERRiE SR Plus: Non-controlling interests 26,062
B BREBFEE Less: Net assets acquired (103,418)
WHEE £ R E Goodwill arising on acquisition =
WEEMBARMIRS KR Analysis of net outflow of cash
REFEEMD and cash equivalents in respect
FREAM of acquisition of subsidiary:
BEfReRE Cash consideration paid (38,678)
FISsRT RIES Bank balances and cash acquired 581

(38,097)
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37. WEEHEEHERE 37. ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES

RZE——F=f AKEURSE In March 2011, the Group acquired 49% equity interest in FE&
K & A K %#698,000,0007T (18 & 7
792,987,0008 7T) MBI E =7 UE
MEMMRERAR (RFEHER
ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁmﬁﬁi‘%) 49% 1) i 2
s c BRAXSHEAWEEANE -

MR AERAF], which is engaged in sales of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines, from an independent third party
for a cash consideration of RMB698,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$792,987,000). The transaction has been accounted for using
acquisition method:

AEE RS
Wi B
ERALE
Amounts
recognised

at the date

of acquisition
attributable
to the Group

FAET
HK$'000

AEERRELEWIERLR Fair value of net identifiable assets of jointly controlled

A RIE E A EFEE entity acquired attributable to the Group’s interest:

Y - BE KK Property, plant and equipment 488,514

FENELFIE Prepaid lease payments 14,677

B Investment properties 2,033

A ERE Available-for-sale investments 8,195

FE Inventories 10,757

FEUS R 5 PR 3k B EL A R MR R Trade and other receivables 44,595

BRIRIRITIF R Pledged bank deposits 5,417

RITHEBRRBR® Bank balances and cash 19,238

FET B 5 BR 5k B2 EL A FE 5K Trade and other payables (173,082)

FES R IE Taxation payable (1,428)

RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (31,998)

HibRE ARG Other long term liabilities (7,590)

BEFRIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (65,942)

313,386

N —ZFRERSTMH Consideration transferred, satisfied by deposits

Eﬁiaéfﬂgﬁ for investments in 2010 792,987
W BEEEEE Less: Net assets acquired (313,386)
Ui B A B P Goodwill arising on acquisition 479,601
U B [R50 1) B A2 A Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

RekBEeEE in respect of acquisition of a jointly controlled

AR T entity
FERekREE Cash and cash equivalents acquired 19,238
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37.

38.

e year ended 31st December, 2012 HE—Z

WIBHEIZEFIER (&)

o B A B E R MR B B A FAE
To R S AT E A S AR A
B TTRHEEH -

WERASHE—"T——F+-A=1+—
HER  WREIHAEEEEER
& 1) 89 & Bi 9 5l £140,308,0007% 7T
%:.13,638,000/% 7T °

HREHINOREER LBEFHEE
HIZK AR e/ - Wil
£ RETHER  UWRAREHE
BOEHN - ARZENEL TS

ARAIEVEENEREE  HEE
)23 30 J5 L 7 B ) B R

EARHARZEFERALREE
il
BEBAREREETE RN M
& RZZE——F=ZA EEMRK
(£8) BRAR ([EEBRR]) BBk
RAB-—ERER BITEEREX
o Ik (HhafE) BEASERE
AL DRI EEMRRATA REEH
%&W%&%L&—ﬁﬂ " H (B K o
At AEBETBEREHEERR
@mﬁmﬁﬁmiﬁ%%ﬂomﬁi
HFE I E B A& @ /25% 55 &
EEERKRNWFEENT ¢

37.

38.

—=H+ZA=t—HLFE

ACQUISITION OF JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)

The fair values of net identifiable assets at the date of acquisition
are based on the valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal
Limited, an independent valuer.

The acquiree contributed HK$140,308,000 to the Group’s
turnover and HK$13,638,000 to the Group’s profit for the period
between the date of acquisition and 31 December 2011.

The consideration paid for the combination effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce of the jointly controlled entity. These benefits were not
recognised separately from goodwill because they did not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

LOSS OF JOINT CONTROL OVER A JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITY

For the purpose of the preparation for future initial public
offering in the PRC, the shareholders of EEMREA (£E)HRAA]
(“Chongqging Gas”) passed a resolution to amend its
memorandum of association in February 2011 in which, among
others, the terms requiring unanimous consent of the Group and
the other joint venturer on all of strategic financial and operating
decisions of Chongging Gas has been removed. Accordingly,
the Group no longer has joint control but retains significant
influence over Chongging Gas. The net assets of Chongging Gas
attributable to the Group’s interest of 25% at the date of loss of
joint control were as follows:
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38. LOSS OF JOINT CONTROL OVER A JOINTLY

HHE (2) CONTROLLED ENTITY (Continued)
FAET
HK$'000
EEMRLAINAER An analysis of assets and liabilities of Chongging
IS MR IR L PR & Gas that were previously proportionately
BERBEN consolidated in the Group’s financial statements
DA - are as follows:
Yz - WE R Property, plant and equipment 937,737
T L FIE Prepaid lease payments 98,453
AIREHERE Available-for-sale investments 21,288
RIEFIBE B Deferred tax assets 5,583
[k Goodwill 253,874
FE Inventories 19,929
FEUS R 5 PR 3k B EL A R MR R Trade and other receivables 149,620
RITHEBRR S Bank balances and cash 530,484
FEAT B 5 BR 5k B2 A FE 3K Trade and other payables (324,710)
FEAS TR IE Taxation payable (9,199)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (94,847)
BB & Government grants (21,113)
BEFHEAE Deferred tax liabilities (84,578)
1,482,521
52 2k Sk [R) 122 o) L 48 Y L [R) 428 1l Result on loss of joint control over a jointly
FRE M4 controlled entity:
Bk R AR BRI A TE Fair value of retained interest in an associate
GPN NG =) (included in interests in associates) 1,427,869
SRR PR G B FEE Net assets previously proportionately
consolidated (1,482,521)
REEBMRSEHMBARTD Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries held
FEE AR A by Chongging Gas 54,652

AR RESIRAELSME R HFE
FRTRLLPIR A VRITREBRKR S

Net cash outflow arising from loss of joint control:

Bank balances and cash previously proportionately

consolidated

(530,484)
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39. &AL 39. OPERATING LEASES
AEBEREBAA The Group as lessee
RIEHR - NEBB A HEELE At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
HAOESE  ZERENRRKERS for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
IR operating leases which fall due as follows:
—E——F —T——%F
+=g=+-8 +=A=+-§
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
FTHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
—FR Within one year 22,583 12,964
F_EFRF In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BHEEEMFEAN) 25,888 17,041
FF% After five years 14,708 17,772
63,179 47,777
KERONRDIEAEERBAE Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
BEMENEMNES - HAOMNER R Group for office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated and
BEEHeFrHs—E+FH(ZT— rentals are fixed for term ranging from one to ten years (2011:
—&F : —E+FH) - one to ten years).
AEEEREHEA The Group as lessor
RIEHR - NEBEABRADR L At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
T HHEEMY - BEMAZHH lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under
SERESVIEHBEAOT - non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:
—E-—F —E——F
+=H=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
—FR Within one year 7,839 5,592
F_EFERF In the second to fifth year inclusive
(REEEMFEA) 10,379 6,892
HF%& After five years 2,171 1,886
20,389 14,370
FRNEHREBREYESB LRI — The investment properties rented during the year have committed
ET_FH(ZE——F: —Z2+= tenants for term ranging from one to twelve years (2011: one to
FHY) ML o Rt Bl A S LY twelve years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above

ZHEM AR ST - operating lease arrangements.
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40. =IE 40. COMMITMENTS
—2—=F —E——F
+=H=+-8B +ZA=+—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
AT EBEEFTAER Capital expenditure contracted for
RAL B ISHRE T BB but not provided in the Group’s
BEARY ¢ financial statements in respect of:
BEWME  BERERE Acquisition of property, plant and
FEMHAERE equipment/prepaid lease payments 105,000 312,424
BELERE Acquisition of operating rights - 24,670
& (Fizk) Investments (Note) 5,751,675 5,583,563
5,856,675 5,920,657
AT EIBEHEBRETAH  Capital expenditure authorised but not
BARAX contracted for in respect of:
BEDE  BEIEE Acquisition of property, plant and
TENHEEKE equipment/prepaid lease payments 62,388 303,863
IBELERE Acquisition of operating rights 41,931 -
®E Investments 524,880 _
629,199 303,863
0 AN S v e I VA 2 a7 Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
ERBEKIETRPINEERE - parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in

the PRC.
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40. XIE (/&
Hrh - NEE DG RIE S E 8 AR

40. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Included in the above, the Group’s share of the commitments of

PN the jointly controlled entities are as follows:
—E--F —T——%F
t=A=t-B +=A=t+—H
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
MEBEYE  BEMEE - Capital expenditure contracted for
ENHEREREER but not provided in the Group’s
KEEERTA financial statements in respect of
BRAAEETBREKF acquisition of property, plant and
BENERAX equipment, prepaid lease payments and
acquisition of operating rights 56,581 67,385
EEVE  BEMEER Capital expenditure authorised but not
TEREERIED #E contracted for in respect of acquisition of
BRETHNEARFSE property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments 19,224 70,173

M. TEHFBERS

(@ RBEE_ZT——F+=ZA=+ (a)
—BLEFE AEENURKE
1,930,874,000% T W R = 2
AR AR RS (B DABD B R BT
161,174,785 I (n (B 1 -

by RZZT—=—F=1 AKEBEURK (b)
{&805,288,0005% 7T U & E0 /1| ¥4
RHEIMER - BERBINAR
AW R EHR ErHiL
RABLAIE £16,957,000/8 7T K B
BACEE N BE1771,741,153 % f% (5
XA e

(c) RZZE—=F+A+B ARQ (c)
7 LA £ {82,415,000,000/% 7T ]
—RARWBARKEZBLL
MEBRAERS BRZER
5+ BRI RMEB R B 5RIE S A
2,415,000,000/%8 7T °

41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
acquired 100% equity interest in Wang Gao for a
consideration of HK$1,930,874,000 which was settled by
allotment and issue of 161,174,785 shares.

In February 2012, the Group acquired additional interest in
Zhengzhou Gas for a consideration of HK$805,288,000 for
the purpose of the privatisation and withdrawal of the listing
of H shares of Zhengzhou Gas which was settled by cash of
HK$16,957,000 and the allotment and issue of 71,741,153
shares.

On 16 October 2012, the Company acquired 100% equity
interests in CR Petrochem from a fellow subsidiary for
a consideration of HK$2,415,000,000. As a result of the
transaction, the amounts due to fellow subsidiaries were
increased by HK$2,415,000,000.
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42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2012, the Group pledged the following assets as
securities for bank borrowings and trade payables to suppliers of
natural gas as follows:

—E-CfF =%
2012 2011
FTHERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
ME - BB MRE Property, plant and equipment 6,624 203,976
FE W E 5 BR R Trade receivables 42,904 23,030
EIRIRIRITER Pledged bank deposits 95,480 54,002
145,008 281,008

BEALRS 43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

HEEALTHRS Transactions with related parties

Br&R & B 755 R 3% AR A Y 5 P 0 A A 22 In addition to the related party transactions set out in the
ATR G AEBMPBFNEBEA respective notes to the consolidated financial statements, the

THETTIINEARRS :

Group entered into the following material transactions with related
parties during the year:

—E-C—F —T——%
2012 2011
FTHET FHETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)

B — R R E AR Interest expenses paid to a fellow subsidiary
FMEFX 12,326 -
RKARZRMBRATNFEWA  Interest income from a fellow subsidiary 1,478 2,607
ENRERMBARNTMAESHMY Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 989 568

R—ZBE——FE+-A=+—0" ' K
SERRARMBRARAFARITIER
171,094,000 T (= T — — & :
131,128,000 7T ) * Z FRITF G
ARTTEHBEIRE

At 31 December 2012, the Group placed bank deposits of
HK$171,094,000 (2011: HK$131,128,000) with a fellow subsidiary
and these bank deposits were included in bank balances and
cash.

——H+ZA=t—HLFE
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43. BEALTRS (&) 43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
HEEMEEEHNEENRS A Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities
AEBB S AT EBTES A BE The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
HETRASEEARMN—F S M CRNC which is controlled by the government of the PRC and
EE B REAREBRFES - EEE the Group operates in an economic environment currently
FlIKEMEAZENNEEASENKL predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or
BIRIFEE - significantly influenced by the PRC government.
RESARREMBARNR S (B Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
ik ?/\EM“Z#&%E’JEME M 5 4% 7)) subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
Ah ZK%lTEEiEF‘ lﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ@?ﬂﬂx consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
?’i“%ﬂ o TSI ENERZE S businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
EE;%EE %%?%i@%iqji’i e @ controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
FEE KRB0 R 17177 ;KR AB FEF B U the ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank
B TIRITREAEE A XA FE deposits and the corresponding interest income, certain bank
TERRAR « REDHERIE RS RIEE - and other borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large

portion of purchases and part of sales of gas.

TEETEEEAEHE Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—E-—F —E——%F
2012 2011
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
D HAAE A Short-term benefits 131,034 55,203
RIREREF Post-employment benefits 1,439 577

132,473 55,780
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44. N T B AR R & 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—E-CF —E——%F
2012 2011
FHExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
IEREBEE Non-current assets
REIEARM R EHRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries
(Pft7x45) (Note 45) 11,981,859 9,566,859
AR IENGIE ] Amounts due from subsidiaries 11,656,804 5,386,664
ME - BE KK Property, plant and equipment 1,715 81
23,640,378 14,953,604
mENE E Current assets
& RFEMR Deposits and prepayments 61,690 29,879
& Uy — R [R] Z B B 2 RN IE Amount due from a fellow subsidiary - 50,100
WITHEBRIRS Bank balances and cash 4,682,916 1,567,067
4,744,606 1,647,046
MEBAE Current liabilities
HitbEN R R ETER Other payables and accrued charges 100,546 4,553
e —FEMI B A Bl 308 Amount due to a subsidiary 188 -
BN —ME R R B A RIFIE Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 2,415,000 =
RITEE Bank borrowings - 1,280,000
2,515,734 1,284,553
MEEEFE Net current assets 2,228,872 362,493
25,869,250 15,316,097
B EE Capital and reserves
AR A (PfTE33) Share capital (Note 33) 222,401 199,227
E B Reserves 14,577,719 10,516,870
14,800,120 10,716,097
FERBEE Non-current liabilities
SRITEE Bank borrowings 5,400,000 4,600,000
BEER (MFE30) Senior notes (Note 30) 5,669,130 —
11,069,130 4,600,000
25,869,250 15,316,097
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44. KRR BARRK (&)

HE-_Z——F+-_A=+—HILEE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

REZE Movement in reserves:
ARmE
BEZRH
BRE Shares
fife held for
B RIEE - ONA Share incentive
Share Share  Contributed option award Hih &t
capital premium surplus reserve scheme Others Total
ThL Thx ThEr FEn TR TR ThL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W=E——%—-f—H At 1 January 2011 183,109 8,388,600 - 13,436 (247,399) 28,493 8,366,239
FREERAGE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - - 501,744 501,744
WNABHEFZEIERE  Issue of shares upon
L) combination of entities
under common control 16,118 1,914,756 - - - - 1,930,874
LERRND KRB E Disposal of shares held
BENRG for incentive award
scheme - - - - 28,101 63,388 91,489
HEmER Transfer between
categories - (7,388,600) 7,388,600 - - - -
BfRE Dividends paid - - - - S (174249)  (174249)
RZF—F At 31 December 2011
+-A=+-H 199,227 2,914,756 7,388,600 13,436 (219,298) 419,376 10,716,097
FREERAGE Total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - - 725,026 725,026
RERR Placing of shares 16,000 2,696,000 - - - - 2712,000
RVETER Share issue expenses = (13,270) = - - = (13,270)
PNBE—HHBARE  Issue of shares upon
BIMERBBITRD acquisition of additional
interest in a subsidiary 7174 781,157 - - - - 788,331
L E RRR 2 Disposal of shares held
FRfRe for incentive award
scheme - - - - 24,968 87,398 112,366
EftkE Dividends paid - - - - S (240430)  (240430)
WZZ-——% At 31 December 2012
+-A=+—-H 222,401 6,378,643 7,388,600 13,436 (194,330) 991,370 14,800,120
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FEMBARER 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
MR BRTRAE
RS B g7 AT rEERERE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NRER incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—B--f —T——%F
2012 2011
% %
EHRRARAA RERAHS LmiR4ET 100 100 REER
China Resources Gas British Virgin Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
Limited Islands
AEI China Gas Limited EEYES EimA%1,000% T 100 - RAER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
HRERRRBRAFN i AR #50,000,0007T 80.4 80.4 HERILR
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
HMNERRRERAR i 15,000,000% T 70 70 HERILRK
PRC USD15,000,000 EBRREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EEEERRERAAN? FE 16,000,000% 7T 50 50 HERILRK
PRC USD16,000,000 ERRRES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REERRRABRARP i 4,000,0005 7T 100 100 EERIERR
PRC USD4,000,000 ERBREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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45. TEMBLARIER (& 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
MR, BRTRAR
R 32 3t B R SRR rEBELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NGIES: incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
=B —T——%
2012 2011
% %
EILEEMRER AR e 11,000,000% T 57.11 57.11 HERILRR
PRC USD11,000,000 ERRRESE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
NEE:}S=r=1 NG # AR#81,500,00070 75 75 HERERR
PRC RMB81,500,000 EEBRERE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
GREBRRRBRAA H AR#50,000,0007T 75 75 HERILRAR
PRC RMB50,000,000 ERRRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EGEEREERAR H AR #70,000,0007T 7143 71.43 HERILAR
(AT EBE BT PRC RMB70,000,000 ERaREE
BRAR]) Sales of liquefied gas
(formerly known as and connection of
ERERRRFRDA) gas pipelines
BERERRRERAFS + AR #10,000,0007T 100 100 BEBRILRR
PRC RMB10,000,000 BEEBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
HEMRL, ERTRBE
R 32 3t B B3 R A KEEEERE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NG incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEHK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
=B _T——%
2012 2011
% %
ELERRRARRA AR HEY AR#10,000,0007T 100 100 EERIER R
PRC RMB10,000,000 ERRRES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REZERRRERRAN + AR¥51,300,0007T 51 51 HERILRR
PRC RMB51,300,000 EBBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RMERERRRERAR FE 7,788,900% 7T 100 100 SHERIERR
PRC US$7,788,900 ERBREER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ftRREBRRER AN + AR29,890,6007T 51 51 HERILRR
PRC RMB29,890,600 EBaREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BONE R R AR AR H AR #:80,000,0007T 70 70 HEBRILR R
PRC RMB80,000,000 ERBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
AREERRERARF i AR#5,000,0007T 100 100 HERILRK
PRC RMB5,000,000 EXBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
Bl ERTRAE
BRAL 1t B 13/ MR AEBEMLRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NGIES: incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER

Name of company establishment

registered capital

of the Group Principal activities

=B —T——%
2012 2011
% %
RN EEERR e AE#50,000,0007T 100 100 HERIER R
BRRA! PRC RMB50,000,000 ERRRES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
NEERRBBAERAAF  FE AE#680,000,0007T 84 45 HERARENZH
PRC RMB680,000,000 (R HizE33b) R MR K
(see BEMRER
Note 33b) Sales of natural gas
pressure control
equipment and
gas appliances and
construction of gas
pipelines
ERIEEERRERAR HE AR #667,000,0007T 70 - HERIERK
PRC RMB667,000,000 (R HEE36) EBBREE
(see Sales of liquefied gas
Note 36) and connection of

{ ZERREFBAFING B ERE !
HIFFE ©

2 AR AEBAIRA50% A EHESEA 2
B MAEBEATEHBARNFAE
SRBE MBS R AT R R AT I 4R I AEE o
Eit » ZRAREEAREEOHEA

Ej o

8 ZERAERBUIINEBEE S ENF °
RFE -

4 RNEBIFHH B R F54%M%H - iR 4
BIREWZEDES7.11%m 4] °

B ZABANRTBEKIHBRNDERA °

A HHER-T——F£_-A+WMA
BIAEREAZFT £ o

gas pipelines

These companies were established in the PRC in the form of sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

The Group is also to exercise control over all of the strategic
financial and operating decisions of the subsidiary as the Group is
able to nominate over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly,
the company is regarded as a subsidiary of the Group.

These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

These Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares
profit at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

The company was established in the PRC as a joint stock limited
company and its H shares were listed on the Stock Exchange until
14 February 2012.
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and are operating principally in their place
of incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31 December 2012 and 2011 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

223

46. TEBE QT FHE 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

HEZHERWE
ARARENRESER
Equity interest AEBEGRE
JovR:uE ] held by the Attributable
ARER Place of HEfRA jointly controlled interest equity TERER
Name of company establishment  Registered capital entities/subsidiary of the Group Principal activities

—%-=fF “T—F Z8-=F “TF

2012 2011 2012 2011
% % % %
)| BBERARER FE AR #10,000,0007C 49 49 17.64 17.64 HERILR
BEARH PRC RMB10,000,000 Sales of liquefied
gas
MEAEMARRER FE AR 3,000,000 49 49 17.64 17.64  HEBRIER
EfEAR PRC RMB3,000,000 Sales of liquefied
gas
At 2R B R AR HE AE#10,000,0007T 45 45 16.2 162 HBEXARR
NG| PRC RMB10,000,000 ERBRESR
Sales of natural gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BIRFEERRR HE AK#16,500,0007T 25 25 12.75 1275  $HERILE
ARAR PRC RMB16,500,000 Sale of liquefied gas
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46. T EBE N TFIE (& 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
(Continued)
HEEHER KB
ARBEHRSES
Equity interest AEBEGRE
g held by the Attributable
ARER Place of AEfRA jointly controlled interest equity TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital entities/subsidiary of the Group Principal activities
ZB-Zf "_T——F ZB-Zf _T——F&
2012 2011 2012 2011
% % % %
FHRLURREREE HE AR #95,590,0007T 27 27 25.92 1516 HERAR RiL
RA] PRC RMB95,590,000 BRRRMRER
REMRES
Sale of natural
gas, LPG and

gas appliances
and construction

gas pipelines
BERREERR HE AR#1,216,116,0827C 25 25 25 25 HERILER
ARATA PRC RMB1,216,116,082 EXBREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EHRMPRBER FE AR#40,000,0007T 49 @A 245 TER  HEREEK
MRARAA PRC RMB40,000,000 N/A N/A BERBRESR

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ERP R ERRE R AEK#40,000,0007T 36 A 36 TEA  HEREEK
BRERERAA PRC RMB40,000,000 N/A N/A EERREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
IRAAREZ I AE30,000,0007T 49 TiEfA 49 TER  HEREEK
BEAH PRC RMB30,000,000 N/A N/A EXRREE

Sale of natural gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ARABEERE LRI AEE The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
HENREANEBENEEREERR opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
BEEAXE - ARAEFRR & the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
DI E MBS R R IR L ARG B of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the

RITE ° Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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47. TEHFEHERER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES
rEEEERE
R L3t B Attributable
NS Place of ERTES equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—B-—f —T——%
2012 2011
% %
REHRTRREBEERR &+ AR %800,000,0007T 36 36 HERILRAK
PRC RMB800,000,000 EBuREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EHEHRRERAA HE 29,980,000% 70 50 50 HERILR R
PRC USD29,980,000 ERBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BEMNEREERRERAT HE AE#117,939,5007T 40 40 EERIEER
PRC RMB117,939,500 ERBRED

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
HEIEBRIAR AR H AER#150,000,0007T 51 51 HERLE R
PRC RMB150,000,000 BERBRER

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
MBEBREARA A HE AE%186,000,0007T 46 46 EEFLAR
PRC RMB 186,000,000 BEEBRER

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EMEERIBRAR H AR #1,000,000,0007C 49 49 HER(ILRAKR
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 EEBREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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BE-F-—#t-A=+-ALEE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

REBELRE
R L3t B Attributable
NS Place of ERTES equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E--f —T——%
2012 2011
% %
BEEERRRERAA H AR1286,582,8587T 51 51 HERILRR
PRC RMB286,582,858 EBuREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HEEHRIERAA # AR #200,000,0007T 50 50 HERER R
PRC RMB200,000,000 ERBRES
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ARIEEERRARAR  PH AR #:667,000,0007T - 70 HERILRR
PRC RMB667,000,000 (R HiiE36) BEEBRES
(see Sale of liquefied gas
Note 36) and connection of
gas pipelines
MITEBRRARAF H AR #126,487,4007T 50 50 HERILRAR
PRC RMB126,487,400 BEEBRES
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BILE B mRR e AR #148,000,0007T 49.9 49.9 HERILER
BRAE PRC RMB148,000,000 EBRREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
M)l E R E Bk H AR#122,423,3727T 50 50 HEBRILR R
BRAT PRC RMB122,423,372 EREREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
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47. TEHEEHERBER (&) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY
CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)

AR P AR
B34t 2 Attributable
NS Place of ERTES equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—8--f —T——F
2012 2011
% %
FILARRRERAR FE AE#164,440,0007T 55 40 HEBREER
PRC RMB164,440,000 ERBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
MEMMRRARAR i AK#100,000,0007T 49 49 HERELRR
PRC RMB100,000,000 ERaREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BNEBRRBRAR F AR#488,376,0007C 49 49 HERIERK
PRC RMB488,376,000 ERBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RSN RELAENTE The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
EAREBNALEEN—HEEZ W as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions require
N ST -2 7 /NI B R o= 2| unanimous consent of the Group and the joint venturers.
BE o Ut ZEATWRARERN Accordingly, these companies are regarded as jointly controlled
HEEGIEE - entities of the Group.
AKATEESRE  FEFHAE The above table lists the jointly controlled entities of the Group
BRI EEERERERNNES which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
BEAEERERAEBEESTEE affected the results of the year or form a substantial portion of the
KB o RABIEERE » H5| net assets of the Group. To give details of other jointly controlled
HEARSFEENFEBESARE BN entities would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

T ° result in particulars of excessive length.
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47. TEHEEHERER (& 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINTLY

CONTROLLED ENTITIES (Continued)
NS B R 4 L[R5 ) 1 B 4 an O B 7S The summarised financial information in respect of the interests
ERBEHIIMT in jointly controlled entities attributable to the Group is set out

below:

—E-CfF =%
2012 2011
FHERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
mBEE Current assets 3,966,256 3,473,359
ERBEE Non-current assets 5,752,720 5,447,600
mBBE Current liabilities 4,450,852 3,739,255
FRBEE Non-current liabilities 402,109 326,258
RIBR R AU A Income recognised in profit or loss 6,277,308 5,375,202
RIBR R Expenses recognised in profit or loss 5,354,975 4,727,889
HEh2mEmUBA Other comprehensive income 51,953 275,471
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Financial Summary

E RESULTS
BE+-A=t—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December
kS YIS —IThE —E-ZF —F—F —2-=F
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
THTL TR FHT THT TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(&31) (&31)
(Restated) (Restated)
EEH TURNOVER 3,505,535 4,824,772 9,705,327 14,208,046 19,590,613
FEREF PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 354,024 609,406 1,021,359 1,572,401 2,034,705
i3l ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
EKATHEEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 383,659 496,998 773,202 1,176,268 1,650,964
R R NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (29,635) 112,408 248,157 396,133 383,741
354,024 609,406 1,021,359 1,572,401 2,034,705
BEERAER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+-A=+—H
31 December
—ZTNE —ZTNF —Z-%F —2——F —E-CF
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
THL TR FTHT THT THEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(&31) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEAE TOTAL ASSETS 4,827,613 12,055,906 23,586,189 28,838,133 42,398,863
BEAE TOTAL LIABILITIES (2,078,354) (8,596,823) (14,347,150) (16,972,070) (27,594,837)
A G TOTAL EQUITY 2,749,259 3,459,083 9,239,039 11,866,063 14,804,026
RATEEBA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2,373,329 2,492,165 7,048,196 9,318,659 11,704,273
PG AR OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 375,930 966,918 2,190,843 2,547,404 3,099,753
A G TOTAL EQUITY 2,749,259 3,459,083 9,239,039 11,866,063 14,804,026
BEEr—E-TEN_FT——F+=-fB=1+— The financial information for the two years ended 31 December 2010 and
HIEMEFERNFEER B E AR BRI 2011 has been restated to reflect the effect of application of Accounting
B ASRMA G55 F55% [ Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common Control Combination”
BEiIEHIEHcEHEBEl FE - BEZ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
EENEN_EBETAF+_A=+—HIW financial information for the two years ended 31 December 2008 and

BEEENFIEERIL R IERE - 2009 has not been adjusted.
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Major Milestones

2011

A2 Acquisition of first batch of 7 city gas projects
from CRH for about HK$3.8 billion

2009

—= January
A7 Investment in city gas projects in provincial
capitals of Wuhan and Kunming

\—-August
A4 Increase to controlling stake in city gas project
in Zhenjiang, Jiangsu Province

L-September
A7 Acquisition of second batch of 7 city gas
projects from CRH for about HK$1.6 billion

—= November
A% Announcement to acquire of 43.18% interest
in Hong Kong listed Zhengzhou Gas Company
Limited (“ZZ Gas”) and potential general offer
for ZZ Gas

—= December

A2 Acquisition of 25% interest in city gas project
in Chongging Direct Administrative City for
about RMB1.16 billion

2010

—= March
A2 Acquisition of Fleming Group with 7 city gas
projects in Shandong and Zhejiang Provinces

" July
A% Increase to controlling stake in city gas project
in Zibo, Shandong Province

A7 Acquisition of fourth batch of 7 city gas
projects from CRH for about HK$1.7 billion

—= October
A7 Announcement to privatise ZZ Gas with share
consideration of 1 ZZ Gas share to 1.5 CR Gas
share or cash of HK$14.73 per ZZ Gas share

L. November

A% Announcement to establish 49% owned city
gas joint venture in Tianjin for about RMB2.45
billion

AR Increase to controlling stake in city gas project

in Jiangning District, Nanjing

December
A% Announcement to invest in city gas project in
Ningbo, Zhejiang Province

2012

—= April
AR Investment in city gas project in Jiangning
District, Nanjing

—=June
A% Announcement of cooperation with Tianjin Gas
Group Limited

>>
>>

Strategic Cooperation Agreement was
entered into between CRH and China National
Petroleum Corporation in various areas
including gas supply, up-stream, mid-stream
and downstream gas projects

—= September
A% Placement of 230 million new shares at HK$10.75
per share, raising about HK$2.5 billion

A2 Acquisition of third batch of 9 city gas projects
from CRH for about HK$2 billion

—= February
A7 Successful privatisation of ZZ Gas resulting in
significant increase in effective interest therein

= April
AA Issue of US$750 million 10 year senior notes
bearing interest at 4.5% per annum with
investment grade ratings of Baa1/BBB+

May
A% Acquisition of AEI China with 28 city gas
projects for about US$238 million

August
A7 Acquisition of fifth batch of 16 city gas
projects from CRH for about HK$2.4 billion

—"November
A% Placement of 160 million new shares at
HK$16.95 per share, raising about HK$2.7 billion
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman, appointed
on 1st June, 2012)

Executive Director and General Manager

Mr. SHI Shanbo (appointed on 1st June, 2012)

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. DU Wenmin

Mr. WEI Bin

Mr. HUANG Daoguo (appointed on 1st June, 2012)
Mr. CHEN Ying (appointed on 1st June, 2012)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian
Mr. YU Hon To, David
(appointed on 28th December, 2012)
Mr. QIN Chaokui (appointed on 28th December, 2012)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman, appointed
on 28th December, 2012)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. HUANG Daoguo (appointed on 1st June, 2012)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. DU Wenmin (appointed on 1st June, 2012)
Mr. YU Hon To, David (appointed on

28th December, 2012)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman, appointed on
1st June, 2012)
Mr. SHI Shaobo (appointed on 1st June, 2012)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian (appointed on 23rd November, 2012)
Mr. QIN Chaokui (appointed on 28th December, 2012)

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WEI Bin (Chairman, appointed on 1st June, 2012)
Mr. WANG Chuandong

Mr. CHEN Ying (appointed on 1st June, 2012)

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
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Corporate Information

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

Ms. YU Jian (Chairman)

Mr. SHI Shanbo (appointed on 1st June, 2012)

Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. QIN Chaokui (appointed on 28th December, 2012)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-05

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR

Richards Butler
in association with Reed Smith LLP

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited
26 Burnaby Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

EEETEEE265%  Room 1901-05, China Resources Building,
#ERAE1901-05F 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

& 55 Telephone : 2593 7388
{E& Facsimile : 2508 8228
#94F Website : www.crgas.com.hk

B Email . investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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